
 
 

 Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors 

Regular Monthly Meeting 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wednes day, July 16, 2025, at 6:00PM 
Transportation Building 

3600 Third Street, Tillamook, Oregon  
 



 

Next regularly scheduled meeting to be held August 20th, 2025 

Tillamook County Transportation District 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS – REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 

Agenda: Wednesday, July 16, 2025 @ 6:00pm 
 

 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING 

1. Call to Order 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Roll Call 
4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda 
5. Public & Guest Comments 
6. Oath of Office – New Board Directors 
7. Election of Board Officers 

 
STATE OF THE DISTRICT REPORT 

8. Financial and Grant Reports (May) (Pgs. 1-24) 
9. Service Performance Reports (May) (Pgs. 25-33) 
10. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance (July)  
11. NW Rides Brokerage Report (June) (Pgs. 34) 
12. General Manager Report (Pgs. 35-36) 

a. Administration/Coordination 
b. Planning/Development 
c. Grant Funding 
d. Facility/Property Management 
e. Operations/Vehicle Maintenance 

13. Miscellaneous 
 
CONSENT 

14. Motion to Approve the Minutes of June 18, 2025, Regular Board Meeting (Pgs. 37-43) 
15. Motion to Approve May 2025 Financial Statements 

 
ACTION ITEMS 

16. Resolution 25-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Enter Into a Janitorial Services 
Agreement with Marie Mills Center for the Downtown Transit Center (Pgs. 44-47) 

17. Resolution 25-20 Authorizing the General Manager to Enter Into a Janitorial Services 
Agreement with Marie Mills Center for the TCTD Administration Building  (Pgs. 48-51) 

18. Resolution 25-21 Authorizing the General Manager to Enter Into a Memorandum of 
Agreement with the Tillamook Adventist School and the Tillamook County YMCA for After 
School Transportation Services (Pgs. 52-67) 

19. Resolution 25-22 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5310 Grant 
Agreement Number 35780 (Pgs. 68-89) 

20. Resolution 25-23 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant 
Agreement Number 35822 (Pgs. 93-114) 

21. Resolution 25-24 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant 
Agreement Number 35823 (Pgs. 115-138) 

22. Resolution 25-25 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant 
Agreement Number 35884 (Pgs. 139-160) 

23. Resolution 25-26 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute  for Chrissy’s Cleaning 
Service (Pgs. 161) 

 
 
 

To attend by phone, please dial: +1 (253) 215-8782   Meeting ID: 814 4875 2742 
To attend virtually, please use this link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81448752742 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/


 

Next regularly scheduled meeting to be held August 20th, 2025 

 
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 

24. Policies 10 and 19: Director Compensation / Financial Gain Consistency (Pgs. 162-167) 
25. Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan: Presentation (Pgs. 168-203) 
26. Staff Comments 
27. Board of Directors Comments 
28. Adjournment 

 
UPCOMING EVENTS 
August 6th-9th: Tillamook County Fair 
November 2nd-5th: Oregon Public Transportation Conference, Bend 



1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



TCTD Operations 
Statistics & 
Performance
May 2025

25



YTD COMPS BY SERVICE TYPE

73347

6321 7996

84163

7251 9017

IN-COUNTY DEVIATED FIXED ROUTE INTERCITY DIAL-A-RIDE

RAW PASSENGER COUNTS

May-25 May-24

26



IN-COUNTY RIDERSHIP BY ROUTE
YTD COMPS

35612

2187

22848

9743

2826 131

39935

3496

25049

11952

3731 2067

RT 1 (TOWN LOOP) RT 2 
(NETARTS/OCEANSIDE)

RT 3 (CANNON BEACH) RT 4 (LINCOLN CITY) RT 6 (PORT LOOP) PC SHUTTLE

May-25 May-24

27



DAR RIDERSHIP BY SERVICE TYPE
YTD COMPS

3649

4347

5431

3586

TILLAMOOK COUNTY PROGRAM

May-25 May-24

28



PASSENGER CATEGORIES
YTD COMPS

523 1389 367

7619

590 3741124

2505

656

9880

903 0

RIDE CONNECTION TILLAMOOK BAY 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE

NWOTA VISITOR PASS YOUTH FREE AMTRAK BICYCLES

May-25 May-24

29



TOTAL SERVICES RIDERSHIP
May 2025 & May 2024

7577

6943

578

574

835

682

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000

2024

2025

In-County Inter-City DAR

30



Tillamook County Transportation District

MONTHLY PERFORMANCE REPORT May 2025

RIDERSHIP BY SERVICE TYPE May May YTD YTD YTD %

2025 2024 FY 24-25 FY 23-24 Change
Dial-A-Ride Service

Tillamook County 373 408 3,649 5,431 -32.8%

Program 309 427 4,347 3,586 21.2%

Dial-A-Ride Total 682 835 7,996 9,017 -11.3%

Deviated Fixed Route Service

Rt 1: Town Loop 3,414 3,592 35,612 39,935 -10.8%

Rt 2: Netarts/Oceanside 180 242 2,187 3,496 -37.4%

Rt 3: Manzanita/Cannon Beach 2,084 2,610 22,848 25,049 -8.8%

Rt 4: Lincoln City 886 853 9,743 11,952 -18.5%

Rt 6: Port of Tillamook Bay Loop 248 280 2,826 3,731 -24.3%

Pacific City Free Shuttle 131 0 131 0 #DIV/0!

Local Fixed Rt Total 6,943 7,577 73,347 84,163 -12.9%

Intercity Service

Rt 5: Portland 574 578 6,321 7,251 -12.8%

Inter City Total 574 578 6,321 7,251 -12.8%

TOTAL ALL SERVICES 8,199 8,990 87,664 100,431 -12.7%

ONE-WAY TRIPS BY USER GROUP (Allocated)

Fixed YTD YTD YTD %

USER GROUP Route DAR FY 24-25 FY 23-24 Change

General (18 years to 60 years of age) 4,432 109 49,002 56,517 -13.3%

Senior/Disabled 2,437 546 32,644 37,056 -11.9%

Child/Youth 517 27 5,887 6,859 -14.2%

Total 7,386 682 87,533 100,431 -12.8%

OTHER RIDER CATEGORIES Fixed YTD YTD YTD %

Route DAR FY 24-25 FY 23-24 Change

Ride Connection 51 623 1,124 -44.6%

Tillamook Bay Community College 82 1,389 2,505 -44.6%

NWOTA Visitor Pass 17 367 656 -44.1%

Program 309 4,347 3,586 21.2%

Youth Free 715 7,619 9,880 -22.9%

Amtrak 50 590 903 -34.7%

Bicycles 132 374 N/A N/A

31



32



33



NW Rides- June

Volunteers:
Trips= 491

Miles= 25,260 M/R:
Trips= 1,508

Miles= 58,959

Providers:
Trips= 4,183

Miles= 85,017
Total:

Trips= 6,182
Miles= 169,23634



 
Tillamook County Transportation District 

                “Connecting the community through sustainable transit services” 

 
 

3600 Third St. Ste A, Tillamook OR  97141  (503) 815-8283  Fax (503) 815-8005 
www.tillamookbus.com 

 

DATE:  July 16, 2025 

TO:  TCTD Board of Directors 

FROM:  Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

SUBJECT:  GENERAL MANAGER REPORT   

 

Administration/Coordination 

• Attended OTA Legislative Committee meeting on June 25th. 
• Attended OTA Conference Program Committee meeting on July 9th. 
• Attended the PC | Woods Parking Advisory Committee meeting on June 20. 
• Working with community partners and employment agencies/employee placement 

organizations to recruit transit drivers. 
• Prepared to testify to the Legislature’s Joint Committee on Transportation Reinvestment on 

June 26 but was not afforded time to speak. 
• Attended OTA Board meeting on July 15. 
• Attended NW ACT special CIP meeting held on July 1. 
• Attended Access to Care meeting on July 16. 
• Attended Union/District Meeting on July 3, 2025. 
 

Planning & Development 

• The Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan final report was recently delivered and will be 
discussed at the July 2025 Board meeting. 

• The procurement for the NW Connector Bus Stop Access Project was forwarded to three 
qualified firms on Monday, June 16, 2025. Tasks include final design and obtaining permits for 
the three locations (Pacific City, Hebo, Waldport), and a NEPA analysis of the Hebo location. 
The project will then proceed with construction. Responses are expected on July 16. 

 

Grant Funding 

• Submitted Federal Formula (5310 & 5311) grant applications to ODOT on November 20, 2024. 
Funding will be used for preventive maintenance, capital vehicle purchases, and operations. 
Marie Mills Center, Inc. submitted for 5310 funds through the District as the lead agency. 
Their award will be used for preventive maintenance of their fleet. PTAC recommended 
approval in April 2025. (Grant agreements to be considered by Board on July 16.) 

35



P a g e  | 2 
 

3600 Third St. Ste A, Tillamook OR  97141  (503) 815-8283  Fax (503) 815-2834 
www.tillamookbus.com 

 

 

 

Facility/Property Management 

• Transit Center exterior / platform cleaning occurs weekly and on an as-needed basis. 
• NW Rides Brokerage expansion is complete. An open house will be held in July 2025. 

 

Operations/Vehicle Maintenance 

• Four new Category B buses have completed the procurement process and have been ordered. 
Awaiting delivery date. 

• Two new category B buses are being manufactured and will be delivered in late 2025. 
• Two heavy-duty Category B trolley-replica buses have been ordered and delivery is expected 

by late summer 2026. 
• Two Category E1 DAR vans are being manufactured and will be delivered in 2025. 

36



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors Regular Monthly Meeting 
Wednesday, June 18, 2025 – 6:00PM  
Transportation Building 
3600 Third Street, Tillamook, OR  
Meeting Minutes 
 

 

1. Call to Order:   Board Chair Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
  
3. Roll Call: 

Present 
TCTD Board of Directors  
Mary Johnson, Board Chair (via Zoom) 
Gary Hanenkrat, Director  
Marni Johnston, Treasurer 
Jonathan Bean, Secretary 
David McCall, Director 
Nan Devlin, Director 

 
Absent 
TCTD Board of Directors  
Linda Adler, Vice Chair 
 
TCTD Staff 
Brian Vitulli, General Manager  
Cathy Bond, Finance Supervisor 
Jules Deputy, Brokerage Manager  
Michael Reed, Operations Superintendent  
Keri Brown, Admin Assistant/Board Clerk 

 
Guest  
John Cline, Citizen 
Jerry Bond, Citizen 
Stacy West, Citizen 
Sylvie Ballance, Citizen 
Jim LeNormand, Citizen 
Parker LeNormand, Citizen 
Madison LeNormand, Citizen 
Tyler Hellner, ATU Representative 
Kathy Schwabe, Citizen 
Steve Schwabe, ATU Representative 
Bruce Hansen, ATU Representative 
Henry Beasley, ATU Vice President 
Vicki Raine, Citizen 
David Presnell, Citizen 
Kathy Presnell, Citizen 

37



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

Whitney Valdez, Citizen 
Morgan Niles, Citizen 
Jeremy Mills, Citizen 
Will Chappell, Headlight Hearld, (via Zoom) 
Dale Kanenshiro, Citizen (Zoom) 
Crew C, Citizen (Zoom) 
Onica Kibby, Citizen (Zoom) 
Steve C, Citizen (Zoom) 
 

4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda: GM Vitulli introduced new employees 
that have joined the Tillamook County Transportation District.  

 
5. Public & Guest Comments:  

 
Board Chair Johnson made a statement that all public comments will be limited to 3 
minutes each. 

 
Tyler Hellner made public comments regarding Policy 10 in the Tillamook County 
Transportation employee handbook. 
 
Jeremy Mills made a public comment that he hopes for yellow roses to be planted at 
the Transit Center that he has made several requests and hopes negotiations with the 
Union and the District get resolved. 
 
David Presnell made a public comment that he feels harassed at work from the Union 
and threatened from text messages from the Union. The Union is to lose his number 
and not to have any more contact with him. 
 
John Cline made a public comment that he has been with the District a long time and 
the vision is that people need to be transported, and it’s been lost. PC Shuttle is 
obviously an issue for some, but Pacific City needs it.  
 
Bruce Hansen commented that after several attempts to set a meeting and being 
ignored that hopes Board comes together to make decisions. 
 
Vicky Raine made a public comment that on Facebook page there are so many 
complaints from the public about the District, missing rides and not enough drivers, 
hopes the Board has the power to change things. 
 
Silvie Ballance made a public comment that she has been working for the District for 
10 years and has not heard of any complaints, but people are happy that Route 5 to 
Portland is still running on Sunday. Dirty laundry needs to be stopped airing out on 
Facebook. 
 

6. Executive Session:  6:24 pm – 6:56 pm 
 

There was a motion after GM Vitulli’s evaluation that he will receive a 7.5% increase 
effective July 1st, 2025. 

38



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

 
7. Budget Hearing: Board Chair Johnson called the Budget hearing to order at 6:58 pm. 
 
Updates for FY 2025-2026 Budget are included in the Board packet pages 1-34. 
 
Director Johnston made a comment of how professional the budget documentation was 
and appreciates all the hard work. Thanked everyone for showing up for the budget 
meeting. 
 
Director Devlin stated that the budget meeting was the first one that she enjoyed. 
 
FS Bond was pleased with the participation for the budget meeting and the feedback that 
was presented. Thanked Brian for the research in helping to get it completed. 
 
Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the Budget hearing at 7:05 pm. 
 

 
STATE OF THE DISTRICT REPORT 
 
8. Financial and Grant Report: Updates for the month of April 2025 are included in the 

Board packet pages 35-38. 
 

9. Service Performance Reports: Updates for the month of April 2025 are included in 
the Board packet pages 59-67. 
 

10. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: Updates for the month of June 2025 are 
included in the Board packet pages 68-70. 

 
11. NW Rides Brokerage: Updates for the month of May 2025 are included in the Board 

packet page 71-72. 
 
12. General Manager Report: Updates included in Board packet pages 73-74 (see GM 

Report in packet for details):  
a. Administration/Coordination 
b. Planning Development 
c. Grant Funding 
d. Facility/Property Development 
e. Operations and Vehicle Maintenance 

 
13. Miscellaneous: None. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
14. Motion by Director Johnston to Approve the Amended Minutes of May 21st, 2025, 

Regular Board Meeting. Seconded by Director McCall.  
Motion Passed 

By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 
 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 

39



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

Vice Chair Adler was absent. 
 

15. Motion by Director McCall to Approve the Minutes of May 15, 2025, Budget Committee 
Meeting. Seconded by Director Johnston. 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
16. Motion by Director McCall to Approve April 2025 Financial Statement. Seconded by 

Director Johnston. 
Motion Passed 

By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 
Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
17. Motion by Director McCall to Amend Policy 10: Directors Powers, Duties, 

Responsibilities, and Membership. Seconded by Director Johnston. 
           Motion Passed 

By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 
 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin.  

Vice Chair Adler was absent. 
 

18. Motion by Director McCall to Amend Policy 19: Oregon Government Ethics Policy. 
Seconded by Director Johnston. 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
19. Resolution 25-13 In the Matter of Adopting the Budget, Making Appropriations, 

Levying Taxes, and Categorizing Taxes for FY 2025-2026. 
 
Motion by Director McCall to Approve Resolution 25-13 In the Matter of Adopting the 
Budget, Making Appropriations, Levying Taxes, and Categorizing Taxes for FY 2025-
2026. Seconded by Director Bean. 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
 
 
 
 

40



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

20. Resolution 25-14 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF 
Formula Grant Agreement Number 35859. 

 
Motion by Director Bean to Approve Resolution 25-14 Authorizing the General 
Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant Agreement Number 35859 Seconded 
by Director Devlin. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 
 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 

Vice Chair Adler was absent. 
 

21. Resolution 25-15 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal 
Services Agreement with Kittelson and Associates, Inc. for the Evaluation of 
the District’s Cost Allocation Methodology and Performance Monitoring 
System. 
 
Motion by Director McCall to Approve Resolution 25-15 Authorizing the General 
Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Kittelson and Associates, 
Inc. for the Evaluation of the District’s Cost Allocation Methodology and Performance 
Monitoring System. Seconded by Director Johnston. 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
22. Resolution 25-16 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal 

Services Agreement with Kittelson and Associates, Inc. to Develop and Support 
the Implementation of an On-Board Rider Survey for the District. 

 
Motion by Director Devlin to Approve Resolution 25-16 Authorizing the General 
Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Kittelson and Associates, 
Inc. to Develop and Support the Implementation of an On-Board Rider Survey for the 
District. Seconded by Director Bean. 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
23.Resolution 25-17 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Professional 
Services Agreement with Columbia Pacific Economic Development District to 
Provide Administrative Services for the NW Oregon Transit Alliance. 
 

Motion by Director Johnston to Approve Resolution 25-17 Authorizing the General     
Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Columbia Pacific 
Economic Development District to Provide Administrative Services for the NW 
Oregon Transit Alliance. Seconded by Director Bean. 

 

41



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
23. Resolution 25-18 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Professional 

Services Agreement with Madison Avenue Collective for NWOTA Website 
Management.  

24. Motion by Director Bean to Approve Resolution 25-18 Authorizing the General 
Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Madison Avenue 
Collective for NWOTA Website Management. Seconded by Director Devlin. 
 

Motion Passed 
By Chair Johnson, Directors Bean, Hanenkrat, 

 Johnston, McCall, and Devlin. 
Vice Chair Adler was absent. 

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
25. ZEV Fleet Transition Plan 

 
GM Vitulli stated that the Zero-Emission Fleet Transition Plan is complete and would 
like to put it on the agenda for July. 
 

26. FY 2024-2025 Annual Report 
 

GM Vitulli distributed the first ever TCTD Annual Report. 
 

27. Staff Comments 
 
General Manager Vitulli: Thanked the Board and thanked Chair Johnson for her 
leadership and support. 
 
Operations Superintendent Reed: Thanked Chair Johnson for her support and 
assisting the District when there was no GM. 
 
Finance Supervisor Bond: Thanked Chair Johnson for the support when the District 
lost the previous GM and appreciates the Board for finding the current GM Vitulli. 
Thanked Vice Chair Adler for her contributions on the Board. 
 
Brokerage Manager Deputy: Thanked Chair Johnson for being here and to all the new 
Board members for their support. 
 
Admin Assistant Brown: None 

 
 
 
 
 

42



Regular Meeting June 18, 2025 

These minutes contain materials which paraphrase and/or summarize statements made during this meeting.  Only text enclosed in quotation 
marks report a speaker’s exact words. 

 

28. Board of Directors Comments: 
 
 Chair Johnson: Thanked everyone and was happy that Director Hanenkrat was 

staying on the Board and appreciated OS Reed, FS Bond and GM Vitulli for being 
here. 

  
Dir. Hanenkrat: Thanked Chair Johnson. 

 
 Dir. Johnston: Thanked Chair Johnson for getting her to join the Board. 
 
 Dir. Bean: Thanked Chair Johnson. 
 
 Dir. McCall: Stated that the Pacific City Sun published an article about the Pacific City 

Shuttle service for the 2025 summer. Also appreciates GM Vitulli for going with him to 
the Salem to testify on behalf of the District. 

 
29. Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 7:36 pm. 

 
These minutes were approved this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
, Board Chair      Brian Vitulli, General Manager  

43



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

Authorizing the General Manager ) 
to Enter into a Janitorial Services  )     
Agreement with Marie Mills Center  ) 
for the TCTD Administrative Building )     RESOLUTION NO. 25-19 
 
   
  WHEREAS, Tillamook County Transportation District (TCTD) seeks to 
contract for the provision of janitorial services at the District’s administrative and 
operations offices; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is a qualified contractor to provide such 
services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is recognized by the Oregon 
Department of Administrative Services as a Qualified Rehabilitation Facility for purposes 
of public contracting; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District wishes to enter into a contract with Marie Mills 

Center, Inc. for the performance of janitorial services outlined on the Janitorial Services 
Agreement Attachment A; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 

Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 
That the Tillamook County Transportation District Board of Directors 

authorizes the General Manager to Execute this annual Janitorial Service Agreement in 
an amount not to exceed $7,668.00 to Marie Mills Center for janitorial services at the 
TCTD administrative and operations building.  

 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

44



Marie Mills Center, Inc. 
Vocational & Residential Services 

Serving Tillamook County Since 1969 

 
 
 
 

1800 Front Street, Tillamook, Oregon 97141 • (503) 842-2539 • Fax (503) 842-8028 
 

JANITORIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 
To: Tillamook County Transportation District  Date: May 22, 2025 
          3600 Third Street      Telephone: 503-815-8283 

Tillamook OR 97141                                                             Cristel Scott 
          
This agreement is between MARIE MILLS CENTER INC. and Tillamook County 
Transportation District.  Marie Mills Center will furnish all materials and perform all labor 
necessary to complete the tasks as indicated: 
 
SEE EXHIBIT “A” FOR SCOPE OF WORK 
 
All other duties will be on an as needed basis as agreed upon by both parties. 
 
This contract will be in effect from July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026 and may be terminated by 
either party upon thirty-day written notice. 
 
All the above work to be completed in a substantial and workmanlike manner in accordance with 
standard practices for the sum of Six Hundred Thirty-nine and 00/100 dollars ($639.00) per 
month. The total cost of this agreement will not exceed total annual cost of $7,668.00 
 
Tillamook County Transportation District will make payment by the fifteenth (15th) day of 
the month following the completion of each month's services; services for a portion of a month 
will be prorated.  If account balance is in arrears, advance payment may be required before 
further services are provided.  Past due accounts may be charged interest at the rate of 1.5% of 
the Past Due amount per month. 
 
Any alteration or deviation from the above terms or specifications must be mutually agreed to, in 
writing, by the parties. 
 
** Except as provided below, or as otherwise provided by applicable law, Contractor shall defend and 
indemnify TCTD and its officers, employees, and agents from all claims arising from the Services, 
including claims arising from injury to any person or damage to property; breach of this Contract by 
Contractor; or violation of applicable law by Contractor. Contractor will not be responsible for claims 
resulting solely from the negligence or other wrongful acts or omissions of TCTD or TCTD's officers, 
employees, or agents. 

45



 
** Contractor is a “subject employer” as defined in ORS 656.005 and shall comply with ORS 656.017.  
Contractor shall provide workers’ compensation coverage for “subject workers” employed to perform 
the Services.  Before performing any Services, Contractor shall provide a certificate of insurance for 
workers’ compensation coverage or other proof of coverage or certify that no subject workers will 
perform Services. 
 
** At all times while Contractor is performing Services at the Premises, Contractor shall, at Contractor’s 
expense, maintain in force a commercial general liability policy and a comprehensive automobile liability 
policy.  The coverage under each policy must be equal to or greater than the limits for claims made 
under the Oregon Tort Claims Act with minimum coverage of $2,000,000 per occurrence (combined 
single limit for bodily injury and property damage claims) or $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury 
and $600,000 per occurrence for property damage.  TCTD and TCTD's officers, employees, and agents 
will be named as additional insureds on an endorsement to each policy. 
 
 
In the event either party files suit to enforce any term of this agreement, reasonable attorney fees 
and costs shall be paid to the prevailing party, including any attorney fees and costs incurred in 
any appellate proceeding. 
 
Acceptance and participation are the same for everyone without regard to race, color, national 
origin, sex, or handicap. 
 
  
 
 

MARIE MILLS CENTER, INC. 

        5/22/2025 
____________________________________                          ___________ 
Marie Mills Center, Inc.  Representative                            Date 
 
 
 ACCEPTANCE 
 
You are hereby authorized to furnish all materials and labor required to complete the work 
mentioned in the above agreement; for which the undersigned agrees to pay the amount 
mentioned in said agreement, and according to the terms thereof. 
 
_______________________________________  _________________ 
Company Representative     Date  

46



J – 22           EXHIBIT A 

                    TCTD                        JOB COMPONENTS 
 
OFFICE BUILDING 
FRIDAY  
Empty Trash and restock paper products and soap restrooms in TCTD office area 
Vacuum all carpeted areas including TCTD offices (if unlocked), Main conference room (if 
unlocked), 
Dust windowsills and other flat surfaces (papers on desks will not be moved or disturbed) 
Empty Trash in Lunchroom in TFCC area.                                                                                                                                                       
 
PUBLIC AREA 
FRIDAY  
Public Restrooms – Empty Trash and restock paper products and soap 
Vacuum Conference room near (janitorial room), Foyer, Lobby and Hall Public area 
Dust windowsills and other flat surfaces 
 
OFFICE BUILDING 
WEDNESDAY 
TCTD Office -- Restrooms – Empty Trash and restock paper products and soap 
 
 
PUBLIC AREA  
WEDNESDAY 
Public Restrooms – Empty Trash and restock paper products and soap 
 
MAKE SURE THAT JANITORIAL DOOR IS LOCKED 
 
EXTRAS 
As needed and costs will be agreed upon by both parties. 
 
UPDATED  5/11/23 

                                   

47



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

Authorizing the General Manager ) 
to Enter into a Janitorial Services )     
Agreement with Marie Mills Center  ) 
for the Downtown Transit Center )    RESOLUTION NO. 25-20 
 
 
  WHEREAS, Tillamook County Transportation District (TCTD) seeks to 
contract for the provision of janitorial services at the Tillamook Downtown Transit Center; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is a qualified contractor to provide such 
services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is recognized by the Oregon 
Department of Administrative Services as a Qualified Rehabilitation Facility for purposes 
of public contracting; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District wishes to enter into a contract with Marie Mills 

Center, Inc. for the performance of janitorial services as outlined on the Janitorial Services 
Agreement Exhibit A; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 

Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 
That the Tillamook County Transportation District Board of Directors 

authorizes the General Manager to Execute this annual Janitorial Service Agreement in 
an amount not to exceed $17,412.00 with Marie Mills Center for janitorial services at the 
Tillamook Downtown Transit Center.  

 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

48



  
 

 

Marie Mills Center, Inc. 
Vocational & Residential Services 

Serving Tillamook County Since 1969 

 
 
 
 

1800 Front Street, Tillamook, Oregon 97141 • (503) 842-2539 • Fax (503) 842-8028 
www.mariemillscenter.com 

 
 
 

JANITORIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 
To: Tillamook County Transportation District  Date: May 22, 2025 

3600 Third Street     Telephone: 503-815-8283 
Tillamook OR 97141            Cristel Scott 

 
This agreement is between   MARIE MILLS CENTER INC., and   Tillamook County 
Transit District (Transit Center).  Marie Mills Center will furnish all materials and perform 
all labor necessary to complete the tasks indicated: 
 
SEE EXHIBIT “A” FOR SCOPE OF WORK 
 
All other duties will be on an as needed basis at a cost agreed upon by both parties. 
 
This contract will be in effect from July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026 and may be terminated 
by either party upon thirty day’s written notice. 
 
All of the above work to be completed in a substantial and workmanlike manner in 
accordance with standard practices TCTD shall pay   One Thousand Four Hundred 
Fifty-one and 00/100 dollars ($1,451.00) per month (6 days per week) for services 
performed. The total cost of this agreement shall not exceed Total annual cost of 
$17,412.00 
 
Tillamook County Transportation District will make payment by the fifteenth (15th) day 
of the month following the completion of each month's services; services for a portion of 
a month will be prorated.  If account balance is in arrears, advance payment may be 
required before further services are provided.  Past due accounts may be charged interest 
at the rate of 1.5% of the Past Due amount per month.  
Any alteration or deviation from the above term or specifications must be mutually agreed 
to, in writing, by the parties. 
 

49



  
 

 
** Except as provided below, or as otherwise provided by applicable law, Contractor shall defend and 
indemnify TCTD and its officers, employees, and agents from all claims arising from the Services, 
including claims arising from injury to any person or damage to property; breach of this Contract by 
Contractor; or violation of applicable law by Contractor. Contractor will not be responsible for claims 
resulting solely from the negligence or other wrongful acts or omissions of TCTD or TCTD's officers, 
employees, or agents. 
 
** Contractor is a “subject employer” as defined in ORS 656.005 and shall comply with ORS 656.017.  
Contractor shall provide workers’ compensation coverage for “subject workers” employed to perform the 
Services.  Before performing any Services, Contractor shall provide a certificate of insurance for workers’ 
compensation coverage or other proof of coverage or certify that no subject workers will perform 
Services. 
 
** At all times while Contractor is performing Services at the Premises, Contractor shall, at Contractor’s 
expense, maintain in force a commercial general liability policy and a comprehensive automobile liability 
policy.  The coverage under each policy must be equal to or greater than the limits for claims made under 
the Oregon Tort Claims Act with minimum coverage of $2,000,000 per occurrence (combined single limit 
for bodily injury and property damage claims) or $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and $600,000 
per occurrence for property damage.  TCTD and TCTD's officers, employees, and agents will be named 
as additional insureds on an endorsement to each policy. 
 
In the event either party files suit to enforce any term of this agreement, reasonable 
attorney fees and costs shall be paid to the prevailing party, including any attorney fees 
and costs incurred in any appellate proceeding. 
 
Acceptance and participation are the same for everyone without regard to race, color, 
national origin, sex, or handicap. 
 

MARIE MILLS CENTER, INC. 

         5/22/2025 
_______________________________________  _________________ 
Marie Mills Center, Inc. Representative    Date 
 
 ACCEPTANCE 
 
 
You are hereby authorized to furnish all materials and labor required to complete the work 
mentioned in the above agreement; for which the undersigned agrees to pay the amount 
mentioned in said agreement, and according to the terms thereof. 
 
_______________________________________  _________________ 
Company Representative      Date  
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Print Name 

50



J – 23           EXHIBIT A 

          TCTD TRANSIT CENTER  
                        JOB COMPONENTS 
 
 
 
TRANSIT CENTER 
Sunday through Monday (6 days weekly) 
 
Clean, Sanitize, sweep & mop floors, and restock restrooms (including walls and floors) in two 
bathrooms  
Dust windowsills and other flat surfaces  
Wipe down seats in waiting area 
Sweep and mop all resilient floors 
Empty Trash 
Clean all glass doors 
 
 
ONE TIME PER WEEK 
CLEAN OFFICE: 
 
Empty trash 
Vacuum Carpet 
Dust Flat surfaces (do not move papers on desk) 
 
 
ONE TIME PER MONTH 
WINDOWS 
 
CLEAN ALL GLASS WINDOWS AND DOORS INSIDE AND OUTSIDE UP TO 8 FEET 
 
UPDATED  3/7/2024 

51



  45039-27477 4897-6260-5140.1 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager to ) 
Enter Into a Memorandum of  ) 
Agreement (MOA) with Tillamook ) RESOLUTION NO. 25-21 
Adventist School and Tillamook  ) 
County Family YMCA for After-  )  
School Transportation Services ) 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) owns and 
operates a regional public transportation system network; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Family YMCA (“YMCA”) operates an after-

school program for area children; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Tillamook Adventist School (“School”) has students who 

participate in the YMCA after-school program and who require transportation from the 
School’s facility to the YMCA’s facility; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District, as a public service, desires to provide dedicated 

transportation service from the School’s facility to the YMCA’s facility; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District desires to provide such service on a reduced fare basis. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 

Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 
That the Board authorizes the General Manager to enter into a 

Memorandum of Agreement with the School and YMCA for the 2025-2026 school 
year in the form attached hereto. 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July, 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

52



Page 1 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

Memorandum of Agreement 
 

between  
Tillamook County Transportation District  

and 
Tillamook Adventist School  

and 
 Tillamook County Family YMCA 

  
regarding  

After-School Transportation for the 2025-2026 School Year 
 

 
 

  
  

53



Page 2 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

1. Introduction 
The Tillamook County Transportation District (“TCTD”), Tillamook Adventist School 
(“School”), and Tillamook County Family YMCA (“YMCA”) wish to enter into an 
agreement to provide one-way transportation from the School facility to the YMCA facility 
from Monday through Friday during the 2025-2026 school year.  

2. Purpose 
The purpose of this Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) is to establish the roles and 
responsibilities of the parties to ensure safe and coordinated after-school transportation 
and transition for students from the School facility to the YMCA facility. 

3. Parties 
A. TCTD is a transportation district organized under Oregon Revised Statutes 

chapter 267. 
B. School operates under an assumed business name registered with the Oregon 

Secretary of State by the Oregon Conference of Seventh-Day Adventists, an 
Oregon nonprofit corporation.  

C. YMCA is an Oregon nonprofit corporation. 
4. Methods of Cooperation 

Each Party to this MOA is a separate entity responsible for establishing its own policies 
and procedures, except where specifically discussed in this MOA. 

5. Term 
The term of this MOA is the duration of the 2025-2026 school year, which begins on 
September 4, 2025, and which ends on June 5, 2026. The term may be extended by 
mutual agreement of the parties, which must be executed in writing at least 90 days prior 
to the start of any subsequent school year. 

6. Rights, Roles, and Responsibilities 
A. Tillamook County Transit District  

1) TCTD will provide bus transportation from the School facility to the YMCA 
facility through use of TCTD’s 14-seat Dial-A-Ride vehicle (“Ride 
Service”). 

2) TCTD will pick up students from the School facility located at 4300 12th 
St., Tillamook, OR 97141, at 3:10 p.m. Monday through Thursday and at 
12:10 p.m. on Friday. 

3) TCTD will transport students safely to the front entrance of the YMCA 
facility, located at 610 Stillwell Ave., Tillamook, OR 97141. 

4) TCTD’s driver will wait at the drop off point until a designated YMCA staff 
member is present to receive the students. 

5) TCTD may exclude any child from the Ride Service who fails to adhere to 
TCTD’s safe riding guidelines, as outlined in Regulations (1) through (12) 
under Section 1.15 of attached Ordinance 3. 

54



Page 3 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

B. Tillamook Adventist School  
1) School will ensure that participating students are ready for pickup at 3:10 

p.m. Monday through Thursday, and 12:10 p.m. on Friday. 

2) School will supervise students until they board the bus. 

3) School will educate the students on TCTD’s safe riding guidelines, as 
outlined in Regulations (1) through (12) under Section 1.15 of attached 
Ordinance 3. 

4) School will prepare a release form acceptable to the other parties 
allowing children using the Ride Service who are not enrolled in YMCA 
aftercare to leave the YMCA premises after drop-off (“Release Form”. 
School will then obtain parent or guardian signatures on the Release 
Form and provide a signed copy to the other parties. 

C. Tillamook YMCA 
1) YMCA will have a staff member present at the YMCA facility front 

entrance at the time of drop-off to meet arriving children. 

2) YMCA will escort students enrolled in YMCA aftercare into the facility and 
ensure they are checked in appropriately. 

7. Children Not Enrolled in YMCA Aftercare  
Any child not enrolled in YMCA aftercare will be allowed to leave the YMCA premises, 
provided that the child’s parent or guardian has provided a signed Release Form to 
School, which School has provided to the other parties. School is solely responsible for 
any and all indemnity obligations associated with such non-enrolled children. 

8. Fare for Ride Service  
TCTD will provide the Ride Service at the fare of $1.00 per student per ride. TCTD will 
invoice School monthly for payment. 

9. Non-School Dates  
TCTD will not provide Ride Service on dates when School is not in session. Those dates 
are as follows: 

o September 29, 2025 (Monday) 
o October 31, 2025 (Friday) 
o November 17, 2025 (Monday) 
o November 24-28, 2025 (Thanksgiving Week) 
o December 22, 2025 – January 2, 2026 (Christmas Break) 
o January 19, 2026 (Monday) 
o February 16, 2026 (Monday) 
o February 23, 2026 (Monday) 
o March 23-17, 2026 (Spring Break) 
o April 10, 2026 (Friday) 

55



Page 4 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

o April 13-14, 2026 (Monday and Tuesday) 
o May 11, 2026 (Monday) 
o May 25, 2026 (Monday) 

10. General Terms 
A. Termination. This MOA may be terminated by any of the parties upon 30 days’ 

written notice to the other parties. 
B. No Third Party Beneficiaries. TCTD, School, and YMCA are the only parties to 

this MOA and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in this 
MOA gives, is intended to give, or may be construed to give or provide any 
benefit or right, whether directly or indirectly or otherwise, to any third parties. 

C. Indemnification. Subject to the limits of the Oregon Tort Claims Act and the 
Oregon Constitution, each party releases and shall indemnify, hold harmless, 
and defend the other parties, their elected officials, officers, employees, and 
agents (“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all non-party claims and 
costs, including costs of defense, claims, liability, judgments, or awards of 
damages asserted or arising directly or indirectly from, on account of, or in 
connection with any error, omission, or act of negligence by the indemnifying 
party, its elected or appointed officials, officers, agents, or employees in the 
performance of its responsibilities under this MOA. Each party agrees to promptly 
notify the other parties of the filing of any claim that the notifying party believes is 
covered by this section’s indemnity obligations and shall not settle such claim 
without prior consent of the other parties, which consent will not be unreasonably 
withheld. The Indemnified Parties have the right to participate in the defense of 
said claim to the extent of their own interests. Appropriate personnel of the 
Indemnified Parties shall cooperate and participate in legal proceedings if 
requested by the indemnifying party, and/or required by a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

D. Insurance. During the term of this MOA, the parties shall maintain in effect a 
commercial general liability insurance policy (or its equivalent) covering their 
indemnity obligations under this MOA, with coverage limits of no less than 
$2,000,000 for bodily injury and property damage per occurrence, $2,000,000 
annual aggregate, and umbrella or excess liability insurance with limits of 
$5,000,000 per occurrence and $5,000,000 aggregate. These amounts are not 
intended to limit the parties’ indemnity obligations under the Indemnification 
section above. 

E. Dispute Resolution. The undersigned representatives of each party affirm that 
they have entered into this MOA in good faith. Each party agrees that it will 
discharge its obligations under this MOA in good faith. The parties agree that 
they will work together and will endeavor to accomplish the purposes and goals 
of this MOA in a manner that serves the best interests of the public. In the event 
of any dispute or disagreement in the implementation of this MOA, the parties will 
resolve the matter amicably by consultation or negotiation in the spirit of cordiality 
and mutual respect, beginning with the designated representatives of each entity 
involved in the dispute. If a dispute is not resolved within five business days of an 
issue being formally raised by one of the parties, the dispute will be referred by 
the representatives to executive staff for the entities, who will endeavor in good 
faith to resolve the dispute. If all informal dispute resolution attempts are 

56



Page 5 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

unsuccessful, the parties may file suit in the Circuit Court for Tillamook County, 
Oregon.  

F. Notices. Written notice to any party must be given in writing by personal delivery, 
email, or mailing the same, postage prepaid at the address or number set forth 
below. Any communication or notice personally delivered will be deemed to be 
given when actually delivered. Any communication by email will be deemed to be 
given when the recipient of the email personally acknowledges receipt of the 
email. Any notice mailed is considered received three days after the date it is 
deposited in the U.S. Mail. 
TCTD: 
c/o Brian Vitulli, General Manager 
3600 Third St Ste A 
Tillamook OR 97141 
Email: bvitulli@tillamookbus.com 
 
School: 
________________________ 
________________________ 
________________________ 
email: ________________________ 
 
YMCA: 
________________________ 
________________________ 
________________________ 
email: ________________________ 
 

G. Limitations. Except as otherwise expressly identified in this MOA, no party may 
act on any other’s behalf or obligate other parties in contract, debt, or otherwise. 
The parties are and will remain separate entities, and no partnership, joint 
venture, or agency relationship is created by this MOA. 

H. Severability. If any term or provision of this MOA is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the 
remaining terms and provisions will not be affected, and the rights and 
obligations of the parties will be construed and enforced as if this MOA did not 
contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid. 

I. Integration and Waiver. This MOA constitutes the entire agreement between 
the parties on the subject matter of the MOA. There are no understandings, 
agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified in this MOA 
regarding the subject matter of this MOA. The delay or failure of either party to 
enforce any provision of this MOA will not constitute a waiver by that party of that 
or any other provision. Each party, by the signature below of its authorized 
representative, hereby acknowledges that it has read this MOA, understands it, 
and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions. 

J. Counterparts. This MOA may be executed in counterparts, including through 
use of a service such as DocuSign and transmitted electronically, each of which 
is an original and all of which together are deemed one agreement binding on 

57



Page 6 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

both parties, notwithstanding that all parties are not signatories to the same 
counterpart. 

K. Authority. Each party affirms that it has the authority to enter into this MOA and 
to perform the obligations contained in this MOA. The signatory for each party 
further affirms that such person has the authority to bind that party to the terms of 
this MOA. 

L. Effective Date. This MOA becomes effective on the date when this MOA is fully 
executed and approved as required by applicable law.  

[Signature page follows] 

  

58



Page 7 of 7 – MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
 

  45039-27477 4937-0406-5876.1 

WE THE UNDERSIGNED PARTIES AGREE TO BE BOUND BY THIS MEMORANDUM OF 
AGREEMENT. 
 
 
TILLAMOOK COUNTY 
TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT  
 
 
 
Signature:       
 
Name:        
 
Title:        
 
 
 
 
TILLAMOOK ADVENTIST SCHOOL 
 
 
Signature:       
 
Name:        
 
Title:        
 
 
 
 
TILLAMOOK COUNTY FAMILY YMCA 
 
 
Signature:       
 
Name:        
 
Title:        

 
 
 
 
 
Date:       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:       

59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



defined in ORS 153.008 to 153.025 and, upon conviction, may be 
punished by a fine of not more than $250, in addition to other penalties 
provide by law. 

(3) Any Police Officer as well as Safety and Inspector Officer is authorized to
issue citations to any person who violates any provision of this Ordinance.
Safety and Inspector Officers are not Police Officers and only have the
powers to arrest afforded a private person under ORS 133.225.

1.30 Jurisdiction. The laws of the State of Oregon, and all local laws of the 
jurisdiction where any infraction occurs, apply with equal force and effect to the District 
Transit System. Police Officers are expressly authorized to enforce all applicable State 
and local laws, and this Ordinance, upon the District Transit System. 
1.35 Severability. It is hereby declared to be the legislative intent of Tillamook 
County Transportation District that the provisions of this Ordinance are severable, and if 
any provision, clause, section, or part is held illegal, invalid, or unconstitutional or 
inapplicable to any person or circumstance, the remaining provisions shall continue to 
be in force and such partial illegality, invalidity, unconstitutionality or inapplicability shall 
not affect or impair the application of the remaining provisions to other persons and 
circumstances. 
2.0 Effective Date. These amendments to Ordinance 3 shall become effective thirty 
(30) days after their adoption.

Passed and adopted by the District Board this 22nd day of September 2022 and signed 
by the Board Chair and Board Clerk in authentication of its passage. 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 

First Reading:_08/18/22 __ 

Second Reading: 09/22/22 

Effective Date: _09/22/22_ Attest: 

8 

67



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute ODOT Section 5310 ) 
Grant Agreement Number 35780 )     RESOLUTION NO. 25-22 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) has received 
a grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation (“ODOT”) under Section 5310 of 
the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended, which grant is memorialized in ODOT Grant 
Agreement No. 35780; and 

 
WHEREAS, ODOT allocated funding to the District for preventive vehicle 

maintenance of District rolling stock to support the transportation needs of the general 
public and seniors and individuals with disabilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the effective date of ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35780 is July 1, 

2025 through June 30, 2027, unless otherwise terminated or extended; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35780 in the amount of $192,602 on 
behalf of the District for preventive vehicle maintenance of District rolling stock. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
That the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute ODOT 

Grant Agreement No. 35780 in the amount of $192,602 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, for preventive vehicle maintenance of District rolling stock from 
July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2027.  
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

68



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35780

Capital   5310

 

Page 1 of  21

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION DIVISION
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

 
This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and 
through its Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, hereinafter referred to as 
"State," and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as "Recipient," 
and collectively referred to as the "Parties."
 

 

AGREEMENT
1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2025 or the 

date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. 
Unless otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available 
for Project Costs incurred on or after July 1, 2025 and on or before June 30, 2027 (the 
"Expiration Date"). No Grant Funds are available for any expenditures after the Expiration 
Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this Agreement shall end as provided 
in Section 10 of this Agreement.

2. Agreement Documents.  This Agreement consists of this document and the following 
documents, all of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit A:  Project Description and Budget

Exhibit B:  Financial Information

Exhibit C:  Subagreement Insurance Requirements and Recipient Insurance 
Requirements

Exhibit D: Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by reference 
Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements ("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration 
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), as modified by Court Order in California v. U.S. 
Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 (D.R.I. May 13, 2025), ECF No. 57, enjoining the imposition 
of the condition that: "Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials in the enforcement of 
Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of Homeland 
Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law."  Per the Court's Order, this 
injunction is applicable to the State, including any subdivision or instrumentality 
thereof.

Exhibit E: Information required by 2 CFR 200.332(b), may be accessed at 
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx, Oregon Public Transit 
Information System (OPTIS), as the information becomes available

In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, 
the language in the document with the highest precedence shall control.  The precedence of 
each of the documents comprising this Agreement is as follows, listed from highest precedence 
to lowest precedence:  Exhibit D; Exhibit E; this Agreement without Exhibits; Exhibit A; Exhibit 
B; Exhibit C.

3. Project Cost; Grant Funds; Match.  The total project cost is estimated at $214,646.00 
("Project Costs").  In accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, State shall 
provide Recipient an amount not to exceed $192,602.00 (the "Grant Funds") for eligible costs 
described in Section 6.a. hereof.  Recipient shall provide matching funds for all Project Costs 
as described in Exhibit A. Recipient will be responsible for all Project Costs not covered by 
the Grant Funds.  

4. Project.  The Grant Funds shall be used solely for the project described in Exhibit A (the 
"Project") and shall not be used for any other purpose. No Grant Funds will be disbursed for any 
changes to the Project unless such changes are approved by State by amendment pursuant 

69



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 2 of  21

to Section 11.a hereof.
5. Progress Reports.  Recipient shall submit quarterly progress reports to State no later than 

45 days after the close of each quarterly reporting period.  Reporting periods are July through 
September, October through December, January through March, and April through June. 
Reports must be in a format acceptable to State and must be entered into the Oregon Public 
Transit Information System (OPTIS), which may be accessed at https://www.oregon.gov/
odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx.  If Recipient is unable to access OPTIS, reports must be sent 
to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov.  Reports shall include a statement of revenues and 
expenditures for each quarter, including documentation of local match contributions and 
expenditures. State reserves the right to request such additional information as may be 
necessary to comply with federal or state reporting requirements. 

6. Disbursement and Recovery of Grant Funds.
a. Disbursement Generally.  State shall reimburse eligible costs incurred in carrying out 

the Project, up to the Grant Funds amount provided in Section 3. Reimbursements shall 
be made by State within 30 days of State's approval of a request for reimbursement from 
Recipient using a format that is acceptable to State. Requests for reimbursement must 
be entered into OPTIS or sent to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov. Eligible costs 
are the reasonable and necessary costs incurred by Recipient, or under a subagreement 
described in Section 9 of this Agreement, in performance of the Project and that are not 
excluded from reimbursement by State, either by this Agreement or by exclusion as a 
result of financial review or audit.

b. Conditions Precedent to Disbursement. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds 
to Recipient is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 
following conditions precedent:

i. State has received funding (including, without limitation, federal funding from the 
Federal Transit Administration), appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable 
administrative discretion, to make the disbursement.

ii. Recipient is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement including, without 
limitation, Exhibit D and the requirements incorporated by reference in Exhibit D.

iii. Recipient's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 hereof are true 
and correct on the date of disbursement with the same effect as though made on 
the date of disbursement.

iv. Recipient has provided to State a request for reimbursement using a format that is 
acceptable to and approved by State.  Recipient must submit its final request for 
reimbursement following completion of the Project and no later than 60 days after 
the Expiration Date. Failure to submit the final request for reimbursement within 
60 days after the Expiration Date could result in non-payment.

c. Recovery of Grant Funds.
i. Recovery of Misexpended Funds or Unexpended Funds. Any Grant Funds disbursed 

to Recipient under this Agreement that are either (i) disbursed but unexpended 
as of the Expiration Date ("Unexpended Funds") or (ii) expended in violation or 
contravention of one or more of the provisions of  this Agreement ("Misexpended 
Funds") must be returned to State. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds 
to State no later than 15 days after State's written demand. Recipient shall return 
all Unexpended Funds to State within 15 days after the earlier of expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.

ii. Recovery of Funds upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated under either 
Section 10(a)(i) or Section 10(a)(v) below, Recipient shall return to State all funds 
disbursed to Recipient within 15 days after State's written demand for the same.

7. Representations and Warranties of Recipient.  Recipient represents and warrants to State 
as follows:

a. Organization and Authority. Recipient is duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State of Oregon and is eligible to receive the Grant Funds. Recipient has full 
power, authority, and legal right to make this Agreement and to incur and perform its 

70



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 3 of  21

obligations hereunder, and the making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement 
(1) have been duly authorized by all necessary action of Recipient; (2) do not and 
will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any 
court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any provision of 
Recipient's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, if applicable; and, (3) do not and will not 
result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other 
agreement or instrument to which Recipient is a party or by which Recipient or any of 
its properties may be bound or affected. No authorization, consent, license, approval 
of, filing or registration with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or 
supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient 
of this Agreement.

b. Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
Recipient and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Recipient, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms subject to the laws of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

c. No Solicitation.  Recipient's officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or any item of monetary value from contractors, potential 
contractors, or parties to subagreements, except as permitted by applicable law. No 
member or delegate to the Congress of the United States or State of Oregon employee 
shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom.

d. No Debarment.  Neither Recipient nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, or 
voluntarily excluded from this federally-assisted transaction, or proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this Agreement by any 
state or federal agency. Recipient agrees to notify State immediately if it is debarred, 
suspended or otherwise excluded from this federally-assisted transaction for any reason 
or if circumstances change that may affect this status, including without limitation upon 
any relevant indictments or convictions of crimes. 

 

The warranties set in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other warranties 
set forth in this Agreement or implied by law.

8. Records Maintenance and Access; Audit.
a. Records, Access to Records and Facilities. Recipient shall make and retain proper 

and complete books of record and account and maintain all fiscal records related to 
this Agreement and the Project in accordance with all applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles, generally accepted governmental auditing standards and state 
minimum standards for audits of municipal corporations. Recipient shall require that 
each of its subrecipients and subcontractors complies with these requirements. State, 
the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon (Secretary), the United States Department 
of Transportation (USDOT), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and their duly 
authorized representatives shall have access to the books, documents, papers and 
records of Recipient that are directly related to this Agreement, the funds provided 
hereunder, or the Project for the purpose of making audits and examinations. In addition, 
State, the Secretary, USDOT, FTA and their duly authorized representatives may make 
and retain excerpts, copies, and transcriptions of the foregoing books, documents, 
papers, and records. Recipient shall permit authorized representatives of State, the 
Secretary, USDOT and FTA to perform site reviews of the Project, and to inspect all 
vehicles, real property, facilities and equipment purchased by Recipient as part of the 
Project, and any transportation services rendered by Recipient.

b. Retention of Records. Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all books, documents, 
papers, and records that are directly related to this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, records relating to capital assets funded by this Agreement, the Grant Funds 
or the Project for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required 
by other provisions of this Agreement or applicable law, following the Expiration Date. 
If there are unresolved audit questions at the end of the six-year period, Recipient shall 
retain the records until the questions are resolved. 

c. Expenditure Records.  Recipient shall document the expenditure of all Grant Funds 
disbursed by State under this Agreement.  Recipient shall create and maintain all 
expenditure records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in 

71



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 4 of  21

sufficient detail to permit State to verify how the Grant Funds were expended.
d. Audit Requirements.

i. If Recipient expends $1,000,000 or more in federal awards during the Recipient's 
fiscal year, the Recipient must have a single or program-specific audit conducted 
for that year in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F (Audit 
Requirements). Recipient, if subject to this requirement, shall at Recipient's own 
expense submit to State, Public Transportation Division, 355 Capitol St NE, MS43, 
Salem, Oregon, 97301-4179 or to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov, a copy of, 
or electronic link to, its annual audit subject to this requirement covering the funds 
expended under this Agreement and shall submit or cause to be submitted, the 
annual audit of any subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s) of Recipient 
responsible for the financial management of funds received under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall indemnify, save, protect and hold harmless State from the cost of 
any audits or special investigations performed by the Secretary with respect to the 
funds expended under this Agreement. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that 
any audit costs incurred by Recipient as a result of allegations of fraud, waste or 
abuse are ineligible for reimbursement under this or any other agreement between 
Recipient and State.

 This Section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9. Recipient Subagreements; Procurements; conflicts of interest

a. Subagreements.  Recipient may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors 
or subcontractors (collectively, "subagreements") for performance of the Project.

i. All subagreements must be in writing executed by Recipient and must incorporate 
and pass through all of the applicable requirements of this Agreement to the other 
party or parties to the subagreement(s). Use of a subagreement does not relieve 
Recipient of its responsibilities under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall require all of its contractors performing work under this Agreement 
to name State as a third-party beneficiary of Recipient's subagreement with the 
contractor and to name State as an additional or "dual" obligee on contractors' 
payment and performance bonds.

iii. Recipient shall provide State with a copy of any signed subagreement, as well as 
any other purchasing or contracting documentation, upon request by State. This 
paragraph 9.a.iii. shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

iv. Recipient must report to State any material breach of a term or condition of a 
subagreement within ten (10) days of Recipient discovering the breach.

b. Recipient shall review the Best Practices Procurement Manual, a technical assistance 
manual prepared by the FTA, available on the FTA website: https://www.transit.dot.gov/
funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/best-practices-procurement-manual

c. Subagreement indemnity; subrecipient insurance

i. Recipient's subagreement(s) shall require the other party to such 
subagreements(s) that is not a unit of local government as defined in ORS 
190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless State and 
its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, 
actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260, 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of  the other party to Recipient's subagreement 
or any of such party's officers, agents, employees or subcontractors 
("Claims"). It is the specific intention of the Parties that the State shall, 
in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of the State, be indemnified by the other party to 
Recipient's subagreement(s) from and against any and all Claims.

ii. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Recipient's 

72



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 5 of  21

subrecipient(s), contractor(s) nor subcontractor(s) (collectively 
"Subrecipients"), nor any attorney engaged by Recipient's 
Subrecipient(s), shall defend any claim in the name of the State or any 
agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal representative 
of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior written 
consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The State may, at any time at 
its election, assume its own defense and settlement in the event that 
it determines that Recipient's Subrecipient is prohibited from defending 
State or that Recipient's Subrecipient is not adequately defending State's 
interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that 
it is in the best interests of State to do so. State reserves all rights to 
pursue claims it may have against Recipient's Subrecipient if State elects 
to assume its own defense.

iii. Recipient shall require the other party, or parties, to each of its subagreements that 
are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003 to obtain and maintain 
insurance requirements provided in Exhibit C to this Agreement. Recipient may 
specify insurance requirements of its contractor(s) above the minimum insurance 
requirements specified in Exhibit C. Recipient shall verify its contractor(s) meet the 
insurance requirements in Exhibit C.

d. Procurements. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services 
for the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, including 
all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and rules, and in 
conformance to FTA Circular 4220.1F, Third Party Contracting Requirements including:

i. All applicable clauses required by federal statute, executive orders and their 
implementing regulations are included in each competitive procurement;

ii. All procurement transactions are conducted in a manner providing full and open 
competition;

iii. Procurements exclude the use of statutorily or administratively imposed in-state 
or geographic preference in the evaluation of bids or proposals (with exception of 
locally controlled licensing requirements);

iv. Construction, architectural and engineering procurements are based on Brooks Act 
procedures unless the procurement is subject to ORS 279C.100 to 279C.125. 

e. Conflict of Interest. Recipient's public officials shall comply with Oregon's government 
ethics laws, ORS 244.010 et seq., as those laws may be subsequently amended.

10. Termination
a. Termination by State.  State may terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of 

written notice of termination to Recipient, or at such later date as may be established 
by State in such written notice, if:

i. Recipient fails to perform the Project within the time specified herein or any 
extension thereof or commencement, continuation or timely completion of the 
Project by Recipient is, for any reason, rendered improbable, impossible, or illegal; 
or

ii. State fails to receive funding, appropriations, limitations or other expenditure 
authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to continue to make payments for performance of this Agreement; or

iii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement; or

iv. The Project would not produce results commensurate with the further expenditure 
of funds; or

v. Recipient takes any action pertaining to this Agreement without the approval of 
State and which under the provisions of this Agreement would have required the 
approval of State.

b. Termination by Recipient.  Recipient may terminate this Agreement effective upon 

73



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 6 of  21

delivery of written notice of termination to State, or at such later date as may be 
established by Recipient in such written notice, if:

i. The requisite local funding to continue the Project becomes unavailable to 
Recipient; or

ii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement.

c. Termination by Either Party.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon at 
least ten days' notice to the other Party and failure of the other Party to cure within the 
period provided in the notice, if the other Party fails to comply with any of the terms 
of this Agreement.

11. General Provisions
a. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or extended only by a written 

instrument signed by both Parties and approved as required by applicable law.
b. Contribution.

i. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging 
a tort as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against State 
or Recipient with respect to which the other Party may have liability, the notified 
Party must promptly notify the other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and 
deliver to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with 
respect to the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense 
of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own 
choosing. Receipt by a Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and 
meaningful opportunity for the Party to participate in the investigation, defense and 
settlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions 
precedent to that Party's liability with respect to the Third Party Claim.

ii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third Party 
Claim for which State is jointly liable with Recipient (or would be if joined in the 
Third Party Claim ), State shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including 
attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of 
the Recipient on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in 
such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other 
relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of State on the one hand 
and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among 
other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, 
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. State's contribution amount in any 
instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon 
law, including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if State had sole 
liability in the proceeding.

iii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third 
Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with State (or would be if joined 
in the Third Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 
actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by State in such proportion 
as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and 
of State on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such 
expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant 
equitable considerations. The relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of 
State on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, 
the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to 
correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines 
or settlement amounts. Recipient's contribution amount in any instance is capped to 
the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon 
Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability in the proceeding.

74



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 7 of  21

c. Indemnification.
i. Subject to any limitations imposed by State law and the Oregon Constitution, 

Recipient agrees to the following contract-related indemnification for all projects 
authorized under this Agreement:

ii. Where Recipient contracts for services or performs project management for a 
project, Recipient shall accept all responsibility, defend lawsuits, indemnify, and 
hold State harmless, for all contract-related claims and suits. This includes but is 
not limited to all contract claims or suits brought by any contractor, whether arising 
out of the contractor's work, Recipient's supervision of any individual project or 
contract, or Recipient's failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

 
Sections 11.b and 11.c shall survive termination of this Agreement.

d. Insurance. Recipient shall obtain and maintain the insurance requirements provided in 
Exhibit C to this Agreement.

e. Dispute Resolution.  The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly 
selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short 
of litigation.

f. Responsibility for Grant Funds.  Any recipient of Grant Funds, pursuant to this 
Agreement with State, shall assume sole liability for that recipient's breach of the 
conditions of this Agreement, and shall, upon recipient's breach of conditions that 
requires State to return funds to the FTA, hold harmless and indemnify State for an 
amount equal to the funds received under this Agreement; or if legal limitations apply 
to the indemnification ability of the recipient of Grant Funds, the indemnification amount 
shall be the maximum amount of funds available for expenditure, including any available 
contingency funds or other available non-appropriated funds, up to the amount received 
under this Agreement.

g. Duplicate Payment.  Recipient is not entitled to compensation or any other form of 
duplicate, overlapping or multiple payments for the same work performed under this 
Agreement from any agency of the State of Oregon or the United States of America or 
any other party, organization or individual.

h. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  State and Recipient are the only Parties to this 
Agreement and are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit 
or right, whether directly or indirectly, to a third person unless such a third person is 
individually identified by name herein and expressly described as an intended beneficiary 
of the terms of this Agreement.

Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Federal Government, absent express written 
consent by the Federal Government, is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, contractor or any other party 
(whether or not a party to the Agreement) pertaining to any matter resulting from the 
this Agreement.

i. Notices.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any 
communications between the Parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be 
given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, email, or mailing the same, postage 
prepaid, to Recipient Contact or State Contact at the address or number set forth 
on the signature page of this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as 
either Party may hereafter indicate pursuant to this subsection. Any communication 
or notice personally delivered shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. 
Any communication or notice delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when 
receipt of the transmission is generated by the transmitting machine, and to be effective 
against State, such facsimile transmission must be confirmed by telephone notice to 
State Contact. Any communication by email shall be deemed to be given when the 
recipient of the email acknowledges receipt of the email. Any communication or notice 

75



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 

Page 8 of  21

mailed shall be deemed to be given when received.  
j. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law.  Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim") between 
State (or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon) and Recipient that 
arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and 
exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County in the State of Oregon.  In no event 
shall this section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense 
or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on 
the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from 
any Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.  RECIPIENT HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE, AND 
WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

k. Compliance with Law.  Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Agreement or to the 
implementation of the Project, as applicable to Recipient, including without limitation 
as described in Exhibit D.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Recipient 
expressly agrees to comply with (i) Title VI of Civil Rights Act of 1964; (ii) Title V and 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and administrative rules established 
pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other applicable requirements of federal and 
state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations.

l. Independent Contractor.  Recipient shall perform the Project as an independent 
contractor and not as an agent or employee of State.  Recipient has no right or authority 
to incur or create any obligation for or legally bind State in any way.  State cannot and 
will not control the means or manner by which Recipient performs the Project, except 
as specifically set forth in this Agreement.  Recipient is responsible for determining the 
appropriate means and manner of performing the Project.  Recipient acknowledges and 
agrees that Recipient is not an "officer", "employee", or "agent" of State, as those terms 
are used in ORS 30.265, and shall not make representations to third parties to the 
contrary.  

m. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term 
or provision held to be invalid.

n. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (by 
facsimile or otherwise), each of which is an original and all of which together are deemed 
one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories 
to the same counterpart.

o. Integration and Waiver.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  The delay or failure of either Party to enforce any provision of 
this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that Party of that or any other provision.  
Recipient, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges 
that it has read this Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms 
and conditions.

p. Survival. The following provisions survive termination of this Agreement: Sections 6.c., 
8 and 11.

 
 

76



Page 9 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 
The Parties, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that each Party has read this 
Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.
 

The Oregon Transportation Commission on October 20, 2010, approved Delegation Order Number 
OTC-01, which authorizes the Director of the Oregon Department of 
Transportation to administer programs related to public transit.

On March 1, 2012, the Director approved Delegation Order Number DIR-04, which 
delegates the authority to approve this Agreement to the Public Transportation 
Division Administrator.
 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW

77



Page 10 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR 97301
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Suzanne Carlson
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 07/10/2025

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $250,000)

 
 

N/A
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov

78



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 

Page 11 of  21

EXHIBIT A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: 5310 STBG Tillamook County Transportation District 35780
Vehicle Preventative Maintenance

FTA funding Category B. Project identified not ready to execute. Funds not available until FTA
grant execution and subgrant agreement revision to release funds for reimbursement.

 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
P-25-3169-02 Item #1: Preventive Maintenance

$214,646.00 $192,602.00 $22,044.00 Local
Sub Total $214,646.00 $192,602.00 $22,044.00

 

Grand Total $214,646.00 $192,602.00 $22,044.00
 

 
The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and all other applicable
federal environmental laws (e.g., the Endangered Species Act, the Clean Water Act, and the
National Historic Preservation Act) apply to all projects that receive FTA funds (directly or
through the State). The process of addressing compliance with NEPA and all other applicable
federal environmental laws is referred to as the environmental review process. For any project
receiving FTA funds, subrecipients are responsible for coordinating with ODOT prior to incurring
any costs or conducting any project-related activities to confirm requirements for complying
with the environmental review process. The subrecipient is responsible for submitting all
documentation required to comply with the environmental review process to ODOT for approval
by the FTA.

The following activities cannot proceed until the FTA concurs in writing that the environmental
review process is complete per 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1): 
- final design activities (design beyond 30%).
- property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property owners that imply or are
explicitly binding).
- purchase of construction materials (including EV chargers and bus shelters) or rolling stock, 
- project construction activities (including construction, alteration, or repair [including dredging,
excavating, and painting] of buildings, structures, or other real property). 

Proceeding with any of these activities prior to FTA concurrence that the environmental review
process is complete may deem the entire project ineligible to receive federal funding.

1. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

This Agreement provides funding for preventive maintenance on vehicles but should not be
used for facility maintenance.  in the provision of public transportation. Proper maintenance
ensures assets are kept in good condition per manufacturers' recommendations and that safety
standards are met. 

Preventive maintenance reimbursed in this Agreement is for assets, such as vehicles and other
vehicle related equipment used in the provision of public transportation services for the general
public, seniors, or individuals with disabilities. This Agreement does not provide for maintenance
on staff vehicles, vehicles used for business of Recipient, or maintenance vehicles.
For some activities, FTA completes the NEPA process during grant review, using the information
in the grant application. Written NEPA concurrence from FTA is not required for these activities,
which include but are not limited to:
- Preventative maintenance that involves NO physical changes and/or alterations.
- Purchase of equipment that is not part of a larger project and can be accommodated in existing
building(s) or facility(-ies) with NO physical changes, alterations, or installation required.
Recipients should coordinate with the State prior to incurring any costs or conducting any
project-related activities to confirm NEPA requirements.

79



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 

Page 12 of  21

This agreement includes only items related to vehicles and does not include facility
maintenance. 

Vehicles and in-house maintenance facility are located at: 3600 Third Street, Tillamook, Oregon

2. PROJECT DELIVERABLES, TASKS and SCHEDULE

Recipient will complete all vehicle preventive maintenance tasks prior to the expiration date of
this Agreement. 

Vehicle preventive maintenance expenses include activities, supplies, materials, labor, services,
and associated costs required to preserve or extend the functionality and serviceability of the
asset in a cost-effective manner. Preventive maintenance includes but is not limited to the
following: oil changes; engine tune-ups; tire purchases; tire maintenance; annual vehicle
inspections; scheduled or routine maintenance; and associated parts, supplies, and labor. 

Preventive maintenance under this Agreement does not include repairs resulting from motor
vehicle accidents covered by insurance, repairs on vehicles or components under warranty, or
repairs which are paid for in other agreements or contracts.

Recipient must provide to State, a plan for scheduled preventive maintenance. Reimbursement
requests must match the activities or purchases described in Recipient's plan. 

A major component replacement (such as an engine or transmission), that keeps an asset within
useful life (overhaul) or extends the useful life (rebuild) may be eligible for reimbursement
under this Agreement, pending verification of conformance to Recipient's adopted maintenance
plan and requirements detailed in Federal Transit Administration Circular 5010.1E (Award
Management Requirements), Chapter IV. 

Overhaul is performed as a planned or concentrated preventive maintenance activity and is
intended to enable the vehicle to perform to the end of the original useful life. A vehicle must
meet at least 40 percent of its useful life to be considered for an overhaul. 
Recipient must obtain pre-approval from State prior to any vehicle overhaul. Vehicle rebuilds
must extend the useful life of the vehicle by at least four years. 

If local circumstances change, for example, vehicle type or asset disposition, Recipient's
maintenance plan must be updated to reflect that change.

3. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

Sources that may be used as Recipient's matching funds for this Agreement include Statewide
Transportation Improvement Formula Fund, local funds, service contract revenue, advertisement
income, other earned income, cash donations, and other verifiable in-kind contributions that are
integral to the project budget. Recipient may not use passenger fares as matching funds. State's
obligation to reimburse Project costs is contingent upon Recipient first paying or otherwise
contributing its minimum match amount set forth in this Exhibit A. 

4. REPORTING and INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred during each period
as prescribed by State and described in Recipient's preventive maintenance plan for this
Agreement. Recipient must maintain and provide supporting documents detailing the total
expenses for allowable maintenance activities incurred during the period. Recipient may list costs
on a form provided by State or provide vendor invoices. 

Vendor invoices must be attached and include the following:
- Be legible
- Match the amount requested for reimbursement
- Include a description of the service (hours, rate, quantity of service)
- Include the date(s) of the service
- Include the agency providing the service
- Subrecipients should not attach invoices that are not directly related to the expenses that are

80



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 

Page 13 of  21

requested on the reimbursement request document.
- If multiple grants are used for the preventive maintenance spreadsheets or similar documents,
it must clearly show how these funds are associated with the costs requested in each
reimbursement request

First year maximum disbursement: no more than 50 percent of the total fund amount of any
single activity line item will be disbursed, regardless of the amount of any reimbursement
request.

Second year maximum disbursement: no more than 50 percent of the total fund amount of any
single activity line item, plus any remaining portion from the first fiscal year period.

81



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

Page 14 of  21

EXHIBIT B

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

The information below will assist auditors to prepare a report in compliance with the requirements
of 2 CFR part 200, subpart F.
 

This Agreement is financed by the funding source indicated below:
 

Federal Program Federal Funding Agency CFDA Number Total Federal Funding
49 U.S.C. 5310 U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Transit Administration
915 Second Avenue, Suite 3142
Seattle, WA  98174

20.513 (5310) $192,602.00

 
Administered By  
Public Transportation Division
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR  97301

 

82



Page 15 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 
EXHIBIT C

 

Subagreement Insurance Requirements
 

1.GENERAL.
1. a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall require in its first tier subagreements with entities that are not units of 
local government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: i) obtain insurance specified under 
TYPES AND AMOUNTS and meeting the requirements under ADDITIONAL INSURED, "TAIL" 
COVERAGE, NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 
before performance under the subagreement commences, and ii) maintain the insurance in 
full force throughout the duration of the subagreement.  The insurance must be provided 
by insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance 
and issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable to State.  Recipient 
shall not authorize work to begin under subagreements until the insurance is in full force. 
Thereafter, Recipient shall monitor continued compliance with the insurance requirements on 
an annual or more frequent basis. Recipient shall incorporate appropriate provisions in the 
subagreement permitting it to enforce compliance with the insurance requirements and shall 
take all reasonable steps to enforce such compliance.  In no event shall Recipient permit 
work under a subagreement when Recipient is aware that the contractor is not in compliance 
with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, "first tier" means a subagreement 
in which the Recipient is a Party.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION.

All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance 
coverage for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under 
ORS 656.126(2).  The coverage shall include Employer's Liability Insurance with limits not 
less than $500,000 each accident. Contractor shall require compliance with these 
requirements in each of its subcontractor contracts.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, 
products and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage. When work to be 
performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, 
trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the 
Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy.
Amounts below are a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.

Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor's business-related automobile use 
covering all owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Amount 
below is a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

83



Page 16 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 
This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.  
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees" as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the contractor's activities to be performed under the 
Subagreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance 
and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. "TAIL" COVERAGE.
If any of the required insurance policies is on a "claims made" basis, such as professional 
liability insurance or pollution liability insurance,  the contractor shall maintain either "tail" 
coverage or continuous "claims made" liability coverage, provided the effective date of the 
continuous "claims made" coverage is on or before the effective date of the Subagreement, 
for a minimum of twenty-four (24) months following the later of : (i) the contractor's 
completion and Recipient's acceptance of all Services required under the Subagreement or, 
(ii) the expiration of all warranty periods provided under the Subagreement. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing twenty-four (24) month requirement, if the contractor elects to maintain 
"tail" coverage and if the maximum time period "tail" coverage reasonably available in 
the marketplace is less than the twenty-four (24) month period described above, then the 
contractor may request and State may grant approval of  the maximum "tail " coverage 
period reasonably available in the marketplace.  If State approval is granted, the contractor 
shall maintain "tail" coverage for the maximum time period that "tail" coverage is reasonably 
available in the marketplace. 

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 The contractor or its insurer must provide thirty (30) days' written notice to Recipient before 

cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal 
of the required insurance coverage(s). The Recipient shall immediately notify State of 
any change in insurance coverage.

4. CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall obtain from the contractor a certificate(s) of insurance for all required 

insurance before the contractor performs under the Subcontract. The certificate(s) or an 
attached endorsement must specify: i) all entities and individuals who are endorsed on the 
policy as Additional Insured and ii) for insurance on a "claims made" basis, the extended 
reporting period applicable to "tail" or continuous "claims made" coverage.

Recipient Insurance Requirements

84



Page 17 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 

1. GENERAL.
 a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall obtain at Recipient's expense the insurance specified in this exhibit prior to 
performing under this Agreement and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense 
throughout the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period 
or continuous claims made coverage requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. 
Recipient shall obtain the following insurance from insurance companies or entities that 
are authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State of 
Oregon and that are acceptable to Agency. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory 
with any other insurance and self-insurance, with the exception of Professional Liability and 
Workers' Compensation. Recipient shall pay for all deductibles, self-insured retention and 
self-insurance, if any.

 
b. INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW.
Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by State under this Agreement 
and to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and State.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION. 

All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for 
those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). 
Recipient shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these 
requirements. If Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall 
also obtain employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each 
accident. If Recipient is an employer subject to any other state's workers' compensation 
law, Contactor shall provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for its employees as 
required by applicable workers' compensation laws including employers' liability insurance 
coverage with limits not less than $500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-
of-state subcontractors complies with these requirements.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury, death, and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury 
liability, products and completed operations and contractual liability coverage.  When work 
to be performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, 
bridge, trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide 
the Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy. Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be less than the 
following amounts as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.
Automobile Liability Insurance covering business-related automobile use on all owned, non-
owned or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Automobile Liability Insurance shall 
not be less than the following amount as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.

85



Page 18 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees"  as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the Recipient's activities to be performed under this 
Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and 
self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.
Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient 
may acquire against the department or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any 
loss. Recipient will obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of 
subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the State has received a 
waiver of subrogation endorsement from the Recipient or the Recipient's insurer(s).

 
g. CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE: 
If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an 
extended reporting period of at least 24 months, then Recipient shall maintain continuous 
claims made liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made 
coverage is on or before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months 
following the later of:

 i. Recipient's completion and State's acceptance of all project work required under the 
Agreement, or 

 ii. State or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or

 iii. The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement.

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 Recipient or its insurer must provide 30 days' written notice to State before cancellation 

of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the 
required insurance coverage(s).

4. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall provide to State Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 

delivering any Goods and performing any Services required under this Agreement. The 
Certificate(s) shall list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate 
holder and as an endorsed Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by 
this Agreement. If excess/umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance 
requirement, the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that fall under 
the excess/umbrella insurance. As proof of insurance State has the right to request copies 
of insurance policies and endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this 
Agreement.

5. STATE ACCEPTANCE.

86



Page 19 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 
 All insurance providers are subject to State acceptance.  If requested by State, Recipient 

shall provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents 
and related insurance documents to State's representatives responsible for verification of the 
insurance coverages required under this Exhibit C. 

87



Page 20 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 
EXHIBIT D

 

Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by Reference Annual List
of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative Agreements

("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), Except as Modified Herein

 

Recipient and Recipient's subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s), at any tier, if any, 
must comply with: (1) all applicable federal requirements contained in the Certifications and 
Assurances including as they may be changed during the term of this Agreement, except as 
otherwise stated herein; and (2) all applicable requirements included in the Federal Transit 
Administration Master Agreement ("Master Agreement") including as they may be changed 
during the term of this Agreement, except as otherwise stated herein. The Certifications and 
Assurances and the Master Agreement are incorporated by reference herein and are available at 
www.transit.dot.gov.

The Certifications and Assurances for Fiscal Year 2025, Standard Assurances, Section 1.1(r), 
requires a grant applicant to certify that it "[w]ill comply with all applicable requirements of all other 
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies governing the program under which it is 
applying for assistance."  In addition, the Master Agreement #33, Generally Applicable Provisions, 
Section 12(m) contains the following language: "the Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials 
in the enforcement of Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of 
Homeland Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law." ("Immigration Condition").

The State of Oregon is a plaintiff in a lawsuit challenging U.S. DOT's imposition of the Immigration 
Condition on federal funding as unlawful."  See California v. U.S. Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 
(D.R.I. filed May 13, 2025).  On June 19, 2025, the court presiding over that action issued an order 
enjoining the imposition of the Immigration Condition on federal funding as to any Plaintiff State, 
including any subdivision or instrumentality thereof.  The Oregon Department of Transportation, as 
an agency of the State of Oregon, is subject to that court order. To the extent the Certification and 
Assurances purports to require an agency or person on behalf of the State of Oregon to agree to the 
Immigration Condition, the State of Oregon does not certify or assure that it will so comply or be 
bound. The State of Oregon's execution of the Master Agreement or this Agreement should not be 
construed as a certification or agreement to comply with the Immigration Condition. For purposes 
of this Agreement, the Certification and Assurances and the Master Agreement are modified to 
remove the Immigration Condition. 

Without limiting or modifying the foregoing, the following is a summary of some requirements 
applicable to transactions covered by this Agreement and the funds described in Exhibit A:
1. Recipient shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 State 252, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000d) and the regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (49 CFR 21, 
Subtitle A). Recipient shall exclude no person on the grounds of race, religion, color, sex, 
age, national origin, or disability from the benefits of aid received under this Agreement. 
Recipient will report to State on at least an annual basis the following information: any active 
lawsuits or complaints, including dates, summary of allegation, status of lawsuit or complaint 
including whether the Parties entered into a consent decree.

2. Recipient shall comply with FTA regulations in Title 49 CFR 27 Nondiscrimination on the Basis 
of Disability in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance which implements 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 49 
CFR 37, and 49 CFR 38.

3. Recipient shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the award 
and performance of any USDOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE program 
or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Recipient shall take all necessary and reasonable steps 
under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of USDOT-
assisted contracts. Recipient's DBE program, if applicable, as required by 49 CFR part 26 
and as approved by USDOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation 
of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a 

88



Page 21 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35780

 
violation of this agreement. Upon notification to State of its failure to carry out its approved 
program, the Department may impose sanctions as provided for under part 26 and may, 
in appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the 
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).

4. The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), including 23 CFR Part 771, 
apply to all projects that receive federal funds (whether directly or through the State) or that 
need a federal approval or permit. The process of addressing compliance with NEPA and all 
other applicable federal laws relating to the environment, parks, or historic resources (e.g., 
the Endangered Species Act, the Clean Water Act, the National Historic Preservation Act, 
Section 4(f) of the U.S. Department of Transportation Act) is referred to as the environmental 
review process. Recipient shall coordinate with the State and FTA prior to incurring any 
costs, making any expenditures, or conducting any project-related activities to confirm 
requirements for complying with the environmental review process. Recipient is responsible 
for submitting all documentation required to comply with the environmental review process 
to the State for approval by the FTA.

Until the FTA concurs that the environmental review process is complete and in compliance 
with 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1), the following activities cannot proceed: final design activities 
(design beyond 30%), property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property 
owners that imply or are explicitly binding), purchase of construction materials or rolling 
stock, or project construction activities (including, but is not limited to, any ground 
disturbance or facility modification). This award is contingent on the FTA's concurrence that 
the environmental review process is complete, and the project has complied with NEPA and 
related federal laws. Any project expenses incurred prior to completion of the environmental 
review process will not be eligible for reimbursement and may cause the entire project to be 
ineligible to receive federal funding.

5. Recipient must include the following language in each subagreement Recipient signs with a 
subcontractor or subrecipient:

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this Agreement. The contractor, subrecipient, 
or subcontractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award 
and administration of USDOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor, subrecipient, or 
subcontractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which 
may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as Recipient deems 
appropriate.

6. Recipient and contractors receiving in excess of $100,000 in federal funds, other than Indian 
tribes, must certify to State that they have not and will not use federal funds to pay for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any federal department or 
Agency, a member of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 
obtaining any federal grant, cooperative agreement or any other federal award. If non-federal 
funds have been used to support lobbying activities in connection with the Project, Recipient 
shall complete Standard Form LLL, Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying and submit the form 
to State at the end of each calendar quarter in which there occurs an event that requires 
disclosure. Restrictions on lobbying do not apply to influencing policy decisions. Examples of 
prohibited activities include seeking support for a particular application or bid and seeking 
a congressional earmark.

89



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute ODOT Section 5311 ) 
Grant Agreement Number 35822 )     RESOLUTION NO. 25-23 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) has received 
a grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation (“ODOT”) under Section 5311 of 
the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended, which grant is memorialized in ODOT Grant 
Agreement No. 35822; and 

 
WHEREAS, ODOT allocated funding to the District for the purchase of three 

replacement vehicles to support the transportation needs of the general public and 
seniors and individuals with disabilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the effective date of ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35822 is July 1, 

2025 through June 30, 2029, unless otherwise terminated or extended; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35822 in the amount of $1,081,533 on 
behalf of the District for the purchase of three replacement vehicles. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
That the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute ODOT 

Grant Agreement No. 35822 in the amount of $1,081,533 on behalf of the Tillamook 
County Transportation District, for the purchase of three replacement vehicles from July 
1, 2025 through June 30, 2029.  
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

90



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35822

Capital   5311

 

Page 1 of  24

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION DIVISION
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

 
This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and 
through its Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, hereinafter referred to as 
"State," and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as "Recipient," 
and collectively referred to as the "Parties."
 

 

AGREEMENT
1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2025 or the 

date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. 
Unless otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available 
for Project Costs incurred on or after July 1, 2025 and on or before June 30, 2029 (the 
"Expiration Date"). No Grant Funds are available for any expenditures after the Expiration 
Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this Agreement shall end as provided 
in Section 10 of this Agreement.

2. Agreement Documents.  This Agreement consists of this document and the following 
documents, all of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit A:  Project Description and Budget

Exhibit B:  Financial Information

Exhibit C:  Subagreement Insurance Requirements and Recipient Insurance 
Requirements

Exhibit D: Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by reference 
Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements ("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration 
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), as modified by Court Order in California v. U.S. 
Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 (D.R.I. May 13, 2025), ECF No. 57, enjoining the imposition 
of the condition that: "Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials in the enforcement of 
Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of Homeland 
Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law."  Per the Court's Order, this 
injunction is applicable to the State, including any subdivision or instrumentality 
thereof.

Exhibit E: Information required by 2 CFR 200.332(b), may be accessed at 
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx, Oregon Public Transit 
Information System (OPTIS), as the information becomes available

In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, 
the language in the document with the highest precedence shall control.  The precedence of 
each of the documents comprising this Agreement is as follows, listed from highest precedence 
to lowest precedence:  Exhibit D; Exhibit E; this Agreement without Exhibits; Exhibit A; Exhibit 
B; Exhibit C.

3. Project Cost; Grant Funds; Match.  The total project cost is estimated at $1,205,320.00 
("Project Costs").  In accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, State shall 
provide Recipient an amount not to exceed $1,081,533.00 (the "Grant Funds") for eligible 
costs described in Section 6.a. hereof.  Recipient shall provide matching funds for all Project 
Costs as described in Exhibit A. Recipient will be responsible for all Project Costs not covered 
by the Grant Funds.  

4. Project.  The Grant Funds shall be used solely for the project described in Exhibit A (the 
"Project") and shall not be used for any other purpose. No Grant Funds will be disbursed for any 
changes to the Project unless such changes are approved by State by amendment pursuant 

91



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 2 of  24

to Section 11.a hereof.
5. Progress Reports.  Recipient shall submit quarterly progress reports to State no later than 

45 days after the close of each quarterly reporting period.  Reporting periods are July through 
September, October through December, January through March, and April through June. 
Reports must be in a format acceptable to State and must be entered into the Oregon Public 
Transit Information System (OPTIS), which may be accessed at https://www.oregon.gov/
odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx.  If Recipient is unable to access OPTIS, reports must be sent 
to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov.  Reports shall include a statement of revenues and 
expenditures for each quarter, including documentation of local match contributions and 
expenditures. State reserves the right to request such additional information as may be 
necessary to comply with federal or state reporting requirements. 

6. Disbursement and Recovery of Grant Funds.
a. Disbursement Generally.  State shall reimburse eligible costs incurred in carrying out 

the Project, up to the Grant Funds amount provided in Section 3. Reimbursements shall 
be made by State within 30 days of State's approval of a request for reimbursement from 
Recipient using a format that is acceptable to State. Requests for reimbursement must 
be entered into OPTIS or sent to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov. Eligible costs 
are the reasonable and necessary costs incurred by Recipient, or under a subagreement 
described in Section 9 of this Agreement, in performance of the Project and that are not 
excluded from reimbursement by State, either by this Agreement or by exclusion as a 
result of financial review or audit.

b. Conditions Precedent to Disbursement. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds 
to Recipient is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 
following conditions precedent:

i. State has received funding (including, without limitation, federal funding from the 
Federal Transit Administration), appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable 
administrative discretion, to make the disbursement.

ii. Recipient is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement including, without 
limitation, Exhibit D and the requirements incorporated by reference in Exhibit D.

iii. Recipient's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 hereof are true 
and correct on the date of disbursement with the same effect as though made on 
the date of disbursement.

iv. Recipient has provided to State a request for reimbursement using a format that is 
acceptable to and approved by State.  Recipient must submit its final request for 
reimbursement following completion of the Project and no later than 60 days after 
the Expiration Date. Failure to submit the final request for reimbursement within 
60 days after the Expiration Date could result in non-payment.

c. Recovery of Grant Funds.
i. Recovery of Misexpended Funds or Unexpended Funds. Any Grant Funds disbursed 

to Recipient under this Agreement that are either (i) disbursed but unexpended 
as of the Expiration Date ("Unexpended Funds") or (ii) expended in violation or 
contravention of one or more of the provisions of  this Agreement ("Misexpended 
Funds") must be returned to State. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds 
to State no later than 15 days after State's written demand. Recipient shall return 
all Unexpended Funds to State within 15 days after the earlier of expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.

ii. Recovery of Funds upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated under either 
Section 10(a)(i) or Section 10(a)(v) below, Recipient shall return to State all funds 
disbursed to Recipient within 15 days after State's written demand for the same.

7. Representations and Warranties of Recipient.  Recipient represents and warrants to State 
as follows:

a. Organization and Authority. Recipient is duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State of Oregon and is eligible to receive the Grant Funds. Recipient has full 
power, authority, and legal right to make this Agreement and to incur and perform its 

92



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 3 of  24

obligations hereunder, and the making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement 
(1) have been duly authorized by all necessary action of Recipient; (2) do not and 
will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any 
court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any provision of 
Recipient's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, if applicable; and, (3) do not and will not 
result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other 
agreement or instrument to which Recipient is a party or by which Recipient or any of 
its properties may be bound or affected. No authorization, consent, license, approval 
of, filing or registration with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or 
supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient 
of this Agreement.

b. Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
Recipient and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Recipient, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms subject to the laws of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

c. No Solicitation.  Recipient's officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or any item of monetary value from contractors, potential 
contractors, or parties to subagreements, except as permitted by applicable law. No 
member or delegate to the Congress of the United States or State of Oregon employee 
shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom.

d. No Debarment.  Neither Recipient nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, or 
voluntarily excluded from this federally-assisted transaction, or proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this Agreement by any 
state or federal agency. Recipient agrees to notify State immediately if it is debarred, 
suspended or otherwise excluded from this federally-assisted transaction for any reason 
or if circumstances change that may affect this status, including without limitation upon 
any relevant indictments or convictions of crimes. 

 

The warranties set in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other warranties 
set forth in this Agreement or implied by law.

8. Records Maintenance and Access; Audit.
a. Records, Access to Records and Facilities. Recipient shall make and retain proper 

and complete books of record and account and maintain all fiscal records related to 
this Agreement and the Project in accordance with all applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles, generally accepted governmental auditing standards and state 
minimum standards for audits of municipal corporations. Recipient shall require that 
each of its subrecipients and subcontractors complies with these requirements. State, 
the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon (Secretary), the United States Department 
of Transportation (USDOT), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and their duly 
authorized representatives shall have access to the books, documents, papers and 
records of Recipient that are directly related to this Agreement, the funds provided 
hereunder, or the Project for the purpose of making audits and examinations. In addition, 
State, the Secretary, USDOT, FTA and their duly authorized representatives may make 
and retain excerpts, copies, and transcriptions of the foregoing books, documents, 
papers, and records. Recipient shall permit authorized representatives of State, the 
Secretary, USDOT and FTA to perform site reviews of the Project, and to inspect all 
vehicles, real property, facilities and equipment purchased by Recipient as part of the 
Project, and any transportation services rendered by Recipient.

b. Retention of Records. Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all books, documents, 
papers, and records that are directly related to this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, records relating to capital assets funded by this Agreement, the Grant Funds 
or the Project for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required 
by other provisions of this Agreement or applicable law, following the Expiration Date. 
If there are unresolved audit questions at the end of the six-year period, Recipient shall 
retain the records until the questions are resolved. 

c. Expenditure Records.  Recipient shall document the expenditure of all Grant Funds 
disbursed by State under this Agreement.  Recipient shall create and maintain all 
expenditure records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in 

93



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 4 of  24

sufficient detail to permit State to verify how the Grant Funds were expended.
d. Audit Requirements.

i. If Recipient expends $1,000,000 or more in federal awards during the Recipient's 
fiscal year, the Recipient must have a single or program-specific audit conducted 
for that year in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F (Audit 
Requirements). Recipient, if subject to this requirement, shall at Recipient's own 
expense submit to State, Public Transportation Division, 355 Capitol St NE, MS43, 
Salem, Oregon, 97301-4179 or to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov, a copy of, 
or electronic link to, its annual audit subject to this requirement covering the funds 
expended under this Agreement and shall submit or cause to be submitted, the 
annual audit of any subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s) of Recipient 
responsible for the financial management of funds received under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall indemnify, save, protect and hold harmless State from the cost of 
any audits or special investigations performed by the Secretary with respect to the 
funds expended under this Agreement. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that 
any audit costs incurred by Recipient as a result of allegations of fraud, waste or 
abuse are ineligible for reimbursement under this or any other agreement between 
Recipient and State.

 This Section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9. Recipient Subagreements; Procurements; conflicts of interest

a. Subagreements.  Recipient may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors 
or subcontractors (collectively, "subagreements") for performance of the Project.

i. All subagreements must be in writing executed by Recipient and must incorporate 
and pass through all of the applicable requirements of this Agreement to the other 
party or parties to the subagreement(s). Use of a subagreement does not relieve 
Recipient of its responsibilities under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall require all of its contractors performing work under this Agreement 
to name State as a third-party beneficiary of Recipient's subagreement with the 
contractor and to name State as an additional or "dual" obligee on contractors' 
payment and performance bonds.

iii. Recipient shall provide State with a copy of any signed subagreement, as well as 
any other purchasing or contracting documentation, upon request by State. This 
paragraph 9.a.iii. shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

iv. Recipient must report to State any material breach of a term or condition of a 
subagreement within ten (10) days of Recipient discovering the breach.

b. Recipient shall review the Best Practices Procurement Manual, a technical assistance 
manual prepared by the FTA, available on the FTA website: https://www.transit.dot.gov/
funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/best-practices-procurement-manual

c. Subagreement indemnity; subrecipient insurance

i. Recipient's subagreement(s) shall require the other party to such 
subagreements(s) that is not a unit of local government as defined in ORS 
190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless State and 
its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, 
actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260, 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of  the other party to Recipient's subagreement 
or any of such party's officers, agents, employees or subcontractors 
("Claims"). It is the specific intention of the Parties that the State shall, 
in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of the State, be indemnified by the other party to 
Recipient's subagreement(s) from and against any and all Claims.

ii. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Recipient's 

94



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 5 of  24

subrecipient(s), contractor(s) nor subcontractor(s) (collectively 
"Subrecipients"), nor any attorney engaged by Recipient's 
Subrecipient(s), shall defend any claim in the name of the State or any 
agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal representative 
of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior written 
consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The State may, at any time at 
its election, assume its own defense and settlement in the event that 
it determines that Recipient's Subrecipient is prohibited from defending 
State or that Recipient's Subrecipient is not adequately defending State's 
interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that 
it is in the best interests of State to do so. State reserves all rights to 
pursue claims it may have against Recipient's Subrecipient if State elects 
to assume its own defense.

iii. Recipient shall require the other party, or parties, to each of its subagreements that 
are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003 to obtain and maintain 
insurance requirements provided in Exhibit C to this Agreement. Recipient may 
specify insurance requirements of its contractor(s) above the minimum insurance 
requirements specified in Exhibit C. Recipient shall verify its contractor(s) meet the 
insurance requirements in Exhibit C.

d. Procurements. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services 
for the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, including 
all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and rules, and in 
conformance to FTA Circular 4220.1F, Third Party Contracting Requirements including:

i. All applicable clauses required by federal statute, executive orders and their 
implementing regulations are included in each competitive procurement;

ii. All procurement transactions are conducted in a manner providing full and open 
competition;

iii. Procurements exclude the use of statutorily or administratively imposed in-state 
or geographic preference in the evaluation of bids or proposals (with exception of 
locally controlled licensing requirements);

iv. Construction, architectural and engineering procurements are based on Brooks Act 
procedures unless the procurement is subject to ORS 279C.100 to 279C.125. 

e. Additional requirements
i. Recipient shall comply with 49 CFR sections 37.77(c) and 37.105 regarding 

"Certification of Equivalent Service" when purchasing vehicles under this 
Agreement.  If non-accessible vehicles, as defined by the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, are being purchased for use by a public entity in demand responsive 
service for the general public, Recipient will certify to State at the time of applying 
for a project that, when viewed in its entirety, the demand responsive service 
offered to persons with disabilities, including persons who use wheelchairs, meets 
the standard of equivalent service.

ii. Recipient shall comply with 49 CFR 663 regarding pre-award and post-delivery 
reviews.  Every Recipient purchasing rolling stock or facilities under this Agreement 
must certify to State that a pre-award and post-delivery review has been conducted 
in accordance with ODOT requirements. This review ensures compliance to bid 
specifications including, but not limited to, FTA requirements, State requirements, 
and Federal Motor Carrier Safety Standards, as applicable to the type of project. 
Each Recipient's certification must include assurance that required documents 
have been received from manufacturers or vendors of products, or from both, 
and that Recipient possesses such documents. Acceptable certification forms are 
available from State. Recipient must provide certification forms to State when 
reimbursement is requested for vehicles. For facilities projects, Recipient must 
provide pre-award certifications to State at time of first payment, and post-delivery 
certifications upon completion of the post-delivery review, and in no event later 
than with Recipient's request for final payment.

iii. Recipient shall comply with 49 CFR 604 in the provision of any charter service 

95



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 6 of  24

provided with vehicles, facilities, or equipment acquired with FTA assistance under 
this Agreement.

iv. Recipient shall submit an annual vehicle inspection report to State for any vehicle 
purchased under this Agreement. Vehicle inspections shall be conducted by a 
vehicle maintenance technician certified by a nationally recognized organization in 
the field of vehicle service and maintenance. Reports covering required areas of 
inspection shall be submitted on forms provided by State.

v. All drivers of vehicles purchased with FTA funds under this Agreement must 
complete a standard defensive driving course before operating an FTA-funded 
vehicle, and are advised to complete a standard defensive driving course before 
operating a State-funded vehicle.

vi. Recipient shall maintain all vehicles, equipment, and facilities purchased under this 
Agreement in good condition per manufacturer’s recommendations. Recipients are 
required to develop preventive maintenance plans for all rolling stock and facilities 
and to provide the plans to State upon request.

vii. Recipient shall be the owner of the property for facility construction projects and 
of vehicles purchased under this Agreement. Such ownership shall be recorded 
on real property deeds for facility construction projects and on vehicle titles. If 
Recipient contracts the operation of vehicles to a third party, then the third party 
may be shown as the owner or lessee with Recipient listed as the second security 
interest holder or lessor. In all cases, Oregon Department of Transportation, Public 
Transportation Division shall be shown as the first security interest holder on 
vehicle titles. If Recipient fails to show Oregon Department of Transportation, Public 
Transportation Division as the first security interest holder, Recipient shall pay 
any expenses to re-submit the necessary documents to Oregon Department of 
Transportation, Driver and Motor Vehicle Services (DMV). If a vehicle is damaged 
or destroyed at any time when Recipient fails to show Oregon Department of 
Transportation, Public Transportation Division, as the first security interest holder, 
Recipient shall be liable to State for any damage in an amount in the same manner 
as if Oregon Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, were 
shown as the first security interest holder.

viii. Recipient shall bear the cost of insuring assets purchased under this Agreement.
ix. Recipient shall file a restrictive covenant with the property deed for all construction 

projects and purchases of real estate, with the exception of passenger shelters, 
amenities, and right-of-way infrastructure improvements. The restrictive covenant 
will limit the use of the building and property to the stated purpose specified in the 
statement of work associated with this Agreement.

x. Recipient shall complete all purchases, including installation, and all construction 
of capital assets funded under this Agreement prior to the Expiration Date of this 
Agreement. If local circumstances prevent purchase, installation, or construction 
by the specified date, Recipient will notify State in writing of the circumstances 
regarding the delay. Such notification must be received at least forty-five (45) days 
prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Agreement amendment for time will be 
considered in extenuating circumstances.

f. Conflict of Interest. Recipient's public officials shall comply with Oregon's government 
ethics laws, ORS 244.010 et seq., as those laws may be subsequently amended.

10. Termination
a. Termination by State.  State may terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of 

written notice of termination to Recipient, or at such later date as may be established 
by State in such written notice, if:

i. Recipient fails to perform the Project within the time specified herein or any 
extension thereof or commencement, continuation or timely completion of the 
Project by Recipient is, for any reason, rendered improbable, impossible, or illegal; 
or

ii. State fails to receive funding, appropriations, limitations or other expenditure 

96



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 7 of  24

authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to continue to make payments for performance of this Agreement; or

iii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement; or

iv. The Project would not produce results commensurate with the further expenditure 
of funds; or

v. Recipient takes any action pertaining to this Agreement without the approval of 
State and which under the provisions of this Agreement would have required the 
approval of State.

b. Termination by Recipient.  Recipient may terminate this Agreement effective upon 
delivery of written notice of termination to State, or at such later date as may be 
established by Recipient in such written notice, if:

i. The requisite local funding to continue the Project becomes unavailable to 
Recipient; or

ii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement.

c. Termination by Either Party.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon at 
least ten days' notice to the other Party and failure of the other Party to cure within the 
period provided in the notice, if the other Party fails to comply with any of the terms 
of this Agreement.

11. General Provisions
a. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or extended only by a written 

instrument signed by both Parties and approved as required by applicable law.
b. Contribution.

i. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging 
a tort as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against State 
or Recipient with respect to which the other Party may have liability, the notified 
Party must promptly notify the other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and 
deliver to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with 
respect to the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense 
of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own 
choosing. Receipt by a Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and 
meaningful opportunity for the Party to participate in the investigation, defense and 
settlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions 
precedent to that Party's liability with respect to the Third Party Claim.

ii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third Party 
Claim for which State is jointly liable with Recipient (or would be if joined in the 
Third Party Claim ), State shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including 
attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of 
the Recipient on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in 
such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other 
relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of State on the one hand 
and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among 
other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, 
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. State's contribution amount in any 
instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon 
law, including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if State had sole 
liability in the proceeding.

iii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third 
Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with State (or would be if joined 

97



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 8 of  24

in the Third Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 
actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by State in such proportion 
as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and 
of State on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such 
expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant 
equitable considerations. The relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of 
State on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, 
the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to 
correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines 
or settlement amounts. Recipient's contribution amount in any instance is capped to 
the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon 
Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability in the proceeding.

c. Indemnification.
i. Subject to any limitations imposed by State law and the Oregon Constitution, 

Recipient agrees to the following contract-related indemnification for all projects 
authorized under this Agreement:

ii. Where Recipient contracts for services or performs project management for a 
project, Recipient shall accept all responsibility, defend lawsuits, indemnify, and 
hold State harmless, for all contract-related claims and suits. This includes but is 
not limited to all contract claims or suits brought by any contractor, whether arising 
out of the contractor's work, Recipient's supervision of any individual project or 
contract, or Recipient's failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

 
Sections 11.b and 11.c shall survive termination of this Agreement.

d. Insurance. Recipient shall obtain and maintain the insurance requirements provided in 
Exhibit C to this Agreement.

e. Dispute Resolution.  The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly 
selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short 
of litigation.

f. Responsibility for Grant Funds.  Any recipient of Grant Funds, pursuant to this 
Agreement with State, shall assume sole liability for that recipient's breach of the 
conditions of this Agreement, and shall, upon recipient's breach of conditions that 
requires State to return funds to the FTA, hold harmless and indemnify State for an 
amount equal to the funds received under this Agreement; or if legal limitations apply 
to the indemnification ability of the recipient of Grant Funds, the indemnification amount 
shall be the maximum amount of funds available for expenditure, including any available 
contingency funds or other available non-appropriated funds, up to the amount received 
under this Agreement.

g. Duplicate Payment.  Recipient is not entitled to compensation or any other form of 
duplicate, overlapping or multiple payments for the same work performed under this 
Agreement from any agency of the State of Oregon or the United States of America or 
any other party, organization or individual.

h. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  State and Recipient are the only Parties to this 
Agreement and are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit 
or right, whether directly or indirectly, to a third person unless such a third person is 
individually identified by name herein and expressly described as an intended beneficiary 
of the terms of this Agreement.

Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Federal Government, absent express written 
consent by the Federal Government, is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, contractor or any other party 
(whether or not a party to the Agreement) pertaining to any matter resulting from the 

98



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 9 of  24

this Agreement.
i. Notices.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any 

communications between the Parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be 
given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, email, or mailing the same, postage 
prepaid, to Recipient Contact or State Contact at the address or number set forth 
on the signature page of this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as 
either Party may hereafter indicate pursuant to this subsection. Any communication 
or notice personally delivered shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. 
Any communication or notice delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when 
receipt of the transmission is generated by the transmitting machine, and to be effective 
against State, such facsimile transmission must be confirmed by telephone notice to 
State Contact. Any communication by email shall be deemed to be given when the 
recipient of the email acknowledges receipt of the email. Any communication or notice 
mailed shall be deemed to be given when received.  

j. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law.  Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim") between 
State (or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon) and Recipient that 
arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and 
exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County in the State of Oregon.  In no event 
shall this section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense 
or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on 
the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from 
any Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.  RECIPIENT HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE, AND 
WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

k. Compliance with Law.  Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Agreement or to the 
implementation of the Project, as applicable to Recipient, including without limitation 
as described in Exhibit D.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Recipient 
expressly agrees to comply with (i) Title VI of Civil Rights Act of 1964; (ii) Title V and 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and administrative rules established 
pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other applicable requirements of federal and 
state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations.

l. Independent Contractor.  Recipient shall perform the Project as an independent 
contractor and not as an agent or employee of State.  Recipient has no right or authority 
to incur or create any obligation for or legally bind State in any way.  State cannot and 
will not control the means or manner by which Recipient performs the Project, except 
as specifically set forth in this Agreement.  Recipient is responsible for determining the 
appropriate means and manner of performing the Project.  Recipient acknowledges and 
agrees that Recipient is not an "officer", "employee", or "agent" of State, as those terms 
are used in ORS 30.265, and shall not make representations to third parties to the 
contrary.  

m. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term 
or provision held to be invalid.

n. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (by 
facsimile or otherwise), each of which is an original and all of which together are deemed 
one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories 
to the same counterpart.

o. Integration and Waiver.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  The delay or failure of either Party to enforce any provision of 
this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that Party of that or any other provision.  

99



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 

Page 10 of  24

Recipient, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges 
that it has read this Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms 
and conditions.

p. Survival. The following provisions survive termination of this Agreement: Sections 6.c., 
8 and 11.

 
 

100



Page 11 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 
The Parties, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that each Party has read this 
Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.
 

The Oregon Transportation Commission on October 20, 2010, approved Delegation Order Number 
OTC-01, which authorizes the Director of the Oregon Department of 
Transportation to administer programs related to public transit.

On March 1, 2012, the Director approved Delegation Order Number DIR-04, which 
delegates the authority to approve this Agreement to the Public Transportation 
Division Administrator.
 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW

101



Page 12 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR 97301
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Suzanne Carlson
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 07/02/2025

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $250,000)

 
By  
Assistant Attorney General
 
Name Nina R. Englander by email
(printed)

 
Date 06/25/2025

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov

102



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 

Page 13 of  24

EXHIBIT A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: 5311 Tillamook County Transportation District 35822
Replacement vehicle purchase

FTA funding Category B. Project identified not ready to execute. Funds not available until FTA
grant execution and subgrant agreement revision to release funds for reimbursement. 

 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
P-25-6226-01 Item #1: Bus 30ft

$11,145.00 $10,000.00 $1,145.00 Local
Sub Total $11,145.00 $10,000.00 $1,145.00

 

Project Title: 5311 Tillamook County Transportation District 35822
Purchase two replacement vehicles

FTA funding Category B. Project identified not ready to execute. Funds not available until
FTA grant execution and subgrant agreement amendment execution to release funds for
reimbursement. 

 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
P-25-6230-01 Item #1: Bus 30ft

$597,087.00 $535,766.00 $61,321.00 Local
P-25-6230-01 Item #2: Bus 30ft

$597,088.00 $535,767.00 $61,321.00 Local
Sub Total $1,194,175.00 $1,071,533.00 $122,642.00

 

Grand Total $1,205,320.00 $1,081,533.00 $123,787.00
 

 

The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and all other
applicable federal environmental laws (e.g., the Endangered Species Act, the Clean
Water Act, the National Historic Preservation Act) apply to all projects that receive FTA
funds (directly or through the State). The process of addressing compliance with NEPA
and all other applicable federal environmental laws is referred to as the environmental
review process. For any project receiving FTA funds, subrecipients are responsible for
coordinating with ODOT prior to incurring any costs or conducting any project-related
activities to confirm requirements for complying with the environmental review
process. The subrecipient is responsible for submitting all documentation required to
comply with the environmental review process to ODOT for approval by the FTA.

The following activities cannot proceed until the FTA concurs in writing that the
environmental review process is complete per 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1): 
- final design activities (design beyond 30%).
- property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property owners that imply
or are explicitly binding).
- purchase of construction materials (including EV chargers and bus shelters) or
rolling stock, 
- project construction activities (including construction, alteration, or repair [including
dredging, excavating, and painting] of buildings, structures, or other real property). 

Proceeding with any of these activities prior to FTA concurrence that the
environmental review process is complete may deem the entire project ineligible to
receive federal funding.

1.PROJECT DESCRIPTION

103



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 

Page 14 of  24

This Agreement provides funding to purchase passenger transportation vehicles to be used to
provide public transportation service. Public transportation service is defined as service to the
general public or special populations such as seniors and individuals with disabilities. Recipient
may use the vehicles to coordinate public and human service transportation services with other
agencies. Recipient will not lease the vehicles to another agency without the permission of State.

Funding under this Agreement is for the purchase of 3 Category B transit vehicles as follows: 

Useful life - 10 years or 350,000 miles; approximate length - 30 feet; estimated number of seats
- 20; estimated number of ADA securement stations - 3; fuel type - propane.  

Purchase includes all equipment and supplies necessary to put the vehicles into service. 

The following vehicles have been approved for replacement in this Agreement after and subgrant
agreement revision to release funds for reimbursement:
a. V001654; 2015/Arboc/Spirit of Mobility; 1GB6G5BG6F1263789.

The following vehicles have been approved for replacement in this Agreement subgrant
agreement amendment execution to release funds for reimbursement:
b. V002877; 2020 Arboc/Spirit of Mobility; 1HA6GUBB6KN011873. 
c. V002873; 2019/Arboc/Spirit of Mobility; 1HA6GUBB9KN011785

2. PROJECT DELIVERABLES, TASKS and SCHEDULE

All purchases and installations must be completed prior to the expiration date of this Agreement.
Vehicles should be ordered no later than six months after the execution of the agreement and
may not be considered for any type of extension if not ordered at least one year prior to the
execution of the grant agreement. Every effort should be made to order the vehicles in a timely
manner to ensure they are received prior to the expiration date of the agreement.

Location where vehicle will be stored: 3600 Third Street, Tillamook, Oregon.
Milestones
- Dates for each task 
o Start Date July 1, 2025
o RFP/IFB Issue Date September 1, 2025
o Contract Award Date September 15, 2025
o Initial Delivery Date December 1, 2026
o Final Delivery Date February 2, 2027
o Contract Completion Date June 30, 2028

For federally funded vehicles procured using State Price Agreement contracts managed by the
Oregon Department of Administrative Services, all vehicle orders will be reviewed and approved
by State prior to submission to vendors. State is responsible for submitting vehicle purchase
orders to selected vendor. 

If Recipient does not purchase from the State Price Agreement contracts managed by the
Oregon Department of Administrative Services, requests for quotes to procure the vehicles must
be reviewed by State prior to submitting for bid. 

State will retain title to the vehicles as primary security interest holder for as long as the vehicles
remains in public transportation service. Recipient is required to report on all vehicles that are
purchased with state or federal funding until disposition of the vehicle. Recipient must request
permission from State to release title for disposal when planning to sell or transfer a vehicle
and must notify State when actual disposal has been completed. Vehicles must exceed the
minimum useful standard for age or mileage before State will release title. Recipient must
request permission from State in advance to transfer or otherwise dispose of a vehicle prior to
its meeting federal useful life standards. Recipient must request permission from State to release
title for changes. 

Recipient will create and maintain a vehicle maintenance plan that utilizes the original

104



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 

Page 15 of  24

equipment manufacturer maintenance requirements for each vehicle and meets Federal Transit
Administration transit asset management requirements in 49 CFR Part 625. Recipient will follow
the plan to ensure each vehicle is maintained in a state of good repair. Recipient will provide
State a copy of the maintenance plan upon request.

3.PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

Eligible expenses that may be charged to this Agreement include grant administration, the
cost of the procurement process, delivery charges and post-delivery inspections. Aftermarket
equipment, graphics and other items directly associated with these vehicles and required to put
the vehicles into service are eligible. Purchase of an extended warranty is an eligible expense;
however, the eligible warranty shall not exceed the defined useful life of the vehicles. Licensing
and other post-delivery expenses are not eligible for reimbursement. 

Recipient will provide matching funding from non-federal sources. Sources of funding that may
be used as matching funding for this Agreement include, Statewide Transportation Improvement
Fund, local funds, service contract revenue, advertisement income, other earned income, cash
donations, and other verifiable in-kind contributions that are integral to the project budget.
Recipient may not use passenger fares as matching funding.  

Recipient will subtract income from fares, tickets, and passes whether pre-paid or post-paid,
from the gross operating expenses of the service. State's obligation to reimburse Project costs
is contingent upon Recipient first paying or otherwise contributing its minimum match amount
set forth in this Exhibit A. Recipient may not count the same costs twice if they have multiple
agreements for which these costs may be eligible.

4. REPORTING and INVOICING REQUIREMENTS 

Recipient will provide reporting information as prescribed by State on the vehicles purchased
under this Agreement as long as the vehicles remains in public transportation service. 

Recipient will submit a request for reimbursement in a format provided by State. Reimbursement
requests must include:

- The required agency cover letter (instructions found on PTD website), must be attached and
include all of the following information:
o Grant agreement number
o Total cost of all items submitted for reimbursement on the vehicle (vendor purchase order plus
any after-market additions to the vehicle), including the .5% vehicle use tax
o Total passenger capacity/number of ADA stations/total passenger capacity with ADA stations
deployed
o Declaration of whether or not any rebates were given on price and if they are deducted from
the reimbursement request
o Date of acceptance of the vehicle (list if more than one vehicle)
o Date vehicle was put into active transit service (list if more than one vehicle)
o Source of matching funds
o Declaration that vehicle license and title registration expenses are not included in the costs
submitted for reimbursement
- Declaration that a copy of each required document listed on the Pre-Award and Post-Delivery
Vehicle Purchase Certification form is physically on file in the subrecipient's vehicle procurement
file for each vehicle being purchased
- Subrecipients should not attach invoices that are not directly related to the expenses that are
requested on the reimbursement request document.
- copies of all invoices associated with expenses identified for reimbursement. Also required are
a pre-award and post-delivery certification form documenting compliance to Altoona bus testing,
Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards, Buy America, and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise
requirements. 

Recipient is required to create, update and maintain an equipment maintenance plan for
equipment valued at $50,000 or more, including non-rolling stock vehicles and shop equipment.

105



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 

Page 16 of  24

Recipient shall service all vehicles according to the current maintenance plan. 

First year maximum disbursement: no more than 50 percent of the total fund amount of any
single activity line item will be disbursed, regardless of the amount of any reimbursement
request.

Second year maximum disbursement: no more than 50 percent of the total fund amount of any
single activity line item, plus any remaining portion from the first fiscal year period.

 

106



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

Page 17 of  24

EXHIBIT B

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

The information below will assist auditors to prepare a report in compliance with the requirements
of 2 CFR part 200, subpart F.
 

This Agreement is financed by the funding source indicated below:
 

Federal Program Federal Funding Agency CFDA Number Total Federal Funding
49 U.S.C. 5311 U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Transit Administration
915 Second Avenue, Suite 3142
Seattle, WA  98174

20.509 (5311) $1,081,533.00

 
Administered By  
Public Transportation Division
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR  97301

 

107



Page 18 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 
EXHIBIT C

 

Subagreement Insurance Requirements
 

1.GENERAL.
1. a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall require in its first tier subagreements with entities that are not units of 
local government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: i) obtain insurance specified under 
TYPES AND AMOUNTS and meeting the requirements under ADDITIONAL INSURED, "TAIL" 
COVERAGE, NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 
before performance under the subagreement commences, and ii) maintain the insurance in 
full force throughout the duration of the subagreement.  The insurance must be provided 
by insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance 
and issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable to State.  Recipient 
shall not authorize work to begin under subagreements until the insurance is in full force. 
Thereafter, Recipient shall monitor continued compliance with the insurance requirements on 
an annual or more frequent basis. Recipient shall incorporate appropriate provisions in the 
subagreement permitting it to enforce compliance with the insurance requirements and shall 
take all reasonable steps to enforce such compliance.  In no event shall Recipient permit 
work under a subagreement when Recipient is aware that the contractor is not in compliance 
with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, "first tier" means a subagreement 
in which the Recipient is a Party.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION.

All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance 
coverage for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under 
ORS 656.126(2).  The coverage shall include Employer's Liability Insurance with limits not 
less than $500,000 each accident. Contractor shall require compliance with these 
requirements in each of its subcontractor contracts.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, 
products and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage. When work to be 
performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, 
trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the 
Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy.
Amounts below are a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.

Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor's business-related automobile use 
covering all owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Amount 
below is a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

108



Page 19 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 
This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.  
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees" as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the contractor's activities to be performed under the 
Subagreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance 
and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. "TAIL" COVERAGE.
If any of the required insurance policies is on a "claims made" basis, such as professional 
liability insurance or pollution liability insurance,  the contractor shall maintain either "tail" 
coverage or continuous "claims made" liability coverage, provided the effective date of the 
continuous "claims made" coverage is on or before the effective date of the Subagreement, 
for a minimum of twenty-four (24) months following the later of : (i) the contractor's 
completion and Recipient's acceptance of all Services required under the Subagreement or, 
(ii) the expiration of all warranty periods provided under the Subagreement. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing twenty-four (24) month requirement, if the contractor elects to maintain 
"tail" coverage and if the maximum time period "tail" coverage reasonably available in 
the marketplace is less than the twenty-four (24) month period described above, then the 
contractor may request and State may grant approval of  the maximum "tail " coverage 
period reasonably available in the marketplace.  If State approval is granted, the contractor 
shall maintain "tail" coverage for the maximum time period that "tail" coverage is reasonably 
available in the marketplace. 

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 The contractor or its insurer must provide thirty (30) days' written notice to Recipient before 

cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal 
of the required insurance coverage(s). The Recipient shall immediately notify State of 
any change in insurance coverage.

4. CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall obtain from the contractor a certificate(s) of insurance for all required 

insurance before the contractor performs under the Subcontract. The certificate(s) or an 
attached endorsement must specify: i) all entities and individuals who are endorsed on the 
policy as Additional Insured and ii) for insurance on a "claims made" basis, the extended 
reporting period applicable to "tail" or continuous "claims made" coverage.

Recipient Insurance Requirements

109



Page 20 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 

1. GENERAL.
 a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall obtain at Recipient's expense the insurance specified in this exhibit prior to 
performing under this Agreement and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense 
throughout the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period 
or continuous claims made coverage requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. 
Recipient shall obtain the following insurance from insurance companies or entities that 
are authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State of 
Oregon and that are acceptable to Agency. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory 
with any other insurance and self-insurance, with the exception of Professional Liability and 
Workers' Compensation. Recipient shall pay for all deductibles, self-insured retention and 
self-insurance, if any.

 
b. INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW.
Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by State under this Agreement 
and to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and State.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION. 

All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for 
those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). 
Recipient shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these 
requirements. If Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall 
also obtain employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each 
accident. If Recipient is an employer subject to any other state's workers' compensation 
law, Contactor shall provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for its employees as 
required by applicable workers' compensation laws including employers' liability insurance 
coverage with limits not less than $500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-
of-state subcontractors complies with these requirements.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury, death, and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury 
liability, products and completed operations and contractual liability coverage.  When work 
to be performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, 
bridge, trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide 
the Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy. Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be less than the 
following amounts as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.
Automobile Liability Insurance covering business-related automobile use on all owned, non-
owned or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Automobile Liability Insurance shall 
not be less than the following amount as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.

110



Page 21 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees"  as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the Recipient's activities to be performed under this 
Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and 
self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.
Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient 
may acquire against the department or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any 
loss. Recipient will obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of 
subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the State has received a 
waiver of subrogation endorsement from the Recipient or the Recipient's insurer(s).

 
g. CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE: 
If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an 
extended reporting period of at least 24 months, then Recipient shall maintain continuous 
claims made liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made 
coverage is on or before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months 
following the later of:

 i. Recipient's completion and State's acceptance of all project work required under the 
Agreement, or 

 ii. State or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or

 iii. The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement.

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 Recipient or its insurer must provide 30 days' written notice to State before cancellation 

of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the 
required insurance coverage(s).

4. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall provide to State Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 

delivering any Goods and performing any Services required under this Agreement. The 
Certificate(s) shall list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate 
holder and as an endorsed Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by 
this Agreement. If excess/umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance 
requirement, the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that fall under 
the excess/umbrella insurance. As proof of insurance State has the right to request copies 
of insurance policies and endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this 
Agreement.

5. STATE ACCEPTANCE.

111



Page 22 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 
 All insurance providers are subject to State acceptance.  If requested by State, Recipient 

shall provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents 
and related insurance documents to State's representatives responsible for verification of the 
insurance coverages required under this Exhibit C. 

112



Page 23 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 
EXHIBIT D

 

Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by Reference Annual List
of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative Agreements

("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), Except as Modified Herein

 

Recipient and Recipient's subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s), at any tier, if any, 
must comply with: (1) all applicable federal requirements contained in the Certifications and 
Assurances including as they may be changed during the term of this Agreement, except as 
otherwise stated herein; and (2) all applicable requirements included in the Federal Transit 
Administration Master Agreement ("Master Agreement") including as they may be changed 
during the term of this Agreement, except as otherwise stated herein. The Certifications and 
Assurances and the Master Agreement are incorporated by reference herein and are available at 
www.transit.dot.gov.

The Certifications and Assurances for Fiscal Year 2025, Standard Assurances, Section 1.1(r), 
requires a grant applicant to certify that it "[w]ill comply with all applicable requirements of all other 
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies governing the program under which it is 
applying for assistance."  In addition, the Master Agreement #33, Generally Applicable Provisions, 
Section 12(m) contains the following language: "the Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials 
in the enforcement of Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of 
Homeland Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law." ("Immigration Condition").

The State of Oregon is a plaintiff in a lawsuit challenging U.S. DOT's imposition of the Immigration 
Condition on federal funding as unlawful."  See California v. U.S. Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 
(D.R.I. filed May 13, 2025).  On June 19, 2025, the court presiding over that action issued an order 
enjoining the imposition of the Immigration Condition on federal funding as to any Plaintiff State, 
including any subdivision or instrumentality thereof.  The Oregon Department of Transportation, as 
an agency of the State of Oregon, is subject to that court order. To the extent the Certification and 
Assurances purports to require an agency or person on behalf of the State of Oregon to agree to the 
Immigration Condition, the State of Oregon does not certify or assure that it will so comply or be 
bound. The State of Oregon's execution of the Master Agreement or this Agreement should not be 
construed as a certification or agreement to comply with the Immigration Condition. For purposes 
of this Agreement, the Certification and Assurances and the Master Agreement are modified to 
remove the Immigration Condition. 

Without limiting or modifying the foregoing, the following is a summary of some requirements 
applicable to transactions covered by this Agreement and the funds described in Exhibit A:
1. Recipient shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 State 252, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000d) and the regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (49 CFR 21, 
Subtitle A). Recipient shall exclude no person on the grounds of race, religion, color, sex, 
age, national origin, or disability from the benefits of aid received under this Agreement. 
Recipient will report to State on at least an annual basis the following information: any active 
lawsuits or complaints, including dates, summary of allegation, status of lawsuit or complaint 
including whether the Parties entered into a consent decree.

2. Recipient shall comply with FTA regulations in Title 49 CFR 27 Nondiscrimination on the Basis 
of Disability in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance which implements 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 49 
CFR 37, and 49 CFR 38.

3. Recipient shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the award 
and performance of any USDOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE program 
or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Recipient shall take all necessary and reasonable steps 
under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of USDOT-
assisted contracts. Recipient's DBE program, if applicable, as required by 49 CFR part 26 
and as approved by USDOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation 
of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a 

113



Page 24 of  24

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35822

 
violation of this agreement. Upon notification to State of its failure to carry out its approved 
program, the Department may impose sanctions as provided for under part 26 and may, 
in appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the 
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).

4. The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), including 23 CFR Part 771, 
apply to all projects that receive federal funds (whether directly or through the State) or that 
need a federal approval or permit. The process of addressing compliance with NEPA and all 
other applicable federal laws relating to the environment, parks, or historic resources (e.g., 
the Endangered Species Act, the Clean Water Act, the National Historic Preservation Act, 
Section 4(f) of the U.S. Department of Transportation Act) is referred to as the environmental 
review process. Recipient shall coordinate with the State and FTA prior to incurring any 
costs, making any expenditures, or conducting any project-related activities to confirm 
requirements for complying with the environmental review process. Recipient is responsible 
for submitting all documentation required to comply with the environmental review process 
to the State for approval by the FTA.

Until the FTA concurs that the environmental review process is complete and in compliance 
with 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1), the following activities cannot proceed: final design activities 
(design beyond 30%), property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property 
owners that imply or are explicitly binding), purchase of construction materials or rolling 
stock, or project construction activities (including, but is not limited to, any ground 
disturbance or facility modification). This award is contingent on the FTA's concurrence that 
the environmental review process is complete, and the project has complied with NEPA and 
related federal laws. Any project expenses incurred prior to completion of the environmental 
review process will not be eligible for reimbursement and may cause the entire project to be 
ineligible to receive federal funding.

5. Recipient must include the following language in each subagreement Recipient signs with a 
subcontractor or subrecipient:

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this Agreement. The contractor, subrecipient, 
or subcontractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award 
and administration of USDOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor, subrecipient, or 
subcontractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which 
may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as Recipient deems 
appropriate.

6. Recipient and contractors receiving in excess of $100,000 in federal funds, other than Indian 
tribes, must certify to State that they have not and will not use federal funds to pay for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any federal department or 
Agency, a member of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 
obtaining any federal grant, cooperative agreement or any other federal award. If non-federal 
funds have been used to support lobbying activities in connection with the Project, Recipient 
shall complete Standard Form LLL, Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying and submit the form 
to State at the end of each calendar quarter in which there occurs an event that requires 
disclosure. Restrictions on lobbying do not apply to influencing policy decisions. Examples of 
prohibited activities include seeking support for a particular application or bid and seeking 
a congressional earmark.

114



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute ODOT Section 5311 ) 
Grant Agreement Number 35823 )     RESOLUTION NO. 25-24 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) has received 
a grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation (“ODOT”) under Section 5311 of 
the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended, which grant is memorialized in ODOT Grant 
Agreement No. 35823; and 

 
WHEREAS, ODOT allocated funding to the District for operations and preventive 

vehicle maintenance of District rolling stock to support the transportation needs of the 
general public and seniors and individuals with disabilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the effective date of ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35823 is July 1, 

2025 through June 30, 2027, unless otherwise terminated or extended; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35823 in the amount of $669,861 on 
behalf of the District for operations and preventive vehicle maintenance of District rolling 
stock. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
That the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute ODOT 

Grant Agreement No. 35823 in the amount of $669,861 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, for operations and preventive vehicle maintenance of District 
rolling stock from July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2027.  
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

115



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35823

Capital, Operating   5311

 

Page 1 of  23

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION DIVISION
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

 
This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and 
through its Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, hereinafter referred to as 
"State," and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as "Recipient," 
and collectively referred to as the "Parties."
 

 

AGREEMENT
1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2025 or the 

date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. 
Unless otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available 
for Project Costs incurred on or after July 1, 2025 and on or before June 30, 2027 (the 
"Expiration Date"). No Grant Funds are available for any expenditures after the Expiration 
Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this Agreement shall end as provided 
in Section 10 of this Agreement.

2. Agreement Documents.  This Agreement consists of this document and the following 
documents, all of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit A:  Project Description and Budget

Exhibit B:  Financial Information

Exhibit C:  Subagreement Insurance Requirements and Recipient Insurance 
Requirements

Exhibit D: Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by reference 
Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements ("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration 
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), as modified by Court Order in California v. U.S. 
Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 (D.R.I. May 13, 2025), ECF No. 57, enjoining the imposition 
of the condition that: "Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials in the enforcement of 
Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of Homeland 
Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law."  Per the Court's Order, this 
injunction is applicable to the State, including any subdivision or instrumentality 
thereof.

Exhibit E: Information required by 2 CFR 200.332(b), may be accessed at 
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx, Oregon Public Transit 
Information System (OPTIS), as the information becomes available

In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, 
the language in the document with the highest precedence shall control.  The precedence of 
each of the documents comprising this Agreement is as follows, listed from highest precedence 
to lowest precedence:  Exhibit D; Exhibit E; this Agreement without Exhibits; Exhibit A; Exhibit 
B; Exhibit C.

3. Project Cost; Grant Funds; Match.  The total project cost is estimated at $1,069,298.00 
("Project Costs").  In accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, State shall 
provide Recipient an amount not to exceed $669,861.00 (the "Grant Funds") for eligible costs 
described in Section 6.a. hereof.  Recipient shall provide matching funds for all Project Costs 
as described in Exhibit A. Recipient will be responsible for all Project Costs not covered by 
the Grant Funds.  

4. Project.  The Grant Funds shall be used solely for the project described in Exhibit A (the 
"Project") and shall not be used for any other purpose. No Grant Funds will be disbursed for any 
changes to the Project unless such changes are approved by State by amendment pursuant 

116



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 2 of  23

to Section 11.a hereof.
5. Progress Reports.  Recipient shall submit quarterly progress reports to State no later than 

45 days after the close of each quarterly reporting period.  Reporting periods are July through 
September, October through December, January through March, and April through June. 
Reports must be in a format acceptable to State and must be entered into the Oregon Public 
Transit Information System (OPTIS), which may be accessed at https://www.oregon.gov/
odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx.  If Recipient is unable to access OPTIS, reports must be sent 
to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov.  Reports shall include a statement of revenues and 
expenditures for each quarter, including documentation of local match contributions and 
expenditures. State reserves the right to request such additional information as may be 
necessary to comply with federal or state reporting requirements. 

6. Disbursement and Recovery of Grant Funds.
a. Disbursement Generally.  State shall reimburse eligible costs incurred in carrying out 

the Project, up to the Grant Funds amount provided in Section 3. Reimbursements shall 
be made by State within 30 days of State's approval of a request for reimbursement from 
Recipient using a format that is acceptable to State. Requests for reimbursement must 
be entered into OPTIS or sent to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov. Eligible costs 
are the reasonable and necessary costs incurred by Recipient, or under a subagreement 
described in Section 9 of this Agreement, in performance of the Project and that are not 
excluded from reimbursement by State, either by this Agreement or by exclusion as a 
result of financial review or audit.

b. Conditions Precedent to Disbursement. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds 
to Recipient is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 
following conditions precedent:

i. State has received funding (including, without limitation, federal funding from the 
Federal Transit Administration), appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable 
administrative discretion, to make the disbursement.

ii. Recipient is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement including, without 
limitation, Exhibit D and the requirements incorporated by reference in Exhibit D.

iii. Recipient's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 hereof are true 
and correct on the date of disbursement with the same effect as though made on 
the date of disbursement.

iv. Recipient has provided to State a request for reimbursement using a format that is 
acceptable to and approved by State.  Recipient must submit its final request for 
reimbursement following completion of the Project and no later than 60 days after 
the Expiration Date. Failure to submit the final request for reimbursement within 
60 days after the Expiration Date could result in non-payment.

c. Recovery of Grant Funds.
i. Recovery of Misexpended Funds or Unexpended Funds. Any Grant Funds disbursed 

to Recipient under this Agreement that are either (i) disbursed but unexpended 
as of the Expiration Date ("Unexpended Funds") or (ii) expended in violation or 
contravention of one or more of the provisions of  this Agreement ("Misexpended 
Funds") must be returned to State. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds 
to State no later than 15 days after State's written demand. Recipient shall return 
all Unexpended Funds to State within 15 days after the earlier of expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.

ii. Recovery of Funds upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated under either 
Section 10(a)(i) or Section 10(a)(v) below, Recipient shall return to State all funds 
disbursed to Recipient within 15 days after State's written demand for the same.

7. Representations and Warranties of Recipient.  Recipient represents and warrants to State 
as follows:

a. Organization and Authority. Recipient is duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State of Oregon and is eligible to receive the Grant Funds. Recipient has full 
power, authority, and legal right to make this Agreement and to incur and perform its 

117



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 3 of  23

obligations hereunder, and the making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement 
(1) have been duly authorized by all necessary action of Recipient; (2) do not and 
will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any 
court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any provision of 
Recipient's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, if applicable; and, (3) do not and will not 
result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other 
agreement or instrument to which Recipient is a party or by which Recipient or any of 
its properties may be bound or affected. No authorization, consent, license, approval 
of, filing or registration with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or 
supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient 
of this Agreement.

b. Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
Recipient and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Recipient, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms subject to the laws of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

c. No Solicitation.  Recipient's officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or any item of monetary value from contractors, potential 
contractors, or parties to subagreements, except as permitted by applicable law. No 
member or delegate to the Congress of the United States or State of Oregon employee 
shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom.

d. No Debarment.  Neither Recipient nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, or 
voluntarily excluded from this federally-assisted transaction, or proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this Agreement by any 
state or federal agency. Recipient agrees to notify State immediately if it is debarred, 
suspended or otherwise excluded from this federally-assisted transaction for any reason 
or if circumstances change that may affect this status, including without limitation upon 
any relevant indictments or convictions of crimes. 

 

The warranties set in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other warranties 
set forth in this Agreement or implied by law.

8. Records Maintenance and Access; Audit.
a. Records, Access to Records and Facilities. Recipient shall make and retain proper 

and complete books of record and account and maintain all fiscal records related to 
this Agreement and the Project in accordance with all applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles, generally accepted governmental auditing standards and state 
minimum standards for audits of municipal corporations. Recipient shall require that 
each of its subrecipients and subcontractors complies with these requirements. State, 
the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon (Secretary), the United States Department 
of Transportation (USDOT), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and their duly 
authorized representatives shall have access to the books, documents, papers and 
records of Recipient that are directly related to this Agreement, the funds provided 
hereunder, or the Project for the purpose of making audits and examinations. In addition, 
State, the Secretary, USDOT, FTA and their duly authorized representatives may make 
and retain excerpts, copies, and transcriptions of the foregoing books, documents, 
papers, and records. Recipient shall permit authorized representatives of State, the 
Secretary, USDOT and FTA to perform site reviews of the Project, and to inspect all 
vehicles, real property, facilities and equipment purchased by Recipient as part of the 
Project, and any transportation services rendered by Recipient.

b. Retention of Records. Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all books, documents, 
papers, and records that are directly related to this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, records relating to capital assets funded by this Agreement, the Grant Funds 
or the Project for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required 
by other provisions of this Agreement or applicable law, following the Expiration Date. 
If there are unresolved audit questions at the end of the six-year period, Recipient shall 
retain the records until the questions are resolved. 

c. Expenditure Records.  Recipient shall document the expenditure of all Grant Funds 
disbursed by State under this Agreement.  Recipient shall create and maintain all 
expenditure records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in 

118



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 4 of  23

sufficient detail to permit State to verify how the Grant Funds were expended.
d. Audit Requirements.

i. If Recipient expends $1,000,000 or more in federal awards during the Recipient's 
fiscal year, the Recipient must have a single or program-specific audit conducted 
for that year in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F (Audit 
Requirements). Recipient, if subject to this requirement, shall at Recipient's own 
expense submit to State, Public Transportation Division, 355 Capitol St NE, MS43, 
Salem, Oregon, 97301-4179 or to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov, a copy of, 
or electronic link to, its annual audit subject to this requirement covering the funds 
expended under this Agreement and shall submit or cause to be submitted, the 
annual audit of any subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s) of Recipient 
responsible for the financial management of funds received under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall indemnify, save, protect and hold harmless State from the cost of 
any audits or special investigations performed by the Secretary with respect to the 
funds expended under this Agreement. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that 
any audit costs incurred by Recipient as a result of allegations of fraud, waste or 
abuse are ineligible for reimbursement under this or any other agreement between 
Recipient and State.

 This Section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9. Recipient Subagreements; Procurements; conflicts of interest

a. Subagreements.  Recipient may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors 
or subcontractors (collectively, "subagreements") for performance of the Project.

i. All subagreements must be in writing executed by Recipient and must incorporate 
and pass through all of the applicable requirements of this Agreement to the other 
party or parties to the subagreement(s). Use of a subagreement does not relieve 
Recipient of its responsibilities under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall require all of its contractors performing work under this Agreement 
to name State as a third-party beneficiary of Recipient's subagreement with the 
contractor and to name State as an additional or "dual" obligee on contractors' 
payment and performance bonds.

iii. Recipient shall provide State with a copy of any signed subagreement, as well as 
any other purchasing or contracting documentation, upon request by State. This 
paragraph 9.a.iii. shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

iv. Recipient must report to State any material breach of a term or condition of a 
subagreement within ten (10) days of Recipient discovering the breach.

b. Recipient shall review the Best Practices Procurement Manual, a technical assistance 
manual prepared by the FTA, available on the FTA website: https://www.transit.dot.gov/
funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/best-practices-procurement-manual

c. Subagreement indemnity; subrecipient insurance

i. Recipient's subagreement(s) shall require the other party to such 
subagreements(s) that is not a unit of local government as defined in ORS 
190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless State and 
its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, 
actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260, 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of  the other party to Recipient's subagreement 
or any of such party's officers, agents, employees or subcontractors 
("Claims"). It is the specific intention of the Parties that the State shall, 
in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of the State, be indemnified by the other party to 
Recipient's subagreement(s) from and against any and all Claims.

ii. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Recipient's 

119



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 5 of  23

subrecipient(s), contractor(s) nor subcontractor(s) (collectively 
"Subrecipients"), nor any attorney engaged by Recipient's 
Subrecipient(s), shall defend any claim in the name of the State or any 
agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal representative 
of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior written 
consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The State may, at any time at 
its election, assume its own defense and settlement in the event that 
it determines that Recipient's Subrecipient is prohibited from defending 
State or that Recipient's Subrecipient is not adequately defending State's 
interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that 
it is in the best interests of State to do so. State reserves all rights to 
pursue claims it may have against Recipient's Subrecipient if State elects 
to assume its own defense.

iii. Recipient shall require the other party, or parties, to each of its subagreements that 
are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003 to obtain and maintain 
insurance requirements provided in Exhibit C to this Agreement. Recipient may 
specify insurance requirements of its contractor(s) above the minimum insurance 
requirements specified in Exhibit C. Recipient shall verify its contractor(s) meet the 
insurance requirements in Exhibit C.

d. Procurements. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services 
for the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, including 
all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and rules, and in 
conformance to FTA Circular 4220.1F, Third Party Contracting Requirements including:

i. All applicable clauses required by federal statute, executive orders and their 
implementing regulations are included in each competitive procurement;

ii. All procurement transactions are conducted in a manner providing full and open 
competition;

iii. Procurements exclude the use of statutorily or administratively imposed in-state 
or geographic preference in the evaluation of bids or proposals (with exception of 
locally controlled licensing requirements);

iv. Construction, architectural and engineering procurements are based on Brooks Act 
procedures unless the procurement is subject to ORS 279C.100 to 279C.125. 

e. Conflict of Interest. Recipient's public officials shall comply with Oregon's government 
ethics laws, ORS 244.010 et seq., as those laws may be subsequently amended.

10. Termination
a. Termination by State.  State may terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of 

written notice of termination to Recipient, or at such later date as may be established 
by State in such written notice, if:

i. Recipient fails to perform the Project within the time specified herein or any 
extension thereof or commencement, continuation or timely completion of the 
Project by Recipient is, for any reason, rendered improbable, impossible, or illegal; 
or

ii. State fails to receive funding, appropriations, limitations or other expenditure 
authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to continue to make payments for performance of this Agreement; or

iii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement; or

iv. The Project would not produce results commensurate with the further expenditure 
of funds; or

v. Recipient takes any action pertaining to this Agreement without the approval of 
State and which under the provisions of this Agreement would have required the 
approval of State.

b. Termination by Recipient.  Recipient may terminate this Agreement effective upon 

120



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 6 of  23

delivery of written notice of termination to State, or at such later date as may be 
established by Recipient in such written notice, if:

i. The requisite local funding to continue the Project becomes unavailable to 
Recipient; or

ii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement.

c. Termination by Either Party.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon at 
least ten days' notice to the other Party and failure of the other Party to cure within the 
period provided in the notice, if the other Party fails to comply with any of the terms 
of this Agreement.

11. General Provisions
a. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or extended only by a written 

instrument signed by both Parties and approved as required by applicable law.
b. Contribution.

i. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging 
a tort as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against State 
or Recipient with respect to which the other Party may have liability, the notified 
Party must promptly notify the other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and 
deliver to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with 
respect to the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense 
of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own 
choosing. Receipt by a Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and 
meaningful opportunity for the Party to participate in the investigation, defense and 
settlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions 
precedent to that Party's liability with respect to the Third Party Claim.

ii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third Party 
Claim for which State is jointly liable with Recipient (or would be if joined in the 
Third Party Claim ), State shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including 
attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of 
the Recipient on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in 
such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other 
relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of State on the one hand 
and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among 
other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, 
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. State's contribution amount in any 
instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon 
law, including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if State had sole 
liability in the proceeding.

iii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third 
Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with State (or would be if joined 
in the Third Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 
actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by State in such proportion 
as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and 
of State on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such 
expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant 
equitable considerations. The relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of 
State on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, 
the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to 
correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines 
or settlement amounts. Recipient's contribution amount in any instance is capped to 
the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon 
Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability in the proceeding.

121



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 7 of  23

c. Indemnification.
i. Subject to any limitations imposed by State law and the Oregon Constitution, 

Recipient agrees to the following contract-related indemnification for all projects 
authorized under this Agreement:

ii. Where Recipient contracts for services or performs project management for a 
project, Recipient shall accept all responsibility, defend lawsuits, indemnify, and 
hold State harmless, for all contract-related claims and suits. This includes but is 
not limited to all contract claims or suits brought by any contractor, whether arising 
out of the contractor's work, Recipient's supervision of any individual project or 
contract, or Recipient's failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

 
Sections 11.b and 11.c shall survive termination of this Agreement.

d. Insurance. Recipient shall obtain and maintain the insurance requirements provided in 
Exhibit C to this Agreement.

e. Dispute Resolution.  The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly 
selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short 
of litigation.

f. Responsibility for Grant Funds.  Any recipient of Grant Funds, pursuant to this 
Agreement with State, shall assume sole liability for that recipient's breach of the 
conditions of this Agreement, and shall, upon recipient's breach of conditions that 
requires State to return funds to the FTA, hold harmless and indemnify State for an 
amount equal to the funds received under this Agreement; or if legal limitations apply 
to the indemnification ability of the recipient of Grant Funds, the indemnification amount 
shall be the maximum amount of funds available for expenditure, including any available 
contingency funds or other available non-appropriated funds, up to the amount received 
under this Agreement.

g. Duplicate Payment.  Recipient is not entitled to compensation or any other form of 
duplicate, overlapping or multiple payments for the same work performed under this 
Agreement from any agency of the State of Oregon or the United States of America or 
any other party, organization or individual.

h. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  State and Recipient are the only Parties to this 
Agreement and are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit 
or right, whether directly or indirectly, to a third person unless such a third person is 
individually identified by name herein and expressly described as an intended beneficiary 
of the terms of this Agreement.

Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Federal Government, absent express written 
consent by the Federal Government, is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, contractor or any other party 
(whether or not a party to the Agreement) pertaining to any matter resulting from the 
this Agreement.

i. Notices.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any 
communications between the Parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be 
given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, email, or mailing the same, postage 
prepaid, to Recipient Contact or State Contact at the address or number set forth 
on the signature page of this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as 
either Party may hereafter indicate pursuant to this subsection. Any communication 
or notice personally delivered shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. 
Any communication or notice delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when 
receipt of the transmission is generated by the transmitting machine, and to be effective 
against State, such facsimile transmission must be confirmed by telephone notice to 
State Contact. Any communication by email shall be deemed to be given when the 
recipient of the email acknowledges receipt of the email. Any communication or notice 

122



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 

Page 8 of  23

mailed shall be deemed to be given when received.  
j. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law.  Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim") between 
State (or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon) and Recipient that 
arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and 
exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County in the State of Oregon.  In no event 
shall this section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense 
or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on 
the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from 
any Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.  RECIPIENT HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE, AND 
WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

k. Compliance with Law.  Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Agreement or to the 
implementation of the Project, as applicable to Recipient, including without limitation 
as described in Exhibit D.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Recipient 
expressly agrees to comply with (i) Title VI of Civil Rights Act of 1964; (ii) Title V and 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and administrative rules established 
pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other applicable requirements of federal and 
state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations.

l. Independent Contractor.  Recipient shall perform the Project as an independent 
contractor and not as an agent or employee of State.  Recipient has no right or authority 
to incur or create any obligation for or legally bind State in any way.  State cannot and 
will not control the means or manner by which Recipient performs the Project, except 
as specifically set forth in this Agreement.  Recipient is responsible for determining the 
appropriate means and manner of performing the Project.  Recipient acknowledges and 
agrees that Recipient is not an "officer", "employee", or "agent" of State, as those terms 
are used in ORS 30.265, and shall not make representations to third parties to the 
contrary.  

m. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term 
or provision held to be invalid.

n. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (by 
facsimile or otherwise), each of which is an original and all of which together are deemed 
one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories 
to the same counterpart.

o. Integration and Waiver.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  The delay or failure of either Party to enforce any provision of 
this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that Party of that or any other provision.  
Recipient, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges 
that it has read this Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms 
and conditions.

p. Survival. The following provisions survive termination of this Agreement: Sections 6.c., 
8 and 11.

 
 

123



Page 9 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 
The Parties, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that each Party has read this 
Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.
 

The Oregon Transportation Commission on October 20, 2010, approved Delegation Order Number 
OTC-01, which authorizes the Director of the Oregon Department of 
Transportation to administer programs related to public transit.

On March 1, 2012, the Director approved Delegation Order Number DIR-04, which 
delegates the authority to approve this Agreement to the Public Transportation 
Division Administrator.
 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW

124



Page 10 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR 97301
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Suzanne Carlson
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 07/02/2025

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $250,000)

 
By  
Assistant Attorney General
 
Name Nina R. Englander by email
(printed)

 
Date 06/25/2025

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov

125



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 

Page 11 of  23

EXHIBIT A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: 5311 Tillamook County Transportation District 35823
Operations and vehicle preventive maintenance

FTA funding Category B. Project identified not ready to execute. Funds not available until FTA
grant execution and subgrant agreement revision to release funds for reimbursement. 

 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
P-25-3175-03 Item #1: Operating Sliding Scale

$640,401.00 $359,137.00 $281,264.00 Local
P-25-3175-04 Item #1: Preventive Maintenance

$104,306.00 $93,594.00 $10,712.00 Local
Sub Total $744,707.00 $452,731.00 $291,976.00

 

Project Title: 5311 Tillamook County Transportation District 35823
Operations and vehicle preventive maintenance

FTA funding Category B. Project identified not ready to execute. Funds not available until
FTA grant execution and subgrant agreement amendment execution to release funds for
reimbursement. 

 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
P-25-6227-01 Item #1: Operating Sliding Scale

$220,285.00 $123,536.00 $96,749.00 Local
P-25-6227-02 Item #1: Preventive Maintenance

$104,306.00 $93,594.00 $10,712.00 Local
Sub Total $324,591.00 $217,130.00 $107,461.00

 

Grand Total $1,069,298.00 $669,861.00 $399,437.00
 

 

The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and all other
applicable federal environmental laws (e.g., the Endangered Species Act, the Clean
Water Act, the National Historic Preservation Act) apply to all projects that receive FTA
funds (directly or through the State). The process of addressing compliance with NEPA
and all other applicable federal environmental laws is referred to as the environmental
review process. For any project receiving FTA funds, subrecipients are responsible for
coordinating with ODOT prior to incurring any costs or conducting any project-related
activities to confirm requirements for complying with the environmental review
process. The subrecipient is responsible for submitting all documentation required to
comply with the environmental review process to ODOT for approval by the FTA.

The following activities cannot proceed until the FTA concurs in writing that the
environmental review process is complete per 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1): 
- final design activities (design beyond 30%).
- property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property owners that imply
or are explicitly binding).
- purchase of construction materials (including EV chargers and bus shelters) or
rolling stock, 
- project construction activities (including construction, alteration, or repair [including
dredging, excavating, and painting] of buildings, structures, or other real property). 

Proceeding with any of these activities prior to FTA concurrence that the
environmental review process is complete may deem the entire project ineligible to
receive federal funding.

126



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 

Page 12 of  23

1. BACKGROUND

A. Operations

Operations provides funding for transportation services in Tillamook County.  Service goal is to
enhance regional transportation and avoid duplication of services.

B. Vehicle Preventive Maintenance

Preventive maintenance provides funding to ensure that fleet vehicles are maintained in a state
of good repair through their useful life.

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

A. Operations

This Agreement provides funding for the following activities (collectively, the "Project"):

Recipient to provide general public transportation, deviated fixed route, demand response
services in and around, Tillamook County with connections to Clatsop County 

Deviated fixed route, demand response services are provided Days and hours of operation vary
by service.

Service is provided by in-house with staff and buses located at 3600 Third Street, Tillamook,
Oregon

B. Vehicle Preventive Maintenance

This project will conduct Vehicle preventive maintenance activities on the Tillamook County
Transportation District's demand response and deviated fixed-route vehicles serving seniors and
individuals with disabilities, as well as the general public.

This Agreement provides funding for preventive maintenance on vehicles but should not be
used for facility maintenance in the provision of public transportation. Proper maintenance
ensures assets are kept in good condition per manufacturer's recommendations and that safety
standards are met. 

Preventive maintenance reimbursed in this Agreement is for assets, such as vehicles and other
vehicle related equipment used in the provision of public transportation services for the general
public, seniors, or individuals with disabilities. This Agreement does not provide for maintenance
on staff vehicles, vehicles used for business of Recipient, or maintenance vehicles.

For some activities, FTA completes the NEPA process during grant review, using the information
in the grant application. Written NEPA concurrence from FTA is not required for these activities,
which include but are not limited to:
- Preventative maintenance that involves NO physical changes and/or alterations
- Purchase of equipment that is not part of a larger project and can be accommodated in existing
building(s) or facility(-ies) with NO physical changes, alterations, or installation required

Recipients should coordinate with the State prior to incurring any costs or conducting any
project-related activities to confirm NEPA requirements.

This agreement includes only items as related to vehicles and does not include facility
maintenance. 

3. PROJECT DELIVERABLES, TASKS and SCHEDULE

A. Operations

127



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 

Page 13 of  23

The service, schedule, days, hours, and service type will be designed to meet the needs of
the target population as determined by Recipient and program type, in consultation with the
operator of service, the affected community members, and stakeholders identified by Recipient. 

All services provided must be open to the general public and marketed as general public service.

To the extent possible, Recipient will coordinate the delivery of transportation services with other
public and private transportation providers to enhance regional services and to avoid duplication
of services. Coordinated service may be made available to a variety of potential users. 

Recipient may amend the service design at any time in accordance with local demand, funding
issues, or other situations that require service to be changed. Recipient will inform State if there
is a change in the service funded by this Agreement. 

Recipient will market the services in culturally appropriate ways. Marketing and promotional
activities should be focused on incentivizing ridership through inclusive customer engagement
techniques. Activities may include marketing strategies, marketing campaigns, and creating
marketing materials. Recipient may use key performance indicators in marketing the service.

Recipient is encouraged to set realistic goals and establish measurable outcomes for this project.
Goals and outcomes can be related to rides provided to seniors and persons with disabilities,
number of rides transitioned from demand responsive to fixed route transit through mobility
management efforts, hours of public transportation services to low-income households at the
200 percent poverty threshold, and overall ridership. They can also be related to Environmental
Justice goals. Progress meeting established goals and outcomes should be shared in Recipient's
agency periodic report.  

Recipient shall engage in a good faith effort to generate program income to help defray program
costs. If program income is generated from federally funded projects, that income must be
reported on the agency periodic report.

Milestones/Goals of Project Increase rides

Projected ridership goals established for this project:   Rides average 29,582 per quarter
For 2025-2026: 29,600
For 2026-2027: 29,800

Ridership is the actual or estimated one-way passenger trips provided to the target population.
A passenger trip is a unit of service counted each time a passenger enters the vehicle, is
transported and then exits the vehicle. Each different destination constitutes a passenger trip. 

B. Vehicle Preventive Maintenance

Recipient will complete all vehicle preventive maintenance tasks prior to the expiration date of
this Agreement. 

Vehicle preventive maintenance expenses include activities, supplies, materials, labor, services,
and associated costs required to preserve or extend the functionality and serviceability of the
asset in a cost-effective manner. Vehicle preventive maintenance includes but is not limited to
the following: oil changes; engine tune-ups; tire purchases; tire maintenance; annual vehicle
inspections; scheduled or routine maintenance; and associated parts, supplies, and labor.
Vehicle preventative maintenance expenses should not include equipment that is part of a larger
project and does not change or alter existing buildings or facilities or requires installation. 

Vehicle preventive maintenance under this Agreement does not include repairs resulting
from motor vehicle accidents covered by insurance, repairs on vehicles or components under
warranty, or repairs which are paid for in other agreements or contracts.

Recipient must provide to State, a plan for scheduled preventive maintenance. Reimbursement
requests must match the activities or purchases described in Recipient's plan. 

128



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 

Page 14 of  23

A major component replacement (such as an engine or transmission), that keeps an asset within
useful life (overhaul) or extends the useful life (rebuild) may be eligible for reimbursement
under this Agreement, pending verification of conformance to Recipient's adopted maintenance
plan and requirements detailed in Federal Transit Administration Circular 5010.1E (Award
Management Requirements), Chapter IV. 

Overhaul is performed as a planned or concentrated preventive maintenance activity and is
intended to enable the vehicle to perform to the end of the original useful life. A vehicle must
meet at least 40 percent of its useful life to be considered for an overhaul. 

Recipient must obtain pre-approval from State prior to any vehicle overhaul. Vehicle rebuilds
must extend the useful life of the vehicle by at least four years. 

If local circumstances change, for example, vehicle type or asset disposition, Recipient's
maintenance plan must be updated to reflect that change.

4. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

A. Operations
Generally accepted accounting principles and Recipient's own accounting system determine
those costs that are to be accounted for as gross operating expenses. The contractor may
use capital equipment funded from USDOT- or State-source grants when performing services
rendered through a contract funded by this Agreement. Depreciation of capital equipment funded
from USDOT- or State-source grants is not an eligible expense. 

Program income that may be used as Recipient's matching funds for this Agreement includes
service contract revenue, advertisement and other earned income, other local funds, cash
donations, and other verifiable in-kind contributions integral to the project budget. In-kind
contributions claimed as matching funds must be properly documented and reported to State.
Recipient may not use passenger fares as matching funds. 

Recipient will subtract revenue from fares, tickets and passes, either pre-paid or post-paid,
from the gross operating expense of the service. Administrative expenses are reimbursable as
operating expenses. 

B. Vehicle Preventive Maintenance

Sources that may be used as Recipient's matching funds for this Agreement include Statewide
Transportation Improvement Formula Fund, local funds, service contract revenue, advertisement
income, other earned income, cash donations, and other verifiable in-kind contributions that are
integral to the project budget. Recipient may not use passenger fares as matching funds. State's
obligation to reimburse Project costs is contingent upon Recipient first paying or otherwise
contributing its minimum match amount set forth in this Exhibit A. 

5. REPORTING and INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

A. Operations

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred during each period as
prescribed by State. Copies of invoices must be submitted for all vendor charges. In-house
charges must be documented showing time specifically associated with the project. In addition,
Recipient must regularly provide a summary of the work performed pursuant to this Agreement
in its agency periodic report. Photographs of public transportation activities, and related
operations, are encouraged to memorialize the achievement of project deliverables.
Purchased or contracted service reimbursement requests must include a breakdown of expenses.
Agencies are required to submit invoices or comparable documentation when requesting
payment for services purchased from a third party. 
Invoices must:
- Be legible
- Match the amount requested for reimbursement

129



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 

Page 15 of  23

- Include a description of the service (hours, rate, quantity of service)
- Include the date(s) of the service
- Include the agency providing the service
- Subrecipients should not attach invoices that are not directly related to the expenses that are
requested on the reimbursement request document.

If the subrecipients of the service also provide preventive maintenance, dispatching, and/or
other service, these costs should be itemized separately on the same invoice unless these
activities are included in the same hourly or other rate established by the contract between the
subrecipient and vendor.

Subrecipients should use a worksheet (budget detail worksheet or equivalent) to clearly list
the expenses claimed in OPTIS. This aids the state in determination of eligible expenses if the
agency has more than one agreement from which to claim expenses and ensures all expenses
are accounted for and are not duplicated.

B. Vehicle Preventive Maintenance

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred during each period
as prescribed by State and described in Recipient's preventive maintenance plan for this
Agreement. Recipient must maintain and provide supporting documents detailing the total
expenses for allowable maintenance activities incurred during the period. Recipient may list costs
on a form provided by State or provide vendor invoices. 

Vendor invoices must be attached and include the follow:
- Be legible
- Match the amount requested for reimbursement
- Include a description of the service (hours, rate, quantity of service)
- Include the date(s) of the service
- Include the agency providing the service
- Subrecipients should not attach invoices that are not directly related to the expenses that are
requested on the reimbursement request document.
- If multiple grants are used for the preventive maintenance spreadsheets or similar documents,
it must clearly show how these funds are associated with the costs requested in each
reimbursement request

First year maximum disbursement: no more than 50 percent of the total fund amount of any
single activity line item will be disbursed, regardless of the amount of any reimbursement
request.

Second year maximum disbursement: no more than 50 percent of the total fund amount of any
single activity line item, plus any remaining portion from the first fiscal year period.

 
 
 

130



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

Page 16 of  23

EXHIBIT B

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

The information below will assist auditors to prepare a report in compliance with the requirements
of 2 CFR part 200, subpart F.
 

This Agreement is financed by the funding source indicated below:
 

Federal Program Federal Funding Agency CFDA Number Total Federal Funding
49 U.S.C. 5311 U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Transit Administration
915 Second Avenue, Suite 3142
Seattle, WA  98174

20.509 (5311) $669,861.00

 
Administered By  
Public Transportation Division
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR  97301

 

131



Page 17 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 
EXHIBIT C

 

Subagreement Insurance Requirements
 

1.GENERAL.
1. a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall require in its first tier subagreements with entities that are not units of 
local government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: i) obtain insurance specified under 
TYPES AND AMOUNTS and meeting the requirements under ADDITIONAL INSURED, "TAIL" 
COVERAGE, NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 
before performance under the subagreement commences, and ii) maintain the insurance in 
full force throughout the duration of the subagreement.  The insurance must be provided 
by insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance 
and issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable to State.  Recipient 
shall not authorize work to begin under subagreements until the insurance is in full force. 
Thereafter, Recipient shall monitor continued compliance with the insurance requirements on 
an annual or more frequent basis. Recipient shall incorporate appropriate provisions in the 
subagreement permitting it to enforce compliance with the insurance requirements and shall 
take all reasonable steps to enforce such compliance.  In no event shall Recipient permit 
work under a subagreement when Recipient is aware that the contractor is not in compliance 
with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, "first tier" means a subagreement 
in which the Recipient is a Party.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION.

All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance 
coverage for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under 
ORS 656.126(2).  The coverage shall include Employer's Liability Insurance with limits not 
less than $500,000 each accident. Contractor shall require compliance with these 
requirements in each of its subcontractor contracts.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, 
products and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage. When work to be 
performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, 
trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the 
Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy.
Amounts below are a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.

Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor's business-related automobile use 
covering all owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Amount 
below is a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

132



Page 18 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 
This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.  
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees" as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the contractor's activities to be performed under the 
Subagreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance 
and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. "TAIL" COVERAGE.
If any of the required insurance policies is on a "claims made" basis, such as professional 
liability insurance or pollution liability insurance,  the contractor shall maintain either "tail" 
coverage or continuous "claims made" liability coverage, provided the effective date of the 
continuous "claims made" coverage is on or before the effective date of the Subagreement, 
for a minimum of twenty-four (24) months following the later of : (i) the contractor's 
completion and Recipient's acceptance of all Services required under the Subagreement or, 
(ii) the expiration of all warranty periods provided under the Subagreement. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing twenty-four (24) month requirement, if the contractor elects to maintain 
"tail" coverage and if the maximum time period "tail" coverage reasonably available in 
the marketplace is less than the twenty-four (24) month period described above, then the 
contractor may request and State may grant approval of  the maximum "tail " coverage 
period reasonably available in the marketplace.  If State approval is granted, the contractor 
shall maintain "tail" coverage for the maximum time period that "tail" coverage is reasonably 
available in the marketplace. 

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 The contractor or its insurer must provide thirty (30) days' written notice to Recipient before 

cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal 
of the required insurance coverage(s). The Recipient shall immediately notify State of 
any change in insurance coverage.

4. CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall obtain from the contractor a certificate(s) of insurance for all required 

insurance before the contractor performs under the Subcontract. The certificate(s) or an 
attached endorsement must specify: i) all entities and individuals who are endorsed on the 
policy as Additional Insured and ii) for insurance on a "claims made" basis, the extended 
reporting period applicable to "tail" or continuous "claims made" coverage.

Recipient Insurance Requirements

133



Page 19 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 

1. GENERAL.
 a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall obtain at Recipient's expense the insurance specified in this exhibit prior to 
performing under this Agreement and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense 
throughout the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period 
or continuous claims made coverage requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. 
Recipient shall obtain the following insurance from insurance companies or entities that 
are authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State of 
Oregon and that are acceptable to Agency. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory 
with any other insurance and self-insurance, with the exception of Professional Liability and 
Workers' Compensation. Recipient shall pay for all deductibles, self-insured retention and 
self-insurance, if any.

 
b. INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW.
Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by State under this Agreement 
and to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and State.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION. 

All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for 
those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). 
Recipient shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these 
requirements. If Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall 
also obtain employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each 
accident. If Recipient is an employer subject to any other state's workers' compensation 
law, Contactor shall provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for its employees as 
required by applicable workers' compensation laws including employers' liability insurance 
coverage with limits not less than $500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-
of-state subcontractors complies with these requirements.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury, death, and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury 
liability, products and completed operations and contractual liability coverage.  When work 
to be performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, 
bridge, trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide 
the Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy. Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be less than the 
following amounts as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.
Automobile Liability Insurance covering business-related automobile use on all owned, non-
owned or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Automobile Liability Insurance shall 
not be less than the following amount as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.

134



Page 20 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees"  as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the Recipient's activities to be performed under this 
Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and 
self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.
Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient 
may acquire against the department or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any 
loss. Recipient will obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of 
subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the State has received a 
waiver of subrogation endorsement from the Recipient or the Recipient's insurer(s).

 
g. CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE: 
If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an 
extended reporting period of at least 24 months, then Recipient shall maintain continuous 
claims made liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made 
coverage is on or before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months 
following the later of:

 i. Recipient's completion and State's acceptance of all project work required under the 
Agreement, or 

 ii. State or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or

 iii. The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement.

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 Recipient or its insurer must provide 30 days' written notice to State before cancellation 

of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the 
required insurance coverage(s).

4. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall provide to State Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 

delivering any Goods and performing any Services required under this Agreement. The 
Certificate(s) shall list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate 
holder and as an endorsed Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by 
this Agreement. If excess/umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance 
requirement, the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that fall under 
the excess/umbrella insurance. As proof of insurance State has the right to request copies 
of insurance policies and endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this 
Agreement.

5. STATE ACCEPTANCE.

135



Page 21 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 
 All insurance providers are subject to State acceptance.  If requested by State, Recipient 

shall provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents 
and related insurance documents to State's representatives responsible for verification of the 
insurance coverages required under this Exhibit C. 

136



Page 22 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 
EXHIBIT D

 

Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by Reference Annual List
of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative Agreements

("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), Except as Modified Herein

 

Recipient and Recipient's subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s), at any tier, if any, 
must comply with: (1) all applicable federal requirements contained in the Certifications and 
Assurances including as they may be changed during the term of this Agreement, except as 
otherwise stated herein; and (2) all applicable requirements included in the Federal Transit 
Administration Master Agreement ("Master Agreement") including as they may be changed 
during the term of this Agreement, except as otherwise stated herein. The Certifications and 
Assurances and the Master Agreement are incorporated by reference herein and are available at 
www.transit.dot.gov.

The Certifications and Assurances for Fiscal Year 2025, Standard Assurances, Section 1.1(r), 
requires a grant applicant to certify that it "[w]ill comply with all applicable requirements of all other 
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies governing the program under which it is 
applying for assistance."  In addition, the Master Agreement #33, Generally Applicable Provisions, 
Section 12(m) contains the following language: "the Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials 
in the enforcement of Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of 
Homeland Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law." ("Immigration Condition").

The State of Oregon is a plaintiff in a lawsuit challenging U.S. DOT's imposition of the Immigration 
Condition on federal funding as unlawful."  See California v. U.S. Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 
(D.R.I. filed May 13, 2025).  On June 19, 2025, the court presiding over that action issued an order 
enjoining the imposition of the Immigration Condition on federal funding as to any Plaintiff State, 
including any subdivision or instrumentality thereof.  The Oregon Department of Transportation, as 
an agency of the State of Oregon, is subject to that court order. To the extent the Certification and 
Assurances purports to require an agency or person on behalf of the State of Oregon to agree to the 
Immigration Condition, the State of Oregon does not certify or assure that it will so comply or be 
bound. The State of Oregon's execution of the Master Agreement or this Agreement should not be 
construed as a certification or agreement to comply with the Immigration Condition. For purposes 
of this Agreement, the Certification and Assurances and the Master Agreement are modified to 
remove the Immigration Condition. 

Without limiting or modifying the foregoing, the following is a summary of some requirements 
applicable to transactions covered by this Agreement and the funds described in Exhibit A:
1. Recipient shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 State 252, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000d) and the regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (49 CFR 21, 
Subtitle A). Recipient shall exclude no person on the grounds of race, religion, color, sex, 
age, national origin, or disability from the benefits of aid received under this Agreement. 
Recipient will report to State on at least an annual basis the following information: any active 
lawsuits or complaints, including dates, summary of allegation, status of lawsuit or complaint 
including whether the Parties entered into a consent decree.

2. Recipient shall comply with FTA regulations in Title 49 CFR 27 Nondiscrimination on the Basis 
of Disability in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance which implements 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 49 
CFR 37, and 49 CFR 38.

3. Recipient shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the award 
and performance of any USDOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE program 
or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Recipient shall take all necessary and reasonable steps 
under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of USDOT-
assisted contracts. Recipient's DBE program, if applicable, as required by 49 CFR part 26 
and as approved by USDOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation 
of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a 

137



Page 23 of  23

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35823

 
violation of this agreement. Upon notification to State of its failure to carry out its approved 
program, the Department may impose sanctions as provided for under part 26 and may, 
in appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the 
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).

4. The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), including 23 CFR Part 771, 
apply to all projects that receive federal funds (whether directly or through the State) or that 
need a federal approval or permit. The process of addressing compliance with NEPA and all 
other applicable federal laws relating to the environment, parks, or historic resources (e.g., 
the Endangered Species Act, the Clean Water Act, the National Historic Preservation Act, 
Section 4(f) of the U.S. Department of Transportation Act) is referred to as the environmental 
review process. Recipient shall coordinate with the State and FTA prior to incurring any 
costs, making any expenditures, or conducting any project-related activities to confirm 
requirements for complying with the environmental review process. Recipient is responsible 
for submitting all documentation required to comply with the environmental review process 
to the State for approval by the FTA.

Until the FTA concurs that the environmental review process is complete and in compliance 
with 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1), the following activities cannot proceed: final design activities 
(design beyond 30%), property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property 
owners that imply or are explicitly binding), purchase of construction materials or rolling 
stock, or project construction activities (including, but is not limited to, any ground 
disturbance or facility modification). This award is contingent on the FTA's concurrence that 
the environmental review process is complete, and the project has complied with NEPA and 
related federal laws. Any project expenses incurred prior to completion of the environmental 
review process will not be eligible for reimbursement and may cause the entire project to be 
ineligible to receive federal funding.

5. Recipient must include the following language in each subagreement Recipient signs with a 
subcontractor or subrecipient:

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this Agreement. The contractor, subrecipient, 
or subcontractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award 
and administration of USDOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor, subrecipient, or 
subcontractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which 
may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as Recipient deems 
appropriate.

6. Recipient and contractors receiving in excess of $100,000 in federal funds, other than Indian 
tribes, must certify to State that they have not and will not use federal funds to pay for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any federal department or 
Agency, a member of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 
obtaining any federal grant, cooperative agreement or any other federal award. If non-federal 
funds have been used to support lobbying activities in connection with the Project, Recipient 
shall complete Standard Form LLL, Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying and submit the form 
to State at the end of each calendar quarter in which there occurs an event that requires 
disclosure. Restrictions on lobbying do not apply to influencing policy decisions. Examples of 
prohibited activities include seeking support for a particular application or bid and seeking 
a congressional earmark.

138



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute ODOT Section 5311 ) 
Grant Agreement Number 35884 )     RESOLUTION NO. 25-25 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) has received 
a grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation (“ODOT”) under Section 5311 of 
the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended, which grant is memorialized in ODOT Grant 
Agreement No. 35884; and 

 
WHEREAS, ODOT allocated funding to the District for operations to support the 

transportation needs of the general public and seniors and individuals with disabilities; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the effective date of ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35823 is July 1, 

2025 through June 30, 2026, unless otherwise terminated or extended; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35884 in the amount of $328,474 on 
behalf of the District for operations. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
That the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute ODOT 

Grant Agreement No. 35884 in the amount of $328,474 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, for operations from July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026.  
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

139



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35884

Operating   5311

 

Page 1 of  21

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION DIVISION
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

 
This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and 
through its Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, hereinafter referred to as 
"State," and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as "Recipient," 
and collectively referred to as the "Parties."
 

 

AGREEMENT
1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2025 or the 

date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. 
Unless otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available 
for Project Costs incurred on or after July 1, 2025 and on or before June 30, 2026 (the 
"Expiration Date"). No Grant Funds are available for any expenditures after the Expiration 
Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this Agreement shall end as provided 
in Section 10 of this Agreement.

2. Agreement Documents.  This Agreement consists of this document and the following 
documents, all of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit A:  Project Description and Budget

Exhibit B:  Financial Information

Exhibit C:  Subagreement Insurance Requirements and Recipient Insurance 
Requirements

Exhibit D: Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by reference 
Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements ("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration 
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), as modified by Court Order in California v. U.S. 
Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 (D.R.I. May 13, 2025), ECF No. 57, enjoining the imposition 
of the condition that: "Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials in the enforcement of 
Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of Homeland 
Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law."  Per the Court's Order, this 
injunction is applicable to the State, including any subdivision or instrumentality 
thereof.

Exhibit E: Information required by 2 CFR 200.332(b), may be accessed at 
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx, Oregon Public Transit 
Information System (OPTIS), as the information becomes available

In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, 
the language in the document with the highest precedence shall control.  The precedence of 
each of the documents comprising this Agreement is as follows, listed from highest precedence 
to lowest precedence:  Exhibit D; Exhibit E; this Agreement without Exhibits; Exhibit A; Exhibit 
B; Exhibit C.

3. Project Cost; Grant Funds; Match.  The total project cost is estimated at $585,724.00 
("Project Costs").  In accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, State shall 
provide Recipient an amount not to exceed $328,474.00 (the "Grant Funds") for eligible costs 
described in Section 6.a. hereof.  Recipient shall provide matching funds for all Project Costs 
as described in Exhibit A. Recipient will be responsible for all Project Costs not covered by 
the Grant Funds.  

4. Project.  The Grant Funds shall be used solely for the project described in Exhibit A (the 
"Project") and shall not be used for any other purpose. No Grant Funds will be disbursed for any 
changes to the Project unless such changes are approved by State by amendment pursuant 

140



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 2 of  21

to Section 11.a hereof.
5. Progress Reports.  Recipient shall submit quarterly progress reports to State no later than 

45 days after the close of each quarterly reporting period.  Reporting periods are July through 
September, October through December, January through March, and April through June. 
Reports must be in a format acceptable to State and must be entered into the Oregon Public 
Transit Information System (OPTIS), which may be accessed at https://www.oregon.gov/
odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx.  If Recipient is unable to access OPTIS, reports must be sent 
to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov.  Reports shall include a statement of revenues and 
expenditures for each quarter, including documentation of local match contributions and 
expenditures. State reserves the right to request such additional information as may be 
necessary to comply with federal or state reporting requirements. 

6. Disbursement and Recovery of Grant Funds.
a. Disbursement Generally.  State shall reimburse eligible costs incurred in carrying out 

the Project, up to the Grant Funds amount provided in Section 3. Reimbursements shall 
be made by State within 30 days of State's approval of a request for reimbursement from 
Recipient using a format that is acceptable to State. Requests for reimbursement must 
be entered into OPTIS or sent to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov. Eligible costs 
are the reasonable and necessary costs incurred by Recipient, or under a subagreement 
described in Section 9 of this Agreement, in performance of the Project and that are not 
excluded from reimbursement by State, either by this Agreement or by exclusion as a 
result of financial review or audit.

b. Conditions Precedent to Disbursement. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds 
to Recipient is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 
following conditions precedent:

i. State has received funding (including, without limitation, federal funding from the 
Federal Transit Administration), appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable 
administrative discretion, to make the disbursement.

ii. Recipient is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement including, without 
limitation, Exhibit D and the requirements incorporated by reference in Exhibit D.

iii. Recipient's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 hereof are true 
and correct on the date of disbursement with the same effect as though made on 
the date of disbursement.

iv. Recipient has provided to State a request for reimbursement using a format that is 
acceptable to and approved by State.  Recipient must submit its final request for 
reimbursement following completion of the Project and no later than 60 days after 
the Expiration Date. Failure to submit the final request for reimbursement within 
60 days after the Expiration Date could result in non-payment.

c. Recovery of Grant Funds.
i. Recovery of Misexpended Funds or Unexpended Funds. Any Grant Funds disbursed 

to Recipient under this Agreement that are either (i) disbursed but unexpended 
as of the Expiration Date ("Unexpended Funds") or (ii) expended in violation or 
contravention of one or more of the provisions of  this Agreement ("Misexpended 
Funds") must be returned to State. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds 
to State no later than 15 days after State's written demand. Recipient shall return 
all Unexpended Funds to State within 15 days after the earlier of expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.

ii. Recovery of Funds upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated under either 
Section 10(a)(i) or Section 10(a)(v) below, Recipient shall return to State all funds 
disbursed to Recipient within 15 days after State's written demand for the same.

7. Representations and Warranties of Recipient.  Recipient represents and warrants to State 
as follows:

a. Organization and Authority. Recipient is duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State of Oregon and is eligible to receive the Grant Funds. Recipient has full 
power, authority, and legal right to make this Agreement and to incur and perform its 

141



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 3 of  21

obligations hereunder, and the making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement 
(1) have been duly authorized by all necessary action of Recipient; (2) do not and 
will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any 
court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any provision of 
Recipient's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, if applicable; and, (3) do not and will not 
result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other 
agreement or instrument to which Recipient is a party or by which Recipient or any of 
its properties may be bound or affected. No authorization, consent, license, approval 
of, filing or registration with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or 
supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient 
of this Agreement.

b. Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
Recipient and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Recipient, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms subject to the laws of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

c. No Solicitation.  Recipient's officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or any item of monetary value from contractors, potential 
contractors, or parties to subagreements, except as permitted by applicable law. No 
member or delegate to the Congress of the United States or State of Oregon employee 
shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom.

d. No Debarment.  Neither Recipient nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, or 
voluntarily excluded from this federally-assisted transaction, or proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this Agreement by any 
state or federal agency. Recipient agrees to notify State immediately if it is debarred, 
suspended or otherwise excluded from this federally-assisted transaction for any reason 
or if circumstances change that may affect this status, including without limitation upon 
any relevant indictments or convictions of crimes. 

 

The warranties set in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other warranties 
set forth in this Agreement or implied by law.

8. Records Maintenance and Access; Audit.
a. Records, Access to Records and Facilities. Recipient shall make and retain proper 

and complete books of record and account and maintain all fiscal records related to 
this Agreement and the Project in accordance with all applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles, generally accepted governmental auditing standards and state 
minimum standards for audits of municipal corporations. Recipient shall require that 
each of its subrecipients and subcontractors complies with these requirements. State, 
the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon (Secretary), the United States Department 
of Transportation (USDOT), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and their duly 
authorized representatives shall have access to the books, documents, papers and 
records of Recipient that are directly related to this Agreement, the funds provided 
hereunder, or the Project for the purpose of making audits and examinations. In addition, 
State, the Secretary, USDOT, FTA and their duly authorized representatives may make 
and retain excerpts, copies, and transcriptions of the foregoing books, documents, 
papers, and records. Recipient shall permit authorized representatives of State, the 
Secretary, USDOT and FTA to perform site reviews of the Project, and to inspect all 
vehicles, real property, facilities and equipment purchased by Recipient as part of the 
Project, and any transportation services rendered by Recipient.

b. Retention of Records. Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all books, documents, 
papers, and records that are directly related to this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, records relating to capital assets funded by this Agreement, the Grant Funds 
or the Project for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required 
by other provisions of this Agreement or applicable law, following the Expiration Date. 
If there are unresolved audit questions at the end of the six-year period, Recipient shall 
retain the records until the questions are resolved. 

c. Expenditure Records.  Recipient shall document the expenditure of all Grant Funds 
disbursed by State under this Agreement.  Recipient shall create and maintain all 
expenditure records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in 

142



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 4 of  21

sufficient detail to permit State to verify how the Grant Funds were expended.
d. Audit Requirements.

i. If Recipient expends $1,000,000 or more in federal awards during the Recipient's 
fiscal year, the Recipient must have a single or program-specific audit conducted 
for that year in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F (Audit 
Requirements). Recipient, if subject to this requirement, shall at Recipient's own 
expense submit to State, Public Transportation Division, 355 Capitol St NE, MS43, 
Salem, Oregon, 97301-4179 or to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov, a copy of, 
or electronic link to, its annual audit subject to this requirement covering the funds 
expended under this Agreement and shall submit or cause to be submitted, the 
annual audit of any subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s) of Recipient 
responsible for the financial management of funds received under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall indemnify, save, protect and hold harmless State from the cost of 
any audits or special investigations performed by the Secretary with respect to the 
funds expended under this Agreement. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that 
any audit costs incurred by Recipient as a result of allegations of fraud, waste or 
abuse are ineligible for reimbursement under this or any other agreement between 
Recipient and State.

 This Section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9. Recipient Subagreements; Procurements; conflicts of interest

a. Subagreements.  Recipient may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors 
or subcontractors (collectively, "subagreements") for performance of the Project.

i. All subagreements must be in writing executed by Recipient and must incorporate 
and pass through all of the applicable requirements of this Agreement to the other 
party or parties to the subagreement(s). Use of a subagreement does not relieve 
Recipient of its responsibilities under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall require all of its contractors performing work under this Agreement 
to name State as a third-party beneficiary of Recipient's subagreement with the 
contractor and to name State as an additional or "dual" obligee on contractors' 
payment and performance bonds.

iii. Recipient shall provide State with a copy of any signed subagreement, as well as 
any other purchasing or contracting documentation, upon request by State. This 
paragraph 9.a.iii. shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

iv. Recipient must report to State any material breach of a term or condition of a 
subagreement within ten (10) days of Recipient discovering the breach.

b. Recipient shall review the Best Practices Procurement Manual, a technical assistance 
manual prepared by the FTA, available on the FTA website: https://www.transit.dot.gov/
funding/procurement/third-party-procurement/best-practices-procurement-manual

c. Subagreement indemnity; subrecipient insurance

i. Recipient's subagreement(s) shall require the other party to such 
subagreements(s) that is not a unit of local government as defined in ORS 
190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless State and 
its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, 
actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260, 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of  the other party to Recipient's subagreement 
or any of such party's officers, agents, employees or subcontractors 
("Claims"). It is the specific intention of the Parties that the State shall, 
in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of the State, be indemnified by the other party to 
Recipient's subagreement(s) from and against any and all Claims.

ii. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Recipient's 

143



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 5 of  21

subrecipient(s), contractor(s) nor subcontractor(s) (collectively 
"Subrecipients"), nor any attorney engaged by Recipient's 
Subrecipient(s), shall defend any claim in the name of the State or any 
agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal representative 
of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior written 
consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The State may, at any time at 
its election, assume its own defense and settlement in the event that 
it determines that Recipient's Subrecipient is prohibited from defending 
State or that Recipient's Subrecipient is not adequately defending State's 
interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that 
it is in the best interests of State to do so. State reserves all rights to 
pursue claims it may have against Recipient's Subrecipient if State elects 
to assume its own defense.

iii. Recipient shall require the other party, or parties, to each of its subagreements that 
are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003 to obtain and maintain 
insurance requirements provided in Exhibit C to this Agreement. Recipient may 
specify insurance requirements of its contractor(s) above the minimum insurance 
requirements specified in Exhibit C. Recipient shall verify its contractor(s) meet the 
insurance requirements in Exhibit C.

d. Procurements. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services 
for the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, including 
all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and rules, and in 
conformance to FTA Circular 4220.1F, Third Party Contracting Requirements including:

i. All applicable clauses required by federal statute, executive orders and their 
implementing regulations are included in each competitive procurement;

ii. All procurement transactions are conducted in a manner providing full and open 
competition;

iii. Procurements exclude the use of statutorily or administratively imposed in-state 
or geographic preference in the evaluation of bids or proposals (with exception of 
locally controlled licensing requirements);

iv. Construction, architectural and engineering procurements are based on Brooks Act 
procedures unless the procurement is subject to ORS 279C.100 to 279C.125. 

e. Conflict of Interest. Recipient's public officials shall comply with Oregon's government 
ethics laws, ORS 244.010 et seq., as those laws may be subsequently amended.

10. Termination
a. Termination by State.  State may terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of 

written notice of termination to Recipient, or at such later date as may be established 
by State in such written notice, if:

i. Recipient fails to perform the Project within the time specified herein or any 
extension thereof or commencement, continuation or timely completion of the 
Project by Recipient is, for any reason, rendered improbable, impossible, or illegal; 
or

ii. State fails to receive funding, appropriations, limitations or other expenditure 
authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to continue to make payments for performance of this Agreement; or

iii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement; or

iv. The Project would not produce results commensurate with the further expenditure 
of funds; or

v. Recipient takes any action pertaining to this Agreement without the approval of 
State and which under the provisions of this Agreement would have required the 
approval of State.

b. Termination by Recipient.  Recipient may terminate this Agreement effective upon 

144



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 6 of  21

delivery of written notice of termination to State, or at such later date as may be 
established by Recipient in such written notice, if:

i. The requisite local funding to continue the Project becomes unavailable to 
Recipient; or

ii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement.

c. Termination by Either Party.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon at 
least ten days' notice to the other Party and failure of the other Party to cure within the 
period provided in the notice, if the other Party fails to comply with any of the terms 
of this Agreement.

11. General Provisions
a. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or extended only by a written 

instrument signed by both Parties and approved as required by applicable law.
b. Contribution.

i. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging 
a tort as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against State 
or Recipient with respect to which the other Party may have liability, the notified 
Party must promptly notify the other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and 
deliver to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with 
respect to the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense 
of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own 
choosing. Receipt by a Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and 
meaningful opportunity for the Party to participate in the investigation, defense and 
settlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions 
precedent to that Party's liability with respect to the Third Party Claim.

ii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third Party 
Claim for which State is jointly liable with Recipient (or would be if joined in the 
Third Party Claim ), State shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including 
attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of 
the Recipient on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in 
such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other 
relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of State on the one hand 
and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among 
other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, 
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. State's contribution amount in any 
instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon 
law, including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if State had sole 
liability in the proceeding.

iii. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 11.c below, with respect to a Third 
Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with State (or would be if joined 
in the Third Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 
actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by State in such proportion 
as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and 
of State on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such 
expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant 
equitable considerations. The relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of 
State on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, 
the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to 
correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines 
or settlement amounts. Recipient's contribution amount in any instance is capped to 
the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon 
Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability in the proceeding.

145



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 7 of  21

c. Indemnification.
i. Subject to any limitations imposed by State law and the Oregon Constitution, 

Recipient agrees to the following contract-related indemnification for all projects 
authorized under this Agreement:

ii. Where Recipient contracts for services or performs project management for a 
project, Recipient shall accept all responsibility, defend lawsuits, indemnify, and 
hold State harmless, for all contract-related claims and suits. This includes but is 
not limited to all contract claims or suits brought by any contractor, whether arising 
out of the contractor's work, Recipient's supervision of any individual project or 
contract, or Recipient's failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement.

 
Sections 11.b and 11.c shall survive termination of this Agreement.

d. Insurance. Recipient shall obtain and maintain the insurance requirements provided in 
Exhibit C to this Agreement.

e. Dispute Resolution.  The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly 
selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short 
of litigation.

f. Responsibility for Grant Funds.  Any recipient of Grant Funds, pursuant to this 
Agreement with State, shall assume sole liability for that recipient's breach of the 
conditions of this Agreement, and shall, upon recipient's breach of conditions that 
requires State to return funds to the FTA, hold harmless and indemnify State for an 
amount equal to the funds received under this Agreement; or if legal limitations apply 
to the indemnification ability of the recipient of Grant Funds, the indemnification amount 
shall be the maximum amount of funds available for expenditure, including any available 
contingency funds or other available non-appropriated funds, up to the amount received 
under this Agreement.

g. Duplicate Payment.  Recipient is not entitled to compensation or any other form of 
duplicate, overlapping or multiple payments for the same work performed under this 
Agreement from any agency of the State of Oregon or the United States of America or 
any other party, organization or individual.

h. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  State and Recipient are the only Parties to this 
Agreement and are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit 
or right, whether directly or indirectly, to a third person unless such a third person is 
individually identified by name herein and expressly described as an intended beneficiary 
of the terms of this Agreement.

Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Federal Government, absent express written 
consent by the Federal Government, is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, contractor or any other party 
(whether or not a party to the Agreement) pertaining to any matter resulting from the 
this Agreement.

i. Notices.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any 
communications between the Parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be 
given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, email, or mailing the same, postage 
prepaid, to Recipient Contact or State Contact at the address or number set forth 
on the signature page of this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as 
either Party may hereafter indicate pursuant to this subsection. Any communication 
or notice personally delivered shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. 
Any communication or notice delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when 
receipt of the transmission is generated by the transmitting machine, and to be effective 
against State, such facsimile transmission must be confirmed by telephone notice to 
State Contact. Any communication by email shall be deemed to be given when the 
recipient of the email acknowledges receipt of the email. Any communication or notice 

146



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 

Page 8 of  21

mailed shall be deemed to be given when received.  
j. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law.  Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim") between 
State (or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon) and Recipient that 
arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and 
exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County in the State of Oregon.  In no event 
shall this section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense 
or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on 
the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from 
any Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.  RECIPIENT HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE, AND 
WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

k. Compliance with Law.  Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Agreement or to the 
implementation of the Project, as applicable to Recipient, including without limitation 
as described in Exhibit D.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Recipient 
expressly agrees to comply with (i) Title VI of Civil Rights Act of 1964; (ii) Title V and 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and administrative rules established 
pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other applicable requirements of federal and 
state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations.

l. Independent Contractor.  Recipient shall perform the Project as an independent 
contractor and not as an agent or employee of State.  Recipient has no right or authority 
to incur or create any obligation for or legally bind State in any way.  State cannot and 
will not control the means or manner by which Recipient performs the Project, except 
as specifically set forth in this Agreement.  Recipient is responsible for determining the 
appropriate means and manner of performing the Project.  Recipient acknowledges and 
agrees that Recipient is not an "officer", "employee", or "agent" of State, as those terms 
are used in ORS 30.265, and shall not make representations to third parties to the 
contrary.  

m. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term 
or provision held to be invalid.

n. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (by 
facsimile or otherwise), each of which is an original and all of which together are deemed 
one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories 
to the same counterpart.

o. Integration and Waiver.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  The delay or failure of either Party to enforce any provision of 
this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that Party of that or any other provision.  
Recipient, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges 
that it has read this Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms 
and conditions.

p. Survival. The following provisions survive termination of this Agreement: Sections 6.c., 
8 and 11.

 
 

147



Page 9 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 
The Parties, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that each Party has read this 
Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.
 

The Oregon Transportation Commission on October 20, 2010, approved Delegation Order Number 
OTC-01, which authorizes the Director of the Oregon Department of 
Transportation to administer programs related to public transit.

On March 1, 2012, the Director approved Delegation Order Number DIR-04, which 
delegates the authority to approve this Agreement to the Public Transportation 
Division Administrator.
 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW

148



Page 10 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR 97301
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Suzanne Carlson
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 07/03/2025

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $250,000)

 
By  
Assistant Attorney General
 
Name Nina R. Englander by email
(printed)

 
Date 06/25/2025

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.oregon.gov

149



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 

Page 11 of  21

EXHIBIT A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: COVID 5311 Tillamook County Transportation District 35884
Operations

FTA Funding Category B. Project identified not ready to execute. Funds will be made available
after subrecipient has expended existing 5311 COVID Operations funding, and a subgrant
agreement revision to release funds is completed.

 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
P-25-6189-01 Item #1: EMER RELIEF - OPERATING 100%

$585,724.00 $328,474.00 $257,250.00 Local
Sub Total $585,724.00 $328,474.00 $257,250.00

 

Grand Total $585,724.00 $328,474.00 $257,250.00
 

 

The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and all other
applicable federal environmental laws (e.g., the Endangered Species Act, the Clean
Water Act, and the National Historic Preservation Act) apply to all projects that receive
FTA funds (directly or through the State). The process of addressing compliance
with NEPA and all other applicable federal environmental laws is referred to as the
environmental review process. 

For any project receiving FTA funds, subrecipients are responsible for coordinating
with ODOT prior to incurring any costs or conducting any project-related activities
to confirm requirements for complying with the environmental review process. The
subrecipient is responsible for submitting all documentation required to comply with
the environmental review process to ODOT for approval by the FTA.

The following activities cannot proceed until the FTA concurs in writing that the
environmental review process is complete per 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1): 
- final design activities (design beyond 30%).
- property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property owners that imply
or are explicitly binding).
- purchase of construction materials (including EV chargers and bus shelters) or
rolling stock, 
- project construction activities (including construction, alteration, or repair [including
dredging, excavating, and painting] of buildings, structures, or other real property). 

Proceeding with any of these activities prior to FTA concurrence that the
environmental review process is complete may deem the entire project ineligible to
receive federal funding.

1. BACKGROUND

The federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, provides emergency
assistance and health care response for individuals, families, and businesses affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic and provides emergency appropriations to support agency operations
during the pandemic. Funds provided under the CARES Acts are available for transit agencies
for operating activities (net fare revenues) that occur on or after January 20, 2020. CARES
can be used for operations projects that prevent, prepare for, and respond to COVID-19. While
the federal government has declared the end of the health emergency, COVID-19 continues to
have effects on service, the workforce, cleaning and safety protocols, and ridership and farebox
recovery, amongst other aspects of transit service.

150



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 

Page 12 of  21

By signing this agreement, the Recipient certifies that it, and its subrecipients and contractors
that are providers of public transportation, have not furloughed any employees since March 27,
2020 (the enactment date of the CARES Act) unless the Recipient is using CARES funding only
for payroll and operations expenses.

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

This agreement provides financial support for general public transportation services in the state
of Oregon to provide relief from expenses incurred in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
This agreement includes the following: 
This Agreement provides funding for the following activities (collectively, the "Project"):

Recipient to provide general public transportation, deviated fixed route, demand response
services in and around, Tillamook County with connections to Clatsop County 

Deviated fixed route, demand response services are provided Days and hours of operation vary
by service.

Service is provided by in-house with staff and buses located at 3600 Third Street, Tillamook,
Oregon

Operating Expenses
CARES can be used for operations projects that prevent, prepare for, and respond to COVID-19.
While the federal government has declared the end of the health emergency, COVID-19
continues to have effects on service, the workforce, cleaning and safety protocols, and ridership
and farebox recovery, amongst other aspects of transit service. In general, operating expenses
are those costs necessary to operate, maintain, and manage a public transportation system.
Operating expenses usually include such costs as driver salaries, fuel, and items having a useful
life of less than one year, including personal protective equipment and cleaning supplies. CARES
must be used for payroll and operating expenses, unless the recipient certifies to FTA that it has
not furloughed any employees. 

3. PROJECT DELIVERABLES and EXPENSE TYPES

Funding may be used for operations projects to prevent, prepare for, and respond to COVID-19.
All expenses normally eligible under the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5311
Formula Grants to Rural Areas Program incurred on or after January 1, 2020, are considered to
be in response to economic or other conditions caused by COVID-19 and thus are eligible under
this Agreement. Normally eligible expenses include those for operating, preventive maintenance,
project administration, contracted services, and capital purchases. There is no limit to the
percentage of funds that may be used for any category of expense.

Specific eligible expenses under the CARES Act include:
- Farebox Recovery
- Pandemic-Related Health Accommodations
- Workforce Recovery & Hiring Initiatives
- Enhanced Cleaning & Safety Protocols
- Ridership Recovery Programs
- Affordable Housing & Transit-Oriented Development
- Technology & Contactless Services
- Remote Work & Hybrid Adjustments 
- Healthcare & Long COVID Support 
Ineligible expenses under the Section 5311 program may be reimbursed if an FTA waiver is
obtained. Waiver requests are managed by State and results are posted on State's website.
Waivers may be implemented during the Agreement period.

Operating Expenses

In general, operating expenses are those costs necessary to operate, maintain, and manage a

151



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 

Page 13 of  21

public transportation system. Operating expenses include such costs as driver salaries, fuel, and
items having a useful life of less than one year, including personal protective equipment and
cleaning supplies. See Chapter III of the FTA Circular 9040.1G (Formula Grants for Rural Areas)
for more information on eligible operating expenses.

4. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

CARES Act funds are being made available to support operating, and other expenses generally
eligible under urbanized area and rural area formula programs to prevent, prepare for, and
respond to COVID-19.

Projects funded with CARES Act funds must be used to provide relief from expenses incurred in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. All expenses must be incurred on or after January 1, 2020,
to be eligible for reimbursement.

The match requirements for projects selected for CARES funding is based on the match
requirements identified in the 2025-2027 Federal Formula Grant Program Guidance for FTA
Section 5311.
- Operations projects: 
- Federal funds - 56.08%
- Local match - 43.92% 
Generally accepted accounting principles and Recipient's own accounting system determine
those costs that are to be accounted for as gross operating expenses. Recipient may not count
the same costs twice if they have multiple agreements for which these costs may be eligible.
The contractor may use capital equipment funded from USDOT- or State-source grants when
performing services rendered through a contract funded by this Agreement. Depreciation of
capital equipment funded from USDOT- or State-source grants is not an eligible expense. 

Recipient will subtract revenue from fares, tickets, and passes, either pre-paid or post-paid, from
the gross operating expense of service.

If Recipient receives federal funding, directly or indirectly, from insurance proceeds, the
Federal Emergency Management Agency, the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency
Assistance Act, or a different federal agency for any portion of a project activity funded under
this Agreement, Recipient will provide written notification to State. State will then deduct that
amount from this Agreement to reimburse FTA for that federal share that duplicates funding
provided by FEMA, another federal agency, or an insurance company.

5. REPORTING and INVOICING REQUIREMENTS   

Reimbursement requests may be submitted no more frequently than monthly. Grant Funds
provided under this Agreement must be expended by the Expiration Date. The Expiration Date
may be extended if local circumstances change; however, there is no guarantee of an extension.

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred during each period as
prescribed by State and described in Recipient's submitted preventive maintenance plan for
this Agreement. Recipient must maintain and provide supporting documents detailing the total
expenses for allowable maintenance activities incurred during the period. Recipient may list costs
on a form provided by State, or provide vendor invoices. 

Copies of invoices for vendor charges must be submitted with reimbursement requests. In-
house charges may be documented in a spreadsheet or with copies of timesheets showing time
specifically associated with the project. In addition, Recipient must submit a cover letter or
summary of the total expenses for work performed. 

Expenses incurred will not be reimbursed if the project's scope is changed or altered without the
necessary approval and amendment by State. 

152



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

Page 14 of  21

EXHIBIT B

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

The information below will assist auditors to prepare a report in compliance with the requirements
of 2 CFR part 200, subpart F.
 

This Agreement is financed by the funding source indicated below:
 

Federal Program Federal Funding Agency CFDA Number Total Federal Funding
49 U.S.C. 5311 U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Transit Administration
915 Second Avenue, Suite 3142
Seattle, WA  98174

20.509 (5311) $328,474.00

 
Administered By  
Public Transportation Division
355 Capitol St NE, MS43
Salem, OR  97301

 

153



Page 15 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 
EXHIBIT C

 

Subagreement Insurance Requirements
 

1.GENERAL.
1. a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall require in its first tier subagreements with entities that are not units of 
local government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: i) obtain insurance specified under 
TYPES AND AMOUNTS and meeting the requirements under ADDITIONAL INSURED, "TAIL" 
COVERAGE, NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 
before performance under the subagreement commences, and ii) maintain the insurance in 
full force throughout the duration of the subagreement.  The insurance must be provided 
by insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance 
and issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable to State.  Recipient 
shall not authorize work to begin under subagreements until the insurance is in full force. 
Thereafter, Recipient shall monitor continued compliance with the insurance requirements on 
an annual or more frequent basis. Recipient shall incorporate appropriate provisions in the 
subagreement permitting it to enforce compliance with the insurance requirements and shall 
take all reasonable steps to enforce such compliance.  In no event shall Recipient permit 
work under a subagreement when Recipient is aware that the contractor is not in compliance 
with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, "first tier" means a subagreement 
in which the Recipient is a Party.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION.

All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance 
coverage for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under 
ORS 656.126(2).  The coverage shall include Employer's Liability Insurance with limits not 
less than $500,000 each accident. Contractor shall require compliance with these 
requirements in each of its subcontractor contracts.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, 
products and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage. When work to be 
performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, 
trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the 
Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy.
Amounts below are a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.

Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor's business-related automobile use 
covering all owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Amount 
below is a minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

154



Page 16 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 
This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.  
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees" as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the contractor's activities to be performed under the 
Subagreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance 
and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. "TAIL" COVERAGE.
If any of the required insurance policies is on a "claims made" basis, such as professional 
liability insurance or pollution liability insurance,  the contractor shall maintain either "tail" 
coverage or continuous "claims made" liability coverage, provided the effective date of the 
continuous "claims made" coverage is on or before the effective date of the Subagreement, 
for a minimum of twenty-four (24) months following the later of : (i) the contractor's 
completion and Recipient's acceptance of all Services required under the Subagreement or, 
(ii) the expiration of all warranty periods provided under the Subagreement. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing twenty-four (24) month requirement, if the contractor elects to maintain 
"tail" coverage and if the maximum time period "tail" coverage reasonably available in 
the marketplace is less than the twenty-four (24) month period described above, then the 
contractor may request and State may grant approval of  the maximum "tail " coverage 
period reasonably available in the marketplace.  If State approval is granted, the contractor 
shall maintain "tail" coverage for the maximum time period that "tail" coverage is reasonably 
available in the marketplace. 

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 The contractor or its insurer must provide thirty (30) days' written notice to Recipient before 

cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal 
of the required insurance coverage(s). The Recipient shall immediately notify State of 
any change in insurance coverage.

4. CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall obtain from the contractor a certificate(s) of insurance for all required 

insurance before the contractor performs under the Subcontract. The certificate(s) or an 
attached endorsement must specify: i) all entities and individuals who are endorsed on the 
policy as Additional Insured and ii) for insurance on a "claims made" basis, the extended 
reporting period applicable to "tail" or continuous "claims made" coverage.

Recipient Insurance Requirements

155



Page 17 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 

1. GENERAL.
 a. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall obtain at Recipient's expense the insurance specified in this exhibit prior to 
performing under this Agreement and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense 
throughout the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period 
or continuous claims made coverage requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. 
Recipient shall obtain the following insurance from insurance companies or entities that 
are authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State of 
Oregon and that are acceptable to Agency. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory 
with any other insurance and self-insurance, with the exception of Professional Liability and 
Workers' Compensation. Recipient shall pay for all deductibles, self-insured retention and 
self-insurance, if any.

 
b. INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW.
Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by State under this Agreement 
and to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and State.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.
 a. WORKERS COMPENSATION. 

All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for 
those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). 
Recipient shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these 
requirements. If Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall 
also obtain employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each 
accident. If Recipient is an employer subject to any other state's workers' compensation 
law, Contactor shall provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for its employees as 
required by applicable workers' compensation laws including employers' liability insurance 
coverage with limits not less than $500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-
of-state subcontractors complies with these requirements.

 
b. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY.
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering 
bodily injury, death, and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury 
liability, products and completed operations and contractual liability coverage.  When work 
to be performed includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, 
bridge, trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide 
the Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial 
General Liability policy. Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be less than the 
following amounts as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 
per occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.
 

c. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY.
Automobile Liability Insurance covering business-related automobile use on all owned, non-
owned or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Automobile Liability Insurance shall 
not be less than the following amount as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance 
(with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

 
d. EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.

156



Page 18 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the 
required limits of insurance.

 
e. ADDITIONAL INSURED.
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon 
Transportation Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their 
respective officers, members, agents and employees"  as an endorsed Additional 
Insured but only with respect to the Recipient's activities to be performed under this 
Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and 
self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO 
Form CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations 
and ISO Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed 
operations. Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of 
Insurance and must be acceptable to the Recipient.

 
f. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.
Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient 
may acquire against the department or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any 
loss. Recipient will obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of 
subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the State has received a 
waiver of subrogation endorsement from the Recipient or the Recipient's insurer(s).

 
g. CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE: 
If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an 
extended reporting period of at least 24 months, then Recipient shall maintain continuous 
claims made liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made 
coverage is on or before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months 
following the later of:

 i. Recipient's completion and State's acceptance of all project work required under the 
Agreement, or 

 ii. State or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or

 iii. The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement.

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE.
 Recipient or its insurer must provide 30 days' written notice to State before cancellation 

of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the 
required insurance coverage(s).

4. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE.
 Recipient shall provide to State Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 

delivering any Goods and performing any Services required under this Agreement. The 
Certificate(s) shall list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate 
holder and as an endorsed Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by 
this Agreement. If excess/umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance 
requirement, the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that fall under 
the excess/umbrella insurance. As proof of insurance State has the right to request copies 
of insurance policies and endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this 
Agreement.

5. STATE ACCEPTANCE.

157



Page 19 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 
 All insurance providers are subject to State acceptance.  If requested by State, Recipient 

shall provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents 
and related insurance documents to State's representatives responsible for verification of the 
insurance coverages required under this Exhibit C. 

158



Page 20 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 
EXHIBIT D

 

Summary of Federal Requirements and Incorporating by Reference Annual List
of Certifications and Assurances for FTA Grants and Cooperative Agreements

("Certifications and Assurances") and Federal Transit Administration
Master Agreement ("Master Agreement"), Except as Modified Herein

 

Recipient and Recipient's subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s), at any tier, if any, 
must comply with: (1) all applicable federal requirements contained in the Certifications and 
Assurances including as they may be changed during the term of this Agreement, except as 
otherwise stated herein; and (2) all applicable requirements included in the Federal Transit 
Administration Master Agreement ("Master Agreement") including as they may be changed 
during the term of this Agreement, except as otherwise stated herein. The Certifications and 
Assurances and the Master Agreement are incorporated by reference herein and are available at 
www.transit.dot.gov.

The Certifications and Assurances for Fiscal Year 2025, Standard Assurances, Section 1.1(r), 
requires a grant applicant to certify that it "[w]ill comply with all applicable requirements of all other 
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies governing the program under which it is 
applying for assistance."  In addition, the Master Agreement #33, Generally Applicable Provisions, 
Section 12(m) contains the following language: "the Recipient will cooperate with Federal officials 
in the enforcement of Federal law, including cooperating with and not impeding U.S. Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement (ICE) and other Federal offices and components of the Department of 
Homeland Security in the enforcement of Federal immigration law." ("Immigration Condition").

The State of Oregon is a plaintiff in a lawsuit challenging U.S. DOT's imposition of the Immigration 
Condition on federal funding as unlawful."  See California v. U.S. Dep't of Transp., No. 1:25 cv 208 
(D.R.I. filed May 13, 2025).  On June 19, 2025, the court presiding over that action issued an order 
enjoining the imposition of the Immigration Condition on federal funding as to any Plaintiff State, 
including any subdivision or instrumentality thereof.  The Oregon Department of Transportation, as 
an agency of the State of Oregon, is subject to that court order. To the extent the Certification and 
Assurances purports to require an agency or person on behalf of the State of Oregon to agree to the 
Immigration Condition, the State of Oregon does not certify or assure that it will so comply or be 
bound. The State of Oregon's execution of the Master Agreement or this Agreement should not be 
construed as a certification or agreement to comply with the Immigration Condition. For purposes 
of this Agreement, the Certification and Assurances and the Master Agreement are modified to 
remove the Immigration Condition. 

Without limiting or modifying the foregoing, the following is a summary of some requirements 
applicable to transactions covered by this Agreement and the funds described in Exhibit A:
1. Recipient shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 State 252, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000d) and the regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (49 CFR 21, 
Subtitle A). Recipient shall exclude no person on the grounds of race, religion, color, sex, 
age, national origin, or disability from the benefits of aid received under this Agreement. 
Recipient will report to State on at least an annual basis the following information: any active 
lawsuits or complaints, including dates, summary of allegation, status of lawsuit or complaint 
including whether the Parties entered into a consent decree.

2. Recipient shall comply with FTA regulations in Title 49 CFR 27 Nondiscrimination on the Basis 
of Disability in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance which implements 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 49 
CFR 37, and 49 CFR 38.

3. Recipient shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the award 
and performance of any USDOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE program 
or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Recipient shall take all necessary and reasonable steps 
under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of USDOT-
assisted contracts. Recipient's DBE program, if applicable, as required by 49 CFR part 26 
and as approved by USDOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation 
of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a 

159



Page 21 of  21

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35884

 
violation of this agreement. Upon notification to State of its failure to carry out its approved 
program, the Department may impose sanctions as provided for under part 26 and may, 
in appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the 
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).

4. The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), including 23 CFR Part 771, 
apply to all projects that receive federal funds (whether directly or through the State) or that 
need a federal approval or permit. The process of addressing compliance with NEPA and all 
other applicable federal laws relating to the environment, parks, or historic resources (e.g., 
the Endangered Species Act, the Clean Water Act, the National Historic Preservation Act, 
Section 4(f) of the U.S. Department of Transportation Act) is referred to as the environmental 
review process. Recipient shall coordinate with the State and FTA prior to incurring any 
costs, making any expenditures, or conducting any project-related activities to confirm 
requirements for complying with the environmental review process. Recipient is responsible 
for submitting all documentation required to comply with the environmental review process 
to the State for approval by the FTA.

Until the FTA concurs that the environmental review process is complete and in compliance 
with 23 CFR 771.113(a)(1), the following activities cannot proceed: final design activities 
(design beyond 30%), property acquisition (includes purchase discussions with property 
owners that imply or are explicitly binding), purchase of construction materials or rolling 
stock, or project construction activities (including, but is not limited to, any ground 
disturbance or facility modification). This award is contingent on the FTA's concurrence that 
the environmental review process is complete, and the project has complied with NEPA and 
related federal laws. Any project expenses incurred prior to completion of the environmental 
review process will not be eligible for reimbursement and may cause the entire project to be 
ineligible to receive federal funding.

5. Recipient must include the following language in each subagreement Recipient signs with a 
subcontractor or subrecipient:

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this Agreement. The contractor, subrecipient, 
or subcontractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award 
and administration of USDOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor, subrecipient, or 
subcontractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which 
may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as Recipient deems 
appropriate.

6. Recipient and contractors receiving in excess of $100,000 in federal funds, other than Indian 
tribes, must certify to State that they have not and will not use federal funds to pay for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any federal department or 
Agency, a member of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 
obtaining any federal grant, cooperative agreement or any other federal award. If non-federal 
funds have been used to support lobbying activities in connection with the Project, Recipient 
shall complete Standard Form LLL, Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying and submit the form 
to State at the end of each calendar quarter in which there occurs an event that requires 
disclosure. Restrictions on lobbying do not apply to influencing policy decisions. Examples of 
prohibited activities include seeking support for a particular application or bid and seeking 
a congressional earmark.

160



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

Authorizing the General Manager to  )   
Extend the Professional Services  )   RESOLUTION NO. 25-26 
Contract With Chrissy’s Cleaning )  
Services ) 
 
  WHEREAS, in June 2024, the Tillamook County Transportation District 
entered into a Professional Services Contract whereby Chrissy’s Cleaning Services would 
provide janitorial services for the Administrative Building at 3600 3rd Street, Tillamook, 
Oregon; and   
 

WHEREAS, the current term of the Professional Services Contract expires 
on June 30, 2025; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District wishes to extend the term of the Professional 

Services Contract until June 30, 2026. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 
Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 

that the Tillamook County Transportation District Board of Directors hereby 
authorizes the General Manager to execute the amendment to the agreement with 
Chrissy’s Cleaning Services on behalf of the District extending the term of the agreement 
to June 30, 2026. 

   
 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of July 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
                            , Board Chair                      Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

161



 
Page 1 of 3 
  45039-27477 4871-6264-0323.2 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT POLICY 
 

DIRECTORS POWERS, DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
MEMBERSHIP  

Number:  10 

Adopted by the Board of Directors on January 13, 2005 
Last Reviewed: June 18, 2025 

Pages:     23 

 
Purpose  
The purpose of this policy is to specify the requirements for membership on the Board 
of Directors and the responsibilities of the position as an elected official. 

Positions and Terms 

1. The Board of Directors of the District shall consists of seven (7) members serving 
staggered four (4) year terms, following term adjustments as prescribed in HB2853. 

2. The Tillamook County Clerk’s office provides for each Board member to be 
identified by a position number. When a Board member is elected or appointed, that 
person fills the specific position number of that person’s predecessor. Position 
numbers shall be transferred to the successors of each Board member. 

3. All Board members shall serve at large. 

4. At the Board’s first meeting after July 1 each year, the Board shall choose a 
chairperson for the ensuing year. The chairperson is the Board’s presiding officer 
and has whatever additional functions the Board prescribes. ORS 267.540(3). 

Election of Board Members 
The election of Board members shall be conducted as provided by ORS Chapter 255. 
 
Term of Office 
Except where the Board is filling a vacancy on the Board, terms of office shall start on 
July 1 following the election. 
 
Oath of Office 
Each newly elected or appointed Board member may shall take an oath of office at the 
a regularly scheduled, monthly July board meeting following the election. Each newly 
appointed Board member shall take an oath of office at the Board meeting at which they 
are appointed or at the first regularly scheduled Board meeting following their 
appointment. 
 
Qualifications 
Pursuant to ORS 198.115 and this policy, Board members may not be an employee of 
the transportation dDistrict as provided in ORS 198.115, and this shall take effect in 
accordance with this statute. No person shall be is eligible to be a Board member who is 
not at the time of election or appointment a primary resident of Tillamook County. No 
person elected or appointed to the Board shall be seated unless such person meets the 
qualifications as stated above. If questions exist regarding the eligibility of any 

162



 
Page 2 of 3 
  45039-27477 4871-6264-0323.2 

candidate, the Board shall must obtain an opinion from legal counsel before seating 
such person.  
 
Maintenance of Eligibility 
Board members must maintain their eligibility throughout the term of office. For 
example, as residency is an eligibility requirement, a Board memberdirector who moves 
out of the District during the term of office must resign his or her that person’s position. 
 
Vacancies 
As per ORS 198.320, provides that vacancies on the Board shall be filled by 
appointment by a majority of the remaining members of the Board. The period of service 
of a person appointed to fill a vacancy shall expires on June 30 after the next District 
election at which a successor is elected to fill the remainder of the term.  
 
Meeting the Needs of the District 
It is the policy of the TCTD Board of Directors to exercise those powers granted to it, 
and to carry out those duties assigned to it by law, in such a way as to best meet the 
needs of the public. 
 
Primary Responsibilities 
The TCTD Board of Directors has the following primary responsibilities: 

 To aAdopt the annual budget; 

 Create and interpret District policies; 

 Hire the District’s General Manager; and 

 Serve as its contract review board.  

 
Formulation and Interpretation of District Ordinances and Policiesy 
The most important activity of the Board is the formulation and interpretation of District 
ordinances and policies. The Board shall establish policyundertake such efforts, 
reserving to itself all authority and responsibility not expressly assigned to other District 
officers and personnel. 
 
Emergencyies Staff Vacancies 
The Board may appoint members of the Board to temporarily fill District staff positions in 
an emergency situation. The Board must declare the lack of staff an emergency and set 
forth time limits of the appointment(s).  
 
Board Members Authorized by Official Board Action Only 
No individual Board member may speak for or act on behalf of the Board or District, 
except as authorized to do so by official Board action as recorded in the District’s official 
minutes, guidelines, or policies of the District. 
 
Access to District Facilities 
Board members shall only access the District’s facilities during regular business office 
hours (8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Monday - Friday), or otherwise at times when public meetings or 
other official events are occurring within those facilities.  
 

163



 
Page 3 of 3 
  45039-27477 4871-6264-0323.2 

Ethical Standards 
As elected officials, Board members are subject to the requirements of the Oregon 
Government Ethics Law set forth in ORS Chapter 224 and OAR Chapter 199. Board 
members act asare elected representatives of the District’s citizens of the District. 
Therefore, Board members shall adhere to the highest ethical standards in the conduct 
of District business. 
 
Board Member Education 
In order to effectively carry out their duties, Board members should be adequately 
informed. All Board members must comply with ORS 192.700(2)(a), which requires that 
every member of a governing body of a public body with total expenditures for a fiscal 
year of $1 million or more shall attend or view public meetings training prepared by or 
approved by the Oregon Government Ethics Commission at least once during the 
member’s term of office. In addition, Board members are encouraged to attend at least 
one (1) conference and/or other training program as the Board may authorize per year. 
 
Public Accountability 
Board members need to keep the public informed on all District matters, make decisions 
based on the transportation needs of the public, spend the District’s money with 
prudence and trust, and place the needs of the public above the ambitions of the Board 
or the District.  
 
Board Member Compensation 
Board members will be paid a $50 stipend per meeting for attendance at public 
meetings convened for the purpose of conducting TCTD business, pursuant to ORS 
198.190. If food, beverage, or related items are provided to Board members as part of 
such public meetings, the per person value of the food, beverage, or related items shall 
be deducted from the $50 stipend. Such compensation shall not be deemed lucrative. 
Board members shall be reimbursed for their actual and reasonable travel and other 
expenses incurred in the performance of official District duties. 
 
Removal; Recall 
Board members are not subject to removal by the Board. However, a Board member is 
subject to recall under the process set forth in ORS 249.865 to 249.877. 
 
Biennial Report 
The District Board shall report biennially to the Legislature on the activities of the District 
as required by ORS 267.540(5).  

164



Page 1 of 3 
  45039-27477 4895-4533-2675.2 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT POLICY 
 

OREGON GOVERNMENT ETHICS POLICY Number: 19  

Adopted by the Board of Directors on June 23, 2016 
Last Reviewed: June 18, 2025 Pages:      3  

 
Purpose 
The purpose of the Oregon Government Ethics Policy is to establish ethical 
standards of conduct for all district public officials in accordance with Oregon 
Government Ethics law.   
 
The Oregon Government Ethics law applies to all elected and appointed officials, 
employees and volunteers.  The Law prohibits the use of public office for financial 
gain, requires public disclosure of financial conflicts of interest, and limits gifts that 
an official may receive per calendar year. 
 
Financial Gain 
Each public official is prohibited from using the position as a public official to receive 
certain financial benefits or avoid financial detriments if the opportunity would not 
otherwise be available but for the position held by the public official. In addition, each 
public official is prohibited from using or attempting to use the official position to obtain 
financial benefits for a relative or a member of the public official’s household, or for a 
business with which the public official, a relative, or a member of the public official’s 
household is associated. 
 
The following is a list of financial benefits that may be received. These include: 

• Official compensation 

• Reimbursement of expenses 

• Honorarium 

• Unsolicited awards for professional achievement 

• Some gifts 
 
For the purpose of this policy, pursuant to ORS 198.190, official compensation for elected 
members of the District’s Board of Directors is limited to $50 for each day or portion 
thereof on which they are performing services as a member of the governing body. This 
includes direct financial remuneration as well as benefits with monetary value such as 
food, beverages, or other related items, which the District may provide as part of any 
public meeting, team building activity, or social reception. (For further information 
regarding District-provided food and beverage, see Oregon Government Ethics 
Commission Advisory Opinion 25-126A dated May 9, 2025.) 
 

165



Page 2 of 3 
  45039-27477 4895-4533-2675.2 

Gifts 
No public official shall solicit or receive any gift(s) with a total value of more than $50 in 
a calendar year from any single source who could reasonably be known to have a 
financial interest in the official actions of that public official. A gift is defined as something 
of value given to a public official, for which the official does not pay an equal value. Gifts 
of entertainment are included in the $50 gift limit. 
 
This does not mean that an official cannot receive any gifts. The law only restricts gifts 
from sources that have an administrative or legislative interest in the public official’s 
actions, and does allow the public official to receive up to $50 worth of gifts from each 
source in a calendar year.  The law does not limit gifts from relatives or members of the 
household of a public official. 
 
Conflict of Interest 
Oregon Government Ethics law identifies and defines two types of conflicts of interest: 
actual conflict of interest and potential conflict of interest.  The difference between an 
actual conflict of interest and a potential conflict of interest is determined by the words 
“would” and “could”.  For example: 
 

1. A public official is met with an actual conflict of interest when the public official 
participates in action that would affect the financial interest of the official, the 
official’s relative or a business with which the official or a relative of the official is 
associated. 

 
2. A public official is met with a potential conflict of interest when the public official 

participates in action that could affect the financial interest of the official, a relative 
of that official or a business with which the official or the relative of that official is 
associated. 

 
A public official must announce or disclose the nature of any conflict of interest prior to 
taking any action on the matter. The public official’s ability to participate in the decision 
is dependent on the type of conflict declared: 
 
• Potential Conflict of Interest: Following the public announcement, the public official 
may participate in official action on the issue that gave rise to the conflict of interest. 
 
• Actual Conflict of Interest: Following the public announcement, the public official 
must refrain from further participation in official action on the issue that gave rise to the 
conflict of interest. 
 
If a public official is met with an actual conflict of interest and the public official’s vote is 
necessary to meet the minimum number of votes required for official action, the public 
official may vote. The public official must make the required announcement and refrain 
from any discussion, but may participate in the vote required for official action by the 
governing body. These circumstances do not often occur. This provision does not apply 
in situations where there are insufficient votes because of a member’s absence when 
the governing body is convened. Rather, it applies in circumstances when all members 

166



Page 3 of 3 
  45039-27477 4895-4533-2675.2 

of the governing body are present and the number of members who must refrain due to 
actual conflicts of interest make it impossible for the governing body to take official 
action. 
 
Guidance 
Public officials seeking guidance related to this Policy may contact the General Manager 
or the Oregon Government Ethics Commission.   

167



NWOTA Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan

June 2025
168



Overview

• NWOTA Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan
• Supported by the Clean Bus Planning Awards (CBPA) via 

National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL)
• Funded by the Joint Office of Energy and Transportation
• Focus: Technical assistance to develop tailored ZEV 

transition plans

169



Project Goals

Develop an 
actionable Zero 
Emission Fleet 
Transition Plan

1
Assist 4 NWOTA 
transit agencies: 
CC Rider, 
SETD, TCTD, 
LCT

2
Compete for 
federal funding 
(e.g., FTA Low-
No, EPA Clean 
School Bus)

3
Align with 
Oregon's GHG 
reduction goals 
and policy 
mandates

4

170



Analysis Methodology

171



Methodology Highlights

Baseline Assessment: 
Fleet size, usage, facility 
readiness

Feasibility Design: 
Site review, utility needs, 
charger siting

Technical Analysis: 
BEB/FCEB suitability, route 
modeling, emissions

Financial Review: 
TCO, funding strategy, 
phased rollout

Workforce Planning: 
Training needs and 
upskilling strategy

Fleet Readiness: 
Ability to provide services, 
reduce maintenance costs, 
decrease down buses

172



Findings and Recommendations

173



Route and Service Assessment

• Purpose: Evaluate the feasibility of electrifying existing transit 
routes using Battery-Electric Buses (BEBs)

• Focus Areas: Route/block modeling, charging sequencing 
analysis

• Agency Considerations: specific constraints and assumptions

174



Data inputs: 

• Route schedules, vehicle types, odometer readings, fueling logs

Two-part analysis:

• Route/Block Analysis
Can electric buses complete service blocks on a single charge?

• Charging Sequencing
How much power is needed, and when?

Route and Service Data Analysis Methodology

175



1. Vehicles begin service at 90% State of Charge (SoC) 

2. Single-block assumption for Dial-a-ride/on-demand routes 
unless stated

3. BEB cutoff set at 25% SoC (to account for delays/ 
deadheading)

4. Fixed-route mileages increased by 20% to account for real-
world conditions

5. Dial-a-ride, on-demand, and non-revenue mileages 
increased by 100%

Common Assumptions Across Agencies

176



Example of Estimated Charging Demand

Tillamook County Transportation District
Estimated Charging Demand 

177



Analysis Results by Agency

CC Rider
• Peak demand of 

~580 kW indicates 
moderate upgrade 
needs

• Implement dual-port 
charger layout to 
serve peak with 
~50% charger 
concurrency.

SETD
• Expect high 

weekday charging 
peaks (~600 kW)

• Install island-based 
chargers with 
staging to 
accommodate 
dispersed returns.

LCT
• Peak demand of 

~480 kW supports 
phased 
infrastructure rollout

• Immediate charger 
needs support ~14 
dispensers; scale to 
20 in future phases.

TCTD
• Prepare for a peak 

load of ~900 kW 
with sequencing 
strategies

• Stage charging 
times to avoid 
concurrent demand 
spikes using load 
management.

178



Route Analysis Results
• Most fixed routes are BEB-feasible; rural express and long blocks may 

need Fuel Cell Electric Buses (FCEBs) or modified operations
• Dial-a-ride services are most challenging due to high mileage and 

flexible service patterns
• Charging infrastructure must be sequenced to avoid overbuilding and 

manage utility demand
• Technology selection and route adjustments must be tailored to each 

agency’s service profile

179



Analysis Results by Agency

CC Rider
• Monitor and 

manage longer 
demand response 
blocks through 
route 
reconfiguration or 
fleet rotation

• Use mileage data 
from in-service 
vehicles to refine 
future feasibility 
modeling

SETD
• Reassign or 

restructure Route 
20 and some on-
demand services 
due to energy 
demand exceeding 
capacity

• Apply BEBs only to 
standard fixed 
routes and divide 
long on-demand 
service blocks 
accordingly

LCT
• Continue adjusting 

block operations to 
favor BEB-
compatible lengths

• Designate Coast-
to-Valley Express 
for future FCEB 
consideration or 
partial 
electrification

TCTD
• Split dial-a-ride 

blocks into multiple 
segments to enable 
BEB operation

• Retain long 
intercity blocks 
(e.g., Pacific City) 
for FCEB use or 
schedule 
adjustment

• Apply block-level 
route adjustments 
to accommodate 
BEB range

180



Technical Feasibility of ZEVs

 BEBs viable for most fixed routes

 FCEBs better for long-range, high-
demand rural routes

 FCEBs face infrastructure and fuel 
availability challenges

 Route scheduling adjustments may 
address range limits

181



SETD
• Most fixed routes 

are BEB-
compatible

• Retain or 
redesign longer 
blocks (e.g., 
Route 20) for 
FCEB suitability

CC Rider
• BEBs feasible 

for fixed routes 
and most 
demand-
response

• Split longest 
demand-
response blocks 
or consider 
staggered 
operations

LCT
• All routes except 

Coast-to-Valley 
Express are BEB-
feasible

• Explore FCEBs or 
scheduling 
alternatives for 
CVE

TCTD
• BEBs suitable for 

most fixed routes
• Use FCEBs or 

modify schedules 
for Pacific City 
and high-mileage 
blocks

Technical Feasibility by Agency

182



Overview of Infrastructure & Energy Needs

• All depots lack charging/fueling infrastructure
• Major upgrades required: new panels, grid connections
• Estimated peak loads: 480–900 kW per agency
• Hydrogen fueling adds cost and complexity

183



Infrastructure and Energy Needs by Agency

CC Rider
• Panel upgrades 

and lot restriping 
needed

• Install 14 revenue 
and 2 non-
revenue 
dispensers with 
pole-mounted 
layout

SETD
• Island-style charger 

layout required
• Upgrade electrical 

service and phase 
construction around 
weekday peak 
loads

• Total of 11 chargers 
with 22 dispensers

• Three chargers with 
one dispenser each 
for non-revenue 
vehicles

LCT
• Shared depot 

requires utility 
upgrades

• Install chargers in 
designated zones 
to avoid impact on 
shared facilities

• Total of 10 
chargers, each 
with two 
dispensers, for 20 
dispensers for 
revenue vehicles

TCTD
• Depot upgrades 

required for new 
electric service

• Install 22 dual-
port dispensers 
for revenue fleet 
and 3 for support 
vehicles

184



Key Assumptions:

Some mileage data was inconsistent: conservative averages 
and known usage patterns were used for estimation.

Lead time for new ZEV procurement: ~12–16 months.

Infrastructure installed during first procurement to avoid 
phased retrofits.

Fleet Readiness Methodology

185



Key Assumptions:

Data Collection: Compiled fleet rosters, vehicle ages, and 
odometer readings from all agencies. 

Lifecycle Standards: Applied Oregon DOT’s Vehicle Useful 
Life Guidelines by vehicle class (e.g., 12 years/500k miles for 
heavy-duty buses).

Condition Categorization:
• Overdue
• Exceeded useful life
• Critical: Within two years of retirement.
• Imminent: two to four years remaining.
• Upcoming: More than four years of service left.     

Fleet Readiness Methodology

186



Overdue – The vehicle that has reached the end of its useful life

Upcoming – The vehicle will end its useful life in 4 or more years.

Imminent – The vehicle will end its lifecycle within 2 to 4 years.

Crit ical – The vehicle is near the end of its useful life within 2 years.

Fleet Readiness & Replacement

• SETD: Urgent needs; high vehicle age
• TCTD: Nearly 50% of vehicles to be replaced by 2027
• LCT: Mix of aging and newer vehicles
• CC Rider: Newer fleet allows long-term planning
• Moderate procurement scenario recommended
• Full fleet replacements recommended by 2037 for all

187



 BEBs: Higher upfront costs, better long-
term savings

 FCEBs: Highest Total Cost of Ownership 
(TCO); costly fuel & maintenance

Financial Feasibility

 Better mileage tracking is needed for 
accurate TCO

 Substantial GHG, NOx, and PM 
emission reductions

188



Transition Cost Summary by Agency

Agency Upfront 
Cost

Net Present 
Value (NPV)

Payback 
Period

Key Cost Drivers

TCTD High +$8.89M 3.6 yrs High utilization enables 
rapid ROI

CC Rider Moderate –$964K 12.0 yrs Low mileage limits TCO 
benefits

LCT Moderate +$829K 9.7 yrs Positive ORI

SETD High +$607K 10.5 yrs Aging fleet yields quick 
OpEx savings

189



• Mechanic, driver, and dispatcher training needed
• High part-time reliance and vacancies pose challenges
• Partner with ODOT RTAP for training programs
• Cross-agency and OEM-led training recommended

Workforce & Training

190



Infrastructure and Energy Needs by Agency

CC Rider
• Address limited 

staffing through 
shared training or 
OEM partnerships

• Expand preventive 
maintenance 
program to include 
ZEV systems

SETD
• Use vehicle 

replacements as a 
driver for training 
investment

• Incorporate safety 
protocols for 
rooftop battery 
maintenance

LCT
• Coordinate 

training with other 
agencies using 
shared 
maintenance 
facility

• Prepare for 
specialized 
certifications in 
ZEV technologies

TCTD
• Provide BEB-

specific training for 
mechanics on 
high-voltage 
systems

• Engage ODOT 
RTAP for driver 
and dispatcher 
upskilling

191



• Coordinate with utilities for load management
• Engage state and federal agencies for funding alignment
• Maintain dialogue with labor unions & communities
• Pursue local and regional partnerships

Stakeholder Engagement

192



Policy and Funding Landscape

• BIL & IRA offer major ZEV incentives
• State support via STIF & Clean Fuels Program
• Future funding subject to political and budget changes
• Coordinate joint grant applications for scale

193



• Start with 3–5 BEB pilots per agency

• Expand in 2–4 year cycles based on readiness

• Align infrastructure investment with fleet turnover

• Plan for diesel redundancy and mobile charging units

Strategic Outlook

194



Implementation Timeline

195



THANK YOU!

196



NWOTA Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan April 2025 

| 
197



Executive Summary 

Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance (NWOTA) Zero Emission Fleet 
Transition Plan 
April 2025 

Introduction and Purpose 

The Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance (NWOTA) is a partnership of rural transit 
agencies working collaboratively to enhance mobility and access throughout 
Northwestern Oregon. In recent years, NWOTA has recognized the need to align its 
transit services with the state’s broader environmental and climate objectives. This 
Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan represents a significant step toward that 
alignment. Developed with technical assistance from the Clean Bus Planning Awards 
(CBPA) Program, administered by the National Renewable Energy Laboratory 
(NREL) and funded by the Joint Office of Energy and Transportation, this plan 
provides a structured pathway for NWOTA to shift from internal combustion engine 
(ICE) vehicles to battery-electric buses (BEBs) and hydrogen fuel cell electric buses 
(FCEBs). 

The agencies included in this study—Tillamook County Transportation District 
(TCTD), Columbia County Rider (CC Rider), Lincoln County Transit (LCT), and 
Sunset Empire Transportation District (SETD)—represent a diversity of rural 
operating environments and service demands. Benton County Transit, while a 
member of NWOTA, did not participate in the current phase of this analysis. 

This transition plan supports NWOTA’s objective of reducing emissions from transit 
services while strengthening its position to compete for major federal and state 
grants. These include the EPA Clean School Bus Program, the FTA Low- or No-
Emission Grant Program, and the Oregon Department of Transportation’s Carbon 
Reduction Program (CRP). CRP, supported by the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, 
allocates $24 million for small urban and rural areas in Oregon, with a focus on 
projects that reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

The plan also aligns with Oregon’s Statewide Transportation Strategy (STS), which 
outlines a 2050 vision for significant reductions in GHG emissions, and Executive 
Order 20-04, which directs state agencies to take proactive steps in climate 
planning. Through this plan, NWOTA not only contributes to these goals but also 
builds a resilient, future-ready transit network for the communities it serves. 

 

198



Project Scope and Methodology 

To support a comprehensive understanding of zero-emission feasibility, the project 
team undertook a multi-pronged approach that combined technical modeling, 
facility review, financial analysis, and workforce assessment. 

The first phase involved a detailed baseline assessment of each agency’s existing 
fleet. This included collecting data on the number, type, and age of vehicles, service 
types (e.g., fixed route or demand response), and current fueling patterns. Virtual 
site assessments were conducted to evaluate the state of maintenance and storage 
facilities and identify spatial, electrical, and operational constraints that could affect 
the deployment of charging or hydrogen fueling infrastructure. 

Next, a service and route analysis was performed, using real-world operational data 
such as fuel logs, odometer readings, and block-level service schedules. This allowed 
the team to assess whether specific blocks could be completed with a BEB, based on 
battery range, energy consumption, and layover availability. For routes exceeding 
BEB range, the plan evaluated alternative solutions, including operational 
restructuring and the potential use of hydrogen-powered vehicles. 

Infrastructure planning followed, with the development of sequenced charging 
scenarios to model peak electrical loads and inform optimal charging schedules. 
This modeling accounted for vehicle arrival and departure times, charger output 
capacity, and state of charge assumptions. These insights were then used to size 
depot infrastructure and anticipate utility service upgrades. 

Financial feasibility was assessed using a total cost of ownership (TCO) approach 
that considered vehicle capital costs, infrastructure investments, maintenance, fuel 
costs, and expected grants. The analysis also explored funding strategies, including 
layering federal and state grants to minimize local agency expenditures. 

Finally, the plan incorporated workforce readiness and stakeholder coordination, 
reviewing existing labor structures, maintenance training needs, union 
considerations, and opportunities for community engagement. This holistic 
methodology ensured that each agency’s unique operational and organizational 
context was considered in the plan. 

 

 

 

 

199



Key Findings by Agency 

Each agency’s existing operations presented different opportunities and challenges 
for a zero-emission transition. The findings below reflect the results of service 
analysis, facility assessment, and peak energy demand modeling. 

Tillamook County Transportation District (TCTD) operates a combination of 
fixed and dial-a-ride services that include long rural routes and seasonal offerings. 
Several blocks, particularly dial-a-ride services and the Pacific City Shuttle, exceeded 
current BEB range limitations. Charging infrastructure at TCTD’s facility was 
modeled for 22 revenue vehicle dispensers and three for non-revenue vehicles, 
resulting in a peak load of 958 kW. The study concluded that BEBs are feasible for 
shorter blocks, but FCEBs or route segmentation will be necessary for longer-
distance services. 

Columbia County Rider (CC Rider) primarily operates shorter commuter services 
and demand response trips. These services generally feature lower mileage and 
longer layover periods, making them more amenable to BEB implementation. A 
peak load of 578 kW was modeled based on anticipated charging demand at the 
facility. Minor adjustments to schedules and charging timing can make a BEB rollout 
viable at scale. 

Lincoln County Transit (LCT) provides both local loops and regional services, such 
as the Coast to Valley Express. While local routes are well-suited for BEBs, longer-
distance trips surpass battery range limitations under current technology. Hydrogen 
was identified as a viable alternative for those express routes. The shared 
maintenance facility will require coordination with other county services to install 
new infrastructure and manage a peak load of approximately 480 kW. 

Sunset Empire Transportation District (SETD) runs a blend of fixed-route, on-
demand, and seasonal services in a geographically expansive area. Most fixed routes 
are compatible with BEBs, but the longer Route 20 and high-mileage demand 
response blocks challenge existing battery capabilities. With a modeled peak 
demand of 598 kW, SETD’s transition will depend on restructured service blocks 
and possibly adopting FCEBs for more demanding routes. 

Infrastructure and Charging Requirements 

Successful fleet transition depends heavily on infrastructure planning. Each agency’s 
depot layout, electrical service availability, and vehicle parking configuration were 
considered to develop right-sized charging solutions. 

200



The plan recommends installing dual-output 120 kW chargers for most revenue 
vehicles. These chargers can support two dispensers each, allowing for 
simultaneous charging of two buses at reduced rates. For non-revenue vehicles, 
single-output Level 2 chargers (19.2 kW) are sufficient. Sequenced charging models 
allowed the team to forecast the number of chargers needed at any given time, 
identify periods of peak load, and avoid overdesigning electrical systems. 

Most facilities will require trenching, transformer upgrades, and switchgear 
enhancements. In addition to utility coordination, permitting and zoning reviews 
may be necessary in some jurisdictions. Furthermore, rooftop battery access for 
BEBs introduces new safety considerations. The plan outlines options for fall 
protection, including elevated platforms with guardrails and ceiling-mounted fall 
arrest systems compliant with OSHA standards. 

 

Hydrogen Fuel Cell Bus Feasibility 

For agencies with high-mileage service blocks or minimal layover opportunities, 
hydrogen fuel cell electric buses (FCEBs) present a promising alternative to BEBs. 
FCEBs offer longer range, faster refueling times, and better performance on hilly 
terrain or cold-weather routes. 

The plan assessed the feasibility of introducing hydrogen-powered vehicles in 
scenarios where BEBs would face operational limitations. TCTD and LCT emerged as 
prime candidates for pilot hydrogen deployments, especially on regional and 
intercity routes. 

However, deploying hydrogen technology comes with challenges. Rural areas in 
Oregon currently lack reliable hydrogen distribution networks, and developing on-
site fueling stations involves significant capital investment. The plan encourages 
agencies to collaborate regionally to aggregate demand and partner with emerging 
hydrogen suppliers. NWOTA may also benefit from coordinating with state 
initiatives focused on clean hydrogen infrastructure development. 

 

Financial, Policy, and Workforce Considerations 

The financial analysis revealed that while the capital cost of ZEV procurement and 
infrastructure installation is high, long-term savings from reduced fuel and 
maintenance expenditures can make the investment cost-effective over time. Total 

201



cost of ownership models were developed for each agency, considering both BEBs 
and FCEBs, and included charging infrastructure and labor costs. 

The plan also outlines strategies to maximize funding. Agencies are encouraged to 
apply for multiple grants—including the FTA Low-No Program, EPA’s Clean School 
Bus Program, and Oregon’s Carbon Reduction Program—and to pursue local 
partnerships for matching funds. The timing of procurement and infrastructure 
deployment should be aligned with grant cycles to optimize funding success. 

Transitioning to ZEVs will also require significant workforce adaptation. 
Maintenance staff must be trained to handle high-voltage components, advanced 
diagnostic systems, and new safety protocols. Driver training may be needed to 
address regenerative braking and range optimization techniques. Agencies will also 
need to implement fall protection protocols for working on rooftop-mounted 
batteries. 

In addition, staff morale, union representation, and career advancement 
opportunities were considered. Ensuring that the workforce is engaged and 
supported through the transition is essential to its long-term success. 

Recommendations and Implementation Timeline 

The plan proposes a phased implementation approach that enables NWOTA 
agencies to build internal capacity, secure funding, and validate technology 
performance over time. 

• Phase 1 (2025–2026): Strategic planning, training, and utility coordination. 
Begin procurement of pilot BEBs and FCEBs and finalize infrastructure 
design. 

• Phase 2 (2026–2027): Install charging and/or fueling infrastructure. Begin 
operation of pilot vehicles and evaluate performance. 

• Phase 3 (2027–2031): Scale procurement and deploy zero-emission 
vehicles across priority routes. Coordinate fleet retirements with vehicle 
replacement schedules. 

• Phase 4 (2031–2037): Complete full fleet conversion and continue 
optimizing operations, workforce development, and infrastructure 
performance. 

This phased strategy allows for iterative learning and reduces the risk of service 
disruption. 

202



Conclusion 

The NWOTA Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan provides a clear, actionable 
framework for rural transit agencies to decarbonize their operations while 
improving service quality and resilience. By combining data-driven analysis with 
infrastructure planning, financial modeling, and workforce development, the plan 
ensures that NWOTA is well-positioned to lead rural Oregon into a zero-emission 
transit future. 

NWOTA agencies are now equipped to make informed decisions about vehicle 
procurement, facility upgrades, and operational changes while leveraging available 
funding to ease the financial burden of transition. This plan demonstrates that even 
in rural environments with diverse service needs, the path to clean transportation is 
both feasible and within reach. 

 

203


	1 Board Packet Cover 7.16.2025
	Agenda 7.16.2025 FINAL
	REGULAR MEETING
	STATE OF THE DISTRICT REPORT
	CONSENT
	ACTION ITEMS
	16. Resolution 25-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Enter Into a Janitorial Services Agreement with Marie Mills Center for the Downtown Transit Center (Pgs. 44-47)
	17. Resolution 25-20 Authorizing the General Manager to Enter Into a Janitorial Services Agreement with Marie Mills Center for the TCTD Administration Building  (Pgs. 48-51)
	18. Resolution 25-21 Authorizing the General Manager to Enter Into a Memorandum of Agreement with the Tillamook Adventist School and the Tillamook County YMCA for After School Transportation Services (Pgs. 52-67)
	19. Resolution 25-22 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5310 Grant Agreement Number 35780 (Pgs. 68-89)
	20. Resolution 25-23 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant Agreement Number 35822 (Pgs. 93-114)
	21. Resolution 25-24 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant Agreement Number 35823 (Pgs. 115-138)
	22. Resolution 25-25 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT STIF Formula Grant Agreement Number 35884 (Pgs. 139-160)
	23. Resolution 25-26 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute  for Chrissy’s Cleaning Service (Pgs. 161)
	DISCUSSION ITEMS
	UPCOMING EVENTS
	August 6th-9th: Tillamook County Fair
	November 2nd-5th: Oregon Public Transportation Conference, Bend

	Final Board Packet
	8 May 2025 Financials
	9.1 Statistics and Performance Presentation
	Slide 1: TCTD Operations Statistics & Performance May 2025
	Slide 2: YTD COMPS BY SERVICE TYPE
	Slide 3: IN-COUNTY RIDERSHIP BY ROUTE YTD COMPS
	Slide 4: DAR RIDERSHIP BY SERVICE TYPE YTD COMPS
	Slide 5: PASSENGER CATEGORIES YTD COMPS
	Slide 6: TOTAL SERVICES RIDERSHIP May 2025 & May 2024

	9.2 Monthly Performance Report
	9.3 Primary Performance Measures
	11 NW Rides Brokerage Report for July Board Meeting
	12 GM Report_July 2025
	14 6.18.2025 FINAL Minutes
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call:
	Present
	TCTD Board of Directors
	Absent
	TCTD Board of Directors
	TCTD Staff
	Brian Vitulli, General Manager
	Cathy Bond, Finance Supervisor
	Michael Reed, Operations Superintendent
	Keri Brown, Admin Assistant/Board Clerk
	Guest
	John Cline, Citizen
	Jerry Bond, Citizen
	Stacy West, Citizen
	Sylvie Ballance, Citizen
	Jim LeNormand, Citizen
	Parker LeNormand, Citizen
	Madison LeNormand, Citizen
	Tyler Hellner, ATU Representative
	Kathy Schwabe, Citizen
	Steve Schwabe, ATU Representative
	Bruce Hansen, ATU Representative
	Henry Beasley, ATU Vice President
	Vicki Raine, Citizen
	David Presnell, Citizen
	Kathy Presnell, Citizen
	Whitney Valdez, Citizen
	Morgan Niles, Citizen
	Jeremy Mills, Citizen
	Will Chappell, Headlight Hearld, (via Zoom)
	Dale Kanenshiro, Citizen (Zoom)
	Crew C, Citizen (Zoom)
	Onica Kibby, Citizen (Zoom)
	Steve C, Citizen (Zoom)
	4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda: GM Vitulli introduced new employees that have joined the Tillamook County Transportation District.
	5. Public & Guest Comments:
	Board Chair Johnson made a statement that all public comments will be limited to 3 minutes each.
	Tyler Hellner made public comments regarding Policy 10 in the Tillamook County Transportation employee handbook.
	Jeremy Mills made a public comment that he hopes for yellow roses to be planted at the Transit Center that he has made several requests and hopes negotiations with the Union and the District get resolved.
	David Presnell made a public comment that he feels harassed at work from the Union and threatened from text messages from the Union. The Union is to lose his number and not to have any more contact with him.
	John Cline made a public comment that he has been with the District a long time and the vision is that people need to be transported, and it’s been lost. PC Shuttle is obviously an issue for some, but Pacific City needs it.
	Bruce Hansen commented that after several attempts to set a meeting and being ignored that hopes Board comes together to make decisions.
	Vicky Raine made a public comment that on Facebook page there are so many complaints from the public about the District, missing rides and not enough drivers, hopes the Board has the power to change things.
	Silvie Ballance made a public comment that she has been working for the District for 10 years and has not heard of any complaints, but people are happy that Route 5 to Portland is still running on Sunday. Dirty laundry needs to be stopped airing out o...
	6. Executive Session:  6:24 pm – 6:56 pm
	There was a motion after GM Vitulli’s evaluation that he will receive a 7.5% increase effective July 1st, 2025.
	7. Budget Hearing: Board Chair Johnson called the Budget hearing to order at 6:58 pm.
	Updates for FY 2025-2026 Budget are included in the Board packet pages 1-34.
	Director Johnston made a comment of how professional the budget documentation was and appreciates all the hard work. Thanked everyone for showing up for the budget meeting.
	Director Devlin stated that the budget meeting was the first one that she enjoyed.
	FS Bond was pleased with the participation for the budget meeting and the feedback that was presented. Thanked Brian for the research in helping to get it completed.
	Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the Budget hearing at 7:05 pm.
	STATE OF THE DISTRICT REPORT
	8. Financial and Grant Report: Updates for the month of April 2025 are included in the Board packet pages 35-38.
	11. NW Rides Brokerage: Updates for the month of May 2025 are included in the Board packet page 71-72.
	12. General Manager Report: Updates included in Board packet pages 73-74 (see GM Report in packet for details):
	a. Administration/Coordination
	b. Planning Development
	c. Grant Funding
	d. Facility/Property Development
	e. Operations and Vehicle Maintenance
	13. Miscellaneous: None.
	CONSENT CALENDAR
	ACTION ITEMS
	Johnston, McCall, and Devlin.
	Vice Chair Adler was absent.
	22. Resolution 25-16 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Kittelson and Associates, Inc. to Develop and Support the Implementation of an On-Board Rider Survey for the District.
	Motion by Director Devlin to Approve Resolution 25-16 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Kittelson and Associates, Inc. to Develop and Support the Implementation of an On-Board Rider Survey for the District. ...
	Johnston, McCall, and Devlin.
	Vice Chair Adler was absent.
	23.Resolution 25-17 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Columbia Pacific Economic Development District to Provide Administrative Services for the NW Oregon Transit Alliance.
	Motion by Director Johnston to Approve Resolution 25-17 Authorizing the General     Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Columbia Pacific Economic Development District to Provide Administrative Services for the NW Oregon Transit A...
	Johnston, McCall, and Devlin.
	Vice Chair Adler was absent.
	23. Resolution 25-18 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Madison Avenue Collective for NWOTA Website Management.
	24. Motion by Director Bean to Approve Resolution 25-18 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Madison Avenue Collective for NWOTA Website Management. Seconded by Director Devlin.
	Johnston, McCall, and Devlin.
	Vice Chair Adler was absent.
	DISCUSSION ITEMS
	25. ZEV Fleet Transition Plan
	GM Vitulli stated that the Zero-Emission Fleet Transition Plan is complete and would like to put it on the agenda for July.
	26. FY 2024-2025 Annual Report
	GM Vitulli distributed the first ever TCTD Annual Report.
	27. Staff Comments
	General Manager Vitulli: Thanked the Board and thanked Chair Johnson for her leadership and support.
	Operations Superintendent Reed: Thanked Chair Johnson for her support and assisting the District when there was no GM.
	Finance Supervisor Bond: Thanked Chair Johnson for the support when the District lost the previous GM and appreciates the Board for finding the current GM Vitulli. Thanked Vice Chair Adler for her contributions on the Board.
	Brokerage Manager Deputy: Thanked Chair Johnson for being here and to all the new Board members for their support.
	Admin Assistant Brown: None
	28. Board of Directors Comments:
	Chair Johnson: Thanked everyone and was happy that Director Hanenkrat was staying on the Board and appreciated OS Reed, FS Bond and GM Vitulli for being here.
	Dir. Hanenkrat: Thanked Chair Johnson.
	Dir. Johnston: Thanked Chair Johnson for getting her to join the Board.
	Dir. Bean: Thanked Chair Johnson.
	Dir. McCall: Stated that the Pacific City Sun published an article about the Pacific City Shuttle service for the 2025 summer. Also appreciates GM Vitulli for going with him to the Salem to testify on behalf of the District.
	29. Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 7:36 pm.
	These minutes were approved this 16th day of July 2025.
	ATTEST:

	16 25-19 1 MMCI Janitorial Administration
	16.1 25-19 2 MMCI Office contract 25.26
	25-19 2 TCTD Office contract 25.26
	25-19 3 Job Components Main Office 2023-2024

	17 25-20 MMCI Janitorial Transit Center
	17.1 25-20 2 MMCI Transit Center Contract 25.26
	25-20 2 TCTD Transit Center Contract 25.26
	25-20 3 Job Components - Bus Stop 5-1-19

	18 25-21 MOA with TAS and YMCA re afterschool transportation
	18.1 MOA re After School Transportation (09JULY2025 draft)
	18.2 Ordinance No. 3 Signed
	19 25-22 ODOT Section 5310 Agreement No 35780
	19.1 ODOT 5310 35780
	20 25-23 ODOT Section 5311 Agreement No 35822
	20.1 ODOT 5311 35822
	21 25-24 ODOT Section 5311 Agreement No 35823
	21.1 ODOT 5311 35823
	22 25-25 ODOT Section 5311 Agreement No 35884
	22.1 ODOT 5311 35884
	23 25-26 Chrissys Cleaning Contract Extension
	24 10 Director Powers Duties Responsibilities and Membership
	24.1 19 Oregon Government Ethics 06.23.16 (06.18.25 update)
	Purpose
	Financial Gain
	Gifts
	Conflict of Interest

	25 NWOTA_Combined_Transition_Deck (1) aw
	NWOTA Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan
	Overview
	Project Goals
	Analysis Methodology
	Methodology Highlights
	Findings and Recommendations
	Route and Service Assessment
	Route and Service Data Analysis Methodology
	Common Assumptions Across Agencies
	Example of Estimated Charging Demand
	Analysis Results by Agency
	Route Analysis Results
	Analysis Results by Agency
	Technical Feasibility of ZEVs
	Technical Feasibility by Agency
	Overview of Infrastructure & Energy Needs
	Infrastructure and Energy Needs by Agency
	Fleet Readiness Methodology
	Fleet Readiness Methodology
	Fleet Readiness & Replacement
	Financial Feasibility
	Transition Cost Summary by Agency
	Workforce & Training
	Infrastructure and Energy Needs by Agency
	Stakeholder Engagement
	Policy and Funding Landscape
	Strategic Outlook
	Implementation Timeline
	   

	25.1 NWOTA_Executive_Summary_Final_6.23.2025_with Cover Page
	5_16_25_FINAL NWOTA Zero Emission Fleet Transition Plan_Cover Page.pdf
	NWOTA_Executive_Summary_Final_6.23.2025.pdf





